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What we do
Workspace Group is the leading provider
of affordable accommodation for rent on
flexible terms to small and medium sized
enterprises (SMEs) in London. We manage
our properties ourselves, providing levels
of customer service that can help our
customers focus on their own businesses
and give them the opportunity to grow and
expand. Our customers represent the service
infrastructure for the capital. Our customers
are at the heart of London, and in providing
the accommodation for their businesses
we are at this heart too.

Our strengths
We concentrate on London, a growing world
class city with the most densely populated,
diverse and active part of the SME
community in the UK. Our focused marketing
and long term tracking of enquiries and
potential acquisitions helps the Group
target its efforts and continually refine its
accommodation offer, to both our existing
and new customers.

Our goals
As London and its SMEs grow so will
Workspace Group. We aim to continue
to grow shareholder value and portfolio
returns in advance of the sector by:
growing rents, yet keeping them
affordable for our customers;
realising the latent development
value in our portfolio; and
continuing to acquire properties
where we see long term value.

This Annual Report runs in parallel with our
Sustainability Report 2006 which correlates
the Group’s activities with the Mayor’s Plan
for London.

To access our Sustainability Report 2006,
the latest information on Workspace Group,
or to search for commercial property to let
in London go to workspacegroup.co.uk
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Workspace Group is
London’s leading supplier of
accommodation to small and
medium enterprises (SMEs).
London continues to grow –
and in this marketplace SMEs
continue to grow also, providing
the opportunity for growth for
the Group. Our position as
leader provides us with a unique
perspective; one which affords
us the opportunity to understand
better the risks and rewards of
our market and to respond
accordingly. We aim to be the
first point of contact for any new
or small businesses setting up
or moving in London. With some
9,900 enquiries a year, and
growing; and some 4,950 lettable
units, and growing – we have a
unique perspective of what’s
needed and where.
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Driving our
business forward
The Group has had an established practice
of management through Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs). The main performance
indicators are shown below.
In this section:
Key Performance Indicators, page 02
Highlights, page 03
Chairman’s statement, page 04

Key Performance Indicators
Enquiries and lettings
Number

Rental increases
%
9,869

Enquiries
Lettings
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Long term, the number and quality of
enquiries should continue to increase.
Our newly commissioned CRM system
has allowed us to capture more enquiries
than ever before.

Long term, like-for-like rents are targeted
to increase at 5% per year.

Acquisition and disposals
£m

Overall occupancy
%
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Acquisitions and
capital expenditure
Disposals
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In the past the annual acquisitions value
has been targeted at £60m.

We aim for occupancy to be 80% or
above, including estates undergoing
refurbishment or where we seek change
of use. Excluding such refurbishments/
change of use, we aim for 90% occupancy.

Churn/conversion
%

Gearing (adjusted NAV)
%
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Year-end gearing
Gearing prior to Revaluation Surplus
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Atrium at Quality Court, WC1.
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Both the rate of churn (movement of
existing customers) and conversions
(enquiries converted to lettings) should
remain stable as the portfolio grows.

%

02

03

04

05

06

Our business plan has been predicated
on gearing, based on adjusted net assets,
being in the range of 100% to 120%
(before year-end revaluations).
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Property highlights

£149.0m +80% £131.3m 16%
£15.1m +4% £964.3m +34%
£3.12 +36%
65.1p +80%
Profit before tax

Valuation surplus

Profit before tax on
trading activities

Portfolio valuation

Basic earnings per share

Adjusted net asset
value per share

7.1p +13%

£2.37+34%
£46.6m +10%

Earnings per share on
trading activities

Net asset value per share

3.76p +10%

Annual rent roll at year-end

Ordinary dividend
Definitions and explanations of terms used
in this Annual Report may be found in the
glossary on page 83.

Annual revenue
£m

Trading profit before tax
£m
63.2
51.1

14.1

55.0
11.5

45.0

Earnings per share
Pence per share
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EPS total
EPS trading
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16.6
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Adjusted net asset value per share
£
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Investment property
£m
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Year-end rent roll
£m
131.3
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46.6

38.1

29.6
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49.7
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390.3
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505.5

Valuation surplus
£m
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6.3
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716.5

2.30

03

6.0

962.2

1.89

02

5.3

Net assets employed
£m

3.12

1.39

06

13.1

06

02

03

04

05

06

178.1

190.5

02

03

04

05

06

Section 1
04 Workspace Group PLC

Driving our
business forward

Annual Report and
Accounts 2006

This year has seen some major steps in
the successful execution of our strategy.
In particular, the Group has increased its
focus on London, with the sale of the majority
of its sites outside the M25, whilst at the
same time investing record sums within
the M25. The disposals were made at
sharper yields than the acquisitions. Even
so, the acquisitions represent better long
term value given the continued growth of
London and the effect of the Olympics on
East London in particular.

Reporting
In drafting this report your Board has been
conscious of the substantial impact on
corporate financial reporting obliged by the
introduction of IFRS. We have endeavoured
to maintain the process of improvement
to our reporting whilst addressing these
changes. Having last year addressed much
of the proposed Operating and Financial
Review (OFR) requirements, we have decided
that we should stay with this approach
notwithstanding the abandonment of the
OFR in favour of the simpler Business
Review. We are publishing, in parallel with
this Annual Report, an updated Sustainability
Report which addresses Social, Ethical and
Environmental issues. This sister publication
explains in more detail how our business
model accords with the recognised needs for
sustainable development in London and gives
further insights to our strategy going forward.

Chairman’s
statement

Tony Hales
Chairman

Once again, it is a pleasure to report another
year of excellent growth in shareholder value,
driven by growth of 36% in adjusted net asset
value per share. Total shareholder return in
the year was 46.1% and over five years has
been 26.1% per annum. These are good
results, achieved at a time when short term
rental earnings growth has been muted,
primarily due to refurbishment activities
and the preparation of some estates for
redevelopment. The refurbishments will
contribute to longer term growth both in
rental and capital values.
Furthermore, during the year your Board
has sought to increase the momentum in
extracting the latent development potential
that exists in a significant number of the
properties in its portfolio. The new joint
venture with Glebe, announced with these
results, is a major step forward to realise
some of this value. It allows our shareholders
to participate in the substantial upside
potential, whilst reducing the risk profile of
the Group and releasing funds to be used in
the continued expansion of the core business.
Strategy
Our strategy is to:
actively manage our portfolio for
increased shareholder value;
acquire properties that service London’s
small and medium sized enterprises;
drive underlying values and long term
rents by intensification of use,
enhanced environment, intensive
management and the strength of the
Workspace brand;
deliver a superior and supportive
service to our customers; and
create value in the medium term
from our sites through mixed use
developments and increased densities
in line with the needs of London.

Results
Net asset value per share grew by 34% to
£2.37 per share (adjusted net asset value
by 36% to £3.12 per share). This growth was
driven by a £131.3m valuation surplus, a
15.8% increase in value. Against the IPD
industry benchmark measure, our 23.0%
annual return outperformed the 20.9%
reported for the universe benchmark, placing
us once again in the top quartile in terms of
performance. On a geared basis, combining
this growth with earnings for the year yielded
a total return on equity of 40.7% (2005:
27.6%). The rent roll increased by 10.2% to
£46.6m mainly as a result of acquisitions
during the year. These acquisitions, the
market rents of which are substantially
higher than the initial rent roll at acquisition,
offer further scope for growth, particularly at
111 Power Road and Kennington Park.
REITs
There has been considerable press
coverage following the Chancellor’s Budget
announcement. The initial prospects are
encouraging but there remain many areas
of detailed clarification from Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs before a final
recommendation can be made to shareholders.
However, progress has so far been good and
it is likely that a positive decision on this will
be made by your Board during the year.

Board and staff
Dr Chris Pieroni, Senior Non-Executive
Director and Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee will retire as a director following
the Group’s AGM this year. Chris has given
six good years service as a non-executive
director, a period during which the Group has
grown substantially. On Chris’s retirement
Bernard Cragg, Non-Executive and Chairman
of the Audit Committee, will succeed
Chris as Senior Non-Executive Director.
A replacement for Chris is being sought.
As always, the Company’s success and this
year’s results depends upon the continuing
enthusiasm and commitment of all of our
staff. Our staff are key to all we do and, on
behalf of the Board, I wish to thank them
all again for their contribution this year.
Current trading and prospects
Trading conditions are stable with a steady
level of enquiries and modest increases in
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1

2

1. Enterprise House,
Upper Ground, SE1
Workspace Group have added two
new floors to Enterprise House
totalling 12,701 sq ft and providing
20 new small business units.
2. Thurston Road, SE13
Workspace Group and Ashford
Development Ltd received detailed
planning consent for a £90m mixed
use development at a former
Workspace industrial estate.

rental levels. Our overall occupancy of
84.3% at 31 March provides scope for
increasing income particularly in our
refurbished properties at Enterprise,
Clerkenwell and Southbank in 2006,
and Power Road, Lombard House and
Kennington Park in future years. In 2006
we expect the rate of tightening of yields
to slow. Rental growth together with the
redevelopment, intensification and change
of use of sites must then provide the drivers
for continued asset growth. The property
investment market has experienced an
exceptionally buoyant period and market
conditions which have been unusually
favourable, this may not continue.
Nevertheless, in tighter market conditions,
in London Workspace Group remains well
positioned to continue to outperform the
sector through its focus on driving up rents
and achieving latent added value.
Dividend
In line with previous practice your Board
proposes to increase the dividend by 10%.
It recommends a final dividend payment of
2.51 pence per share making 3.76 pence
for the year.
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Our marketplace

usually high ‘value adding’ businesses,
ones which are able to increase earnings
over time.

The Group’s business model is simple.
We are a property-based business providing
a variety of accommodation for small and
medium sized enterprises (SMEs) principally
in London.

Leading in a
growth market
London is a global city and is projected to
continue to grow substantially. With 97% of
our portfolio now within the M25, Workspace
is in a strong position to cater for London’s
substantial and expanding population of SMEs.
In this section:
Our marketplace, page 06
Our focus, page 08
Our business, page 10
Our flexibility, page 12
Our added value, page 14
Our people, page 16

4.02m UK
businesses

There are over 4 million businesses in the
UK, of which 1.1 million are SMEs employing
between one and 20 people. Of these, 14%
or in excess of 150,000 are based in London.
London alone accounts for 20% of business
start-ups and closures in the UK each year
and sees the greatest growth in higher
‘added-value’ businesses. This is a huge
market place and despite being the leader
in our field our market penetration remains
low. There remains, therefore, considerable
scope for us to grow.
Our customer base reflects the diversity of
the London economy. The three principal
business sectors in London are financial
services, business and advisory services,
and the creative and cultural industries.
Our customers include many from these
latter two sectors. They make attractive
customers to Workspace since they are

Regional net
start-ups
A
B
C
D

CDA

No employees (71.3%)
1-19 employees (26.6%)
20-199 employees (1.9%)
200-500+ employees (0.2%)

J

K

Our new customers are mainly second stage
businesses, who have moved on from a
home environment to more formal business
premises. Many of them will, in time, relocate
within our portfolio as their need for space
changes. Churn – the formation, expansion,
reduction and closure of businesses – is a
key characteristic of the SME market and a
source of opportunity for us. The constantly
changing SME community provides us both
with new customers and the opportunity to
relocate others; each allowing us to review
and increase rents.
Finally the Group is very well placed to take
advantage of current trends for the growth of
London (of both population and employment)
and the call in the Mayor’s London Plan for
more intensive and mixed use of sites so
that these increasing demands can be met
within the existing built areas. Our assets
are valued at a comparatively low level
of £162 per sq ft. They are not intensely
developed and so, in the medium term,
the potential for alternative use and
intensification of use remains considerable.

Regional distribution
of businesses

L A
B

C

I

D

B

E
F

H
G

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I
J
K
L

North West (10%)
North East (2%)
Yorks and Humberside (7%)
East Midlands (7%)
West Midlands (8%)
East of England (10%)
London (19%)
South East (16%)
South West (8%)
Wales (4%)
Scotland (7%)
Northern Ireland (2%)

H

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H

A
B

G
C
F

East Midlands (14%)
East of England (12%)
London (15%)
South East (15%)
North East (9%)
North West (10%)
South West (15%)
West Midlands (10%)

D

E

Source: SME Statistics UK 2004, SBS

Source: Small Business Service, Business Start-Ups
and Closures: VAT registrations and de-registrations in 2004

Source: SME Statistics UK 2004, SBS

25% of small businesses fall within our definition
of SME.

Our flexible lease package suits the ever changing
needs of SMEs, easy-in, easy-out.

Our aim is to be the first point of contact for new or
small enterprises seeking to set up in London.

Workspace portfolio
valuation by location

Workspace portfolio
floor area by location

London population projections
millions

F
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B

E

A
B
C
D
E
F

North London (11%)
South London (27%)
East London (13%)
West London (22%)
Central London (23%)
Outer London (4%)

C
D

The total worth of our portfolio is well spread, to
minimise the impact of fluctuating local property prices.

F

A
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A
B
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D
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North London (14%)
South London (31%)
East London (15%)
West London (21%)
Central London (12%)
Outer London (7%)

D

8.3
7.9
7.6
7.3
6.9

‘96
C

The total portfolio square footage is also well spread to
minimise risks associated with economic fluctuations.

‘01

‘06

‘11

‘16

Source: DMAG, Greater London Demographic Review 2004

Continued London population growth will feed the
demand for property.
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Workspace Group property portfolio at 31 March 2006

Barnet

Southgate

Edgware
Finchley Wood Green
Hendon

Harrow

Hornsey

As London grows, Workspace grows

London continues to grow as the
world city. It is a global hub for business,
rich in social, cultural and political history,
and its diversity is without parallel.
Chingford
Woodford
Walthamstow
Wanstead

Romford

Leyton
Ilford
Hackney
Stratford
Barking Dagenham
West
Ham
Finsbury Shoreditch Bethnal
East Ham
Marylebone
Greenford
Green Bow
19
CITY OF
Poplar
Southall
LONDON
Acton
Ealing
Kensington
Bermondsey
Hammersmith
Woolwich
Westminster Lambeth
Brentford
Fulham
Erith
Deptford Greenwich
Battersea
Camberwell
Clapham
Brixton
Lewisham Eltham Bexley
Richmond Wandsworth
Hounslow
Dartford
Catford
Sidcup
Streatham
Wimbledon
Kingston Upon Thames
Bromley
Beckenham
Mitcham
Hampstead
Willesden

Wembley

London is a
global city

Islington

More than 300 languages are
spoken in London – more than
any other city in the world. (2)

London is a
growing city

The Workspace Group customer portfolio shares much of the
diversity of London’s business population at large. As such it is robust
and not reliant upon any one sector, yet contains high proportions in
growth sectors identified by the London Development Agency (LDA).
SMEs by business
sector %
A

A Manufacturing (6.3)
B Construction (6.4)
C Wholesale, retail trade
of motor vehicles (20.3)
D Hotels and restaurants (6.4)
E Transport, storage
and communication (4.1)
F Financial intermediation (3.3)
G Business activities, real
estate and renting (40.5)
H Education, health and
social work (3.6)
I Other community, social and
personal service activities (9.1)

B

I
H

C

D
E
G

F

Workspace Group customers
by business sector %
A
B
H
G

C
D

E
F

References:
1. The Case For London
2. The London Plan, p70
3. statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/rgva1205.pdf
4. The London Plan, p26
5. The London Plan, p223
6. Statement of Intent – first review
of The London Plan, p10
7. SBS, 2004

A Manufacturing (11.3)
B Construction (1.4)
C Wholesale, retail trade
of motor vehicles (3.3)
D Transport, storage
and communication (12.4)
E Financial intermediation (2.1)
F Business activities, real
estate and renting (51.0)
G Education, health and
social work (2.1)
H Other community, social and
personal service activities (16.4)

8. SBS, 2004
9. newsroom.barclays.co.uk/
10.sbs.gov.uk/SBS_Gov_files/
sbc/sbc_annual_report04.pdf
11.SBS, 2004
12.Investing in London: the case
for the capital, GLA, May 2001, p3
13.Workspace customer survey, 2006

London is home to 12.5% of the
UK population but contributes
16.4% of its total output. (3)
Projections show London’s
population is likely to grow by
800,000 to a total of 8.1m by
2016, and the working age
population will rise by 516,000. (4,5)

Workspace Group properties inside the M25
Acquisitions made inside the M25 during 2005/06
Disposals made inside the M25 during 2005/06
12 disposals were made outside the M25 during 2005/06
5 properties are owned outside the M25

Supporting a diverse range of customers and their businesses
across London

There are three world cities –
London, New York and Tokyo.
All are centres of finance and
commerce, culture, knowledge and
creativity, communication, power
and influence, and tourism. (1)

Net international migration
continues to run at about
100,000 a year. (6)

London is
the SME
incubator

Of the 4.02m businesses in the
UK, 1.07m employ between one
and 20 people, and of these some
30% are based in London and the
South East. (7)
Of those businesses with
employees in London and the
South East, two thirds have less
than five employees and nearly
85% have less than 10. (8)
In 2005 87,000 new businesses
were set up in London,
accounting for more than 22%
of all new starts in England
and Wales. (9)
SMEs in the UK account for 58%
of private sector employment,
create 66% of all new jobs and
generate 52% of the UK’s total
annual turnover (£1,173bn). (10, 11)
London contains the highest
concentration of the fastestgrowing and most productive
business sectors in the country,
and is the primary engine of
growth for the UK economy. (12)
Most Workspace properties are
within Greater London, and more
than 80% of our customers have
less than 10 employees. (13)

London is our marketplace. Workspace
is London’s leading provider of flexible,
affordable, business space for new and
small enterprises.
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Our focus: Serving SMEs and
local communities.
Our business centres must be both
appealing in style as well as accessible
to SMEs and the local community.

Enterprise House, SE1
A view from a porthole at
Enterprise House’s new fifth
floor focuses on the London Eye
illustrating its central London
location. To make our space
successful it has to be accessible
and appealing. Enterprise House
also has the maximum Public
Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL)
rating of 6b, adding further value to
the intensification works.

Leading in a
growth market
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Workspace Group properties by Public Transport
Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating
PTAL ratings provide London with a constant framework
for assessing public transport accessibility. About 30%
of Workspace properties have a ‘high’ PTAL rating of
Level 5 or above.

1

Westway cluster
2

Enterprise House

Areas of London by PTAL
rating, as highlighted by
The London Plan.
Source: Transport for London

Our focus
Our focus on supplying space to SMEs in
London reflects the City’s focal points.
With its growing population and related
transport issues, together with development
initiatives such as the Olympics, new
community hubs are emerging.
London has always been a collection of
communities. Our properties reflect this in
the focused clusters we have assembled to
service these local markets. Our properties
themselves often act as a business focus
within these local communities. They tend
to attract groups of similar businesses,
whether it be designers in one property or
business services in another. This clustering
of activities is a reflection in part of the desire
of the occupying businesses to be close
to one another, to network. It is also
encouraged by the working environments
we offer. Our accommodation offer, whether
it be by the size of unit, services within the
unit, ambiance of the property, or simply its
location, is designed to be attractive to this
SME community. Again, a point of focus.

(0.01 - 2.50)
(2.01 - 5.00)
(5.01 - 10.00)
(10.01 - 15.00)
(15.01 - 20.00)

Level 5 (20.01 - 25.00)
Level 6a (25.01 - 40.00)
Level 6b (40.01+)
No rating

To find out more about Workspace Group properties and their PTAL rating, download
our Sustainability Report 2006 as a pdf, from workspacegroup.co.uk

It is imperative that Workspace
meets the varied demands of
businesses when choosing their
business accommodation. This
means we must offer choice across
the portfolio to enable businesses to
identify the best fit for their needs.
Location is one obvious form of
demand and the PTAL map (above)
illustrates the varied accessibility
ratings of our portfolio. The style of
each centre coupled with its location
significantly affects the businesses
subsequently attracted.
For example, given its central London
location, it is not surprising that

Enterprise House has a PTAL rating
of 6b. Though it is highly accessible
and benefits from excellent transport
connections, it does not feature
significant shared or integral leisure
space. The resulting customer base –
predominantly professional and
media services companies – reflects
these characteristics. On the other
hand, the Westway properties of
Canalot Studios, Pall Mall Deposit
and Westbourne Studios have lower
PTAL ratings (from 2 to 5) but all
feature significant shared or integral
leisure space, and attract a customer
base of design creatives.

W10

A property cluster forming the heart of a community
Canalot Studios, Westbourne Studios and Pall Mall Deposit, all in
W10, form part of our Westway cluster and are located between
Westbourne Park, Ladbroke Grove and Kensal Green tube stations.
All three attract creative businesses who demand properties of
character which reflect well on their industries and lifestyles. All three
centres have impressive shared space for work and relaxation and
include atriums, courtyards, cafés, late licence bars and nightclubs.
1

2

3

1 Canalot Studios, W10
2 Pall Mall Deposit, W10
3 Westbourne Studios, W10

PTAL rating
Level 1a
Level 1b
Level 2
Level 3
Level 4
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Our business: A hotelier of space.
Workspace is London’s leading provider of
commercial business space to small and
medium enterprises. We own and manage
over 100 centres throughout London and deal
direct with our prospects and customers.

Our business
Workspace portfolio by unit size
By area
AB

C

D

A
B
C
D
E
F

up to 250 sq ft (2%)
251-500 sq ft (6%)
501-1,000 sq ft (11%)
1,001-2,500 sq ft (24%)
2,501-5,000 sq ft (20%)
5,000+ sq ft (37%)

We deal with a large number of enquiries a
year (over 9,900 this year yielding 1,054 new
lettings), have over 4,000 customers, and
accommodate their changing needs as they
expand or contract as their circumstances
dictate. We are in effect a hotelier of space
for small businesses. In this three features
stand out:

F
E

An average unit size of 1,100 sq ft and an average
rent per unit of £9.58 per sq ft, gives an average
accommodation cost of just £203 per week.

Workspace portfolio by unit size
By number of units
F

A
B
C
D
E
F

A

E

up to 250 sq ft (34%)
251-500 sq ft (19%)
501-1,000 sq ft (18%)
1,001-2,500 sq ft (18%)
2,501-5,000 sq ft (7%)
5,000+ sq ft (4%)

D
B
C

Many of our new customers will in time, relocate as
their need for space changes, with 4,900 units we can
generally service this need.

Workspace rental income by location
F

A
B

E

A
B
C
D
E
F

North London (11%)
South London (28%)
East London (14%)
West London (24%)
Central London (19%)
Outer London (4%)

C
D

With the spread of our portfolio, we can service SMEs
throughout London.

our flexible leases and competitive offer;
our aim to be a good landlord with high
standards of customer service; and
our management systems
Our core product is an affordable, flexible
lease which allows our customers to move
in quickly and to expand or contract as
their circumstances dictate. Typical lease
terms comprise a tenancy for three years,
protected in the main by the Landlord and
Tenant Act but affording tenants the right
to break on three months notice. With
average rents of just £9.58 per sq ft and
an average unit size of just over 1,100 sq ft
our average customer pays around £11,000
per annum – just over £200 per week.
These are affordable rents for small
businesses operating in the best market
in the UK.

We believe our offer, in terms of price,
the nature of the lease, and our quality
of service is highly competitive.
We aim to provide the highest level of
customer service, exceeding what might
be expected of a more ordinary landlord.
Fundamental to providing this level of service
is the performance of our local on site staff.
We monitor our performance in this area
including entry and exit interviews, annual
customer surveys and customers’ comments
cards. Our latest surveys show nearly 95% of
customers are satisfied with the contact they
have with Workspace and nearly 85% would
recommend Workspace as a landlord.
Our systems are designed to accommodate
the changing needs of our customers and
to provide continuing improvement in
market intelligence. Like a hotelier, letting
formalities are simple and straightforward.
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N5

Aberdeen Centre
Radio, television and radar must rank high among
the most important technological advances of the
20th century and significant developments took
places in all three at the Aberdeen Centre on
Highbury Grove, N5.
However, much of these advances took place soon
after it was built in 1918 for a pioneering technology
company. As time, markets and demands progress,
London is left with many buildings of heritage which
no longer perform their original purpose. These
buildings are prime space for Workspace Group as
we look to refurbish, re-use, improve and extend older
buildings in accessible locations. This regeneration
creates properties full of character which are attractive
to our customers and rooted in their local communities.
The Aberdeen Centre now provides small business
accommodation for over 130 businesses ranging
from accountancy and architecture to printing and
performance.

1

2

3

4

5
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Aberdeen Centre supports a diverse range of
customers and their businesses in N5.
1. Clothing and shoes 2. Charity 3. Design 4. IT 5. Education
6. Marketing and PR 7. Financial services 8. Engineering
9. Food and drink 10. Film/TV/music 11. Furniture
12. Media services 13. Theatre/performance 14. Printing
15. Storage 16. Professional services 17. Wholesale/retail
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Our flexibility: Flexible product, flexible
manner, flexible buildings.
By offering a flexible lease we have to be
flexible in helping our customers relocate
as well as provide workspace that can be
versatile in floor plan or use.

90%+
Over 90% of Workspace customers
reported overall satisfaction with
the service.

The Barley Mow
Business Centre, W4
Offers a wide range of space; from
100 sq ft of business incubator
space to 3,000 sq ft offices.

Leading in a
growth market
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Our flexibility
Flexibility is an essential feature of
Workspace Group. A key feature of our
product is the flexibility of our tenancy
terms. Our SME customers can take
space confident in the knowledge that
if their circumstances change, they can
move on, often to new accommodation
with us, without residual liability. This
makes it easier for our customers to make
the necessary commitment. To do this
we in turn need to be flexible, to have the
capacity to manage the 25% per annum
churn that this flexibility creates. This
requires not only that we have the
management systems to accommodate
such churn but also the capacity to review
our portfolio constantly and to test it against
customer requirements to ensure that it
services their needs.

Customer loyalty
A Lettings to former
customers (37%)
B Lettings to new
customers (63%)

A

B

37% of customers, when looking for new business
space find something suitable and move within
our portfolio.

Minimum time to break clause
Minimum lease term
D

A
B
C
D
E
F
G

EFG A

C

B

In turn this can create demands for
flexibility in our buildings, in their capacity
to reconfigure space to match the changing
needs of our customers. In all a flexible
product supplied in a flexible manner in
flexible buildings.

0-3 months (79%)
3 months-1 yr (9%)
1-2 yrs (5%)
2-3 yrs (2%)
3-4 yrs (1%)
4-5 yrs (1%)
over 5 yrs (3%)

The majority of our customers occupy their units under
an agreement that they can terminate within three
months, so giving them the flexibility they need to
change accommodation as their business dictates.

Length of stay with Workspace
A
B
C
D
E
F

A

F

1 yr (31%)
1-2 yrs (18%)
2-3 yrs (14%)
3-4 yrs (8%)
4-5 yrs (8%)
over 5 yrs (21%)

E
B
D
C

Although customers are generally not committed for
more than three months their satisfaction with the
service they receive at Workspace encourages them to
stay for considerably longer.
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Our added value: Releasing latent
value and improving margins.
We track a large number of acquisitions
and once bought extract value by
improving the style of management,
refurbishing, re-using or extending.

Workspace Group properties in areas for
intensification
22 Workspace Group properties are subject to density
increases currently or in the medium term. Many of
these properties are in areas of opportunity or for
intensification as identified by The London Plan.

Opportunity and intensification
areas, as highlighted by
The London Plan.
Source GLA 2000

Workspace Group properties subject to density increases in the medium term
Workspace Group properties subject to density increases and in current joint
venture or planning
Other Workspace Group properties
Areas for opportunity and intensification, as highlighted by The London Plan
To find out more about Workspace Group properties in areas for intensification,
download our Sustainability Report 2006 as a pdf, from workspacegroup.co.uk

Wharf Road, N1
Workspace Group obtained planning
consent in March 2005 for a
mixed–use redevelopment of its
site at Wharf Road, N1. The consent
allows for the demolition of the
25 existing units to be replaced
by a development comprising of
30,000 sq ft of small unit commercial
space and 77 residential units in
buildings of up to 10 storeys in
height, as shown in this computer
generated impression.
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45%

TradeLink
TradeLink enables
our customers to
communicate and
trade throughout the
Workspace Group
customer community.

26

Find out more at:
workspacegroup.co.uk/
tradelink

of the properties in the portfolio
are subject to intensification or
change of use on a 10-year basis

properties identified for
intensification or possible
change of use

11

estates are part of the Glebe
redevelopment joint venture

200%

potential increase in floor space
at a number of identified
intensification properties

Our added value
Latent value
The Group’s core activity is investment in,
and the letting of, small-unit accommodation
for SMEs. As such, it is not a property
development company. However, many of
our estates are not densely developed, are
at low capital values (per sq ft) and are in
areas targeted in the Mayor’s Plan for
London for intensification and change of
use. We aim to steadily extract this latent
development value. We will do this in a
number of ways including through
partnerships with others with expertise
in these areas and in other different ways.
The Group has spent a considerable amount
of time and effort analysing its portfolio to
identify and prioritise the opportunities on
those properties which have significant
potential for value enhancement in the near
term (see page 22).
Improving margins
The Group aims to be a good landlord and
provide the highest levels of customer
service. It recognises that its standards and
efficiency of service, from the initial letting
process through to moving in and occupation,
should allow customers to maximise time
spent on their own businesses. To do this
it has developed streamlined processes and
actively seeks out opportunities to
complement its accommodation offer.

These currently extend principally to energy
(electricity and gas), business insurance,
internet connectivity and telecoms services.
Whilst these provide a useful supplement to
earnings, their main objective is to increase
the attractiveness of the Group’s core
accommodation offering and support the
maintenance of high levels of occupancy
and rental income.
At 31 March 2006 the Group supplied gas
and electricity to 948 customers, had 682
business insurance customers, 248 internet
connectivity customers and had 835
telephone users.
For many years the Group has operated a
customers’ directory – a ‘yellow pages’ type
guide to services offered by our customers
and preferential terms made available by
them to other Workspace customers.
Following the successful development of the
internet based version of this service (which
operates within the Customer Home section
of the Group’s website) the service was
extended by the launch during 2005/06 of
TradeLink. TradeLink goes beyond a service
to Workspace’s customers to source
suppliers by providing the opportunity to
network and establish collaborations with
others through which each may benefit.
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Workspace composition
Total

Our people: Commitment,
enthusiasm and performance.
Workspace Group recognises that
its performance depends on the
commitment, enthusiasm and
performance of its management and
staff whose continuing training and
development is essential to the
Company’s future success.

Directors
(excluding non-executives)
Operations
Finance and IT
Property
Admin and HR
Total

4
101
32
8
9
154

Female

1
44
9
0
7
61

Average
age
(years)

Average
period of
service
(years)

52.8
41.3
34.4
38.6
40.5
40.0

13.4
4.2
4.0
3.3
4.5
4.3

Basic salaries across the organisation
Number of staff

Over £100,000 per annum
£60,000 to £100,000 per annum
£40,000 to £60,000 per annum
£20,000 to £40,000 per annum
Below £20,000 per annum

4
9
10
95
36

Our people
We are a property based business, and
property skills are certainly fundamental
for us. However, with our flexible leases,
diverse large customer base, hotel-style
management and the continued
movement in our customer base, our
staff must deliver outstanding customer
service, have a wide range of skills and
be entrepreneurial.
Customer referrals form a key part of the
9,900 or so enquiries we receive a year and
many customers move within our portfolio.
They will only continue to do this if both our
on-site and central staff are supportive of
customer needs and if we create a positive
landlord/customer relationship.
As we buy new estates, grow our business
and seek to create additional value, we
often have to integrate established in-situ
staff into our culture. This represents a
continuing human resources challenge
on top of the development of our existing
workforce. Furthermore, whilst individual
performance is always crucial, our culture
and success depends upon a genuine
team approach and a collective belief in
the service we offer to SMEs.
The key priorities for the continued
development of the business in its people
policies are:
to build upon the good foundations
established in our current training
programmes, and to maintain or
exceed stretching external benchmark
standards e.g. ‘Investors in People’;
to ensure succession is properly
planned; and
to bring in new skills/structures as
the Group expands.

Investment in people
The Group achieved Investors in People
(IIP) accreditation in 1998. This has been
maintained since this date, with the last
external accreditation under the more
challenging Profile Assessment in 2004.
The next review is in Spring 2007.
Organisation structure, leadership
and succession
The main Board comprises four nonexecutive directors and four executive
directors. The four executive directors
comprise the executive board which is
charged with the running of the business
(for more information on the Board,
see page 61).
This is supported by a wider management
board which meets fortnightly and also
includes the divisional directors of the
Group’s operations regions and of finance.
Other senior colleagues attend as necessary.
Following the annual review by the
Nominations Committee, the Board
considers that the organisation is resilient
in the case of the departure of any single
executive. The aim of the business is to
develop good internal candidates for all
senior posts. However, any recruitment of
executive directors or designated senior
staff would also need to look at how the
role would be replaced and would normally
involve external as well as internal search
and recruitment.
Composition of workforce
The last six years has seen the staffing
increase from 82 in 1999 to 130 in 2000
(following the Tonex acquisition) to 154 at
31 March 2006 (2005: 143). We continue to
acquire new sites and associated employees.

Although a young and growing company,
40% of staff have been with the Group for
over five years and 9% with the Group for
over 10 years. The average period of service
with the Company is 4.3 years. However,
we have 19 staff who have an average
continuous service at their properties
(following acquisition by the Group) of over
11 years.
The Group works in an ethnically diverse
cosmopolitan city. Many of our customers
are in such groups. 31% of our workforce
(2005: 28%) reflect that diversity. The Group
aims to be an equal opportunities employer.
In its recruitment, staff training and
development and promotion policies it
seeks to avoid any discrimination on
grounds of gender, sexual orientation,
race, religion, age or disability and to
promote diversity actively.
The average age of a Group employee is
40.0 (2005: 40.8), with 17% of employees
aged 55 or over and 31% aged 45 or over.
Training and development
Each year the Group reviews its overall
training needs and agrees an annual training
plan. This follows individual staff reviews
and is agreed by the Management Board.
During the year £105,000 was invested
(2005: £98,000) in formal staff training;
providing 617 days of training (2005: 650).
At the year-end 15 staff (2005: 21) were
engaged in programmes of formal training
(for professional qualifications, external
degrees or as part of a vocational training
programme). Training programmes delivered
to staff during the year extended to business
related topics, personal skills development
and continued personal training programmes
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Divisional directors
Picture 1 (left to right)
Richard Snowdon
Divisional Director, Portfolio 1
Adam Binns
Divisional Director, Finance
Simon Taylor
Divisional Director, Portfolio 2
Senior management
Picture 2 (top row)
James Friedenthal
Commercial Manager
Anthony Kingston
Development Manager
Simon Webb
Lettings and Renewals Manager

1

for senior managers. Staff deliver as well as
receive training, being involved in both
internal (through induction courses, business
process training and staff conferences) and
external (conferences) activity.
Staff are involved at all levels in the
development of the Group’s operating
policies. There are formal steering groups
(on IT and supplier policies) and annual
conferences of centre management. In
addition to this, a Staff Forum has been
formally established and recognised, with
staff electing members to the Forum.
Remuneration, performance
and retention
During the year formal reviews of paternity,
maternity and adoption leave were
undertaken to ensure the Group’s
competitiveness in these areas. Additionally,
Private Medical Insurance has been extended
to all staff.
All staff may participate in the Group’s life
assurance, Group Accident Scheme and
contributory pension scheme (to which the
Group also contributes). All staff outside of
their probationary periods are invited to join
the Group’s sharesave scheme which offers
the opportunity to acquire shares in the
Company. Currently 33% of eligible staff
have taken up this offering.
In anticipation of the new Age Discrimination
legislation coming into force in the coming
year the Group is harmonising benefits
offered to all staff.
The average annual salary of all staff at
31 March 2006 was £33,375 (2005: £32,167).
The average salary increase at the annual
salary review (excluding directors, whose

2

details are given in the Remuneration Report,
and increases on promotion during the year)
was 3.6%.

(front row)
David Whiter
Head of Building and Developments
Paul Rees
Chief Accountant
James Newland
Head of Acquisitions
Lorraine Smith
Business Systems Manager

Proportion of ethnic minorities
in the workforce
%
30

All staff have annual reviews at which
personal targets and achievements are
measured and new business and personal
targets are set. Key Performance Indicators
for individuals and teams cascade down from
the main Board (covering performance
indicators which include occupancy, revenue
and corporate responsibility issues). All staff
participate in a bonus scheme. The Company
continues to develop its practices in this area.
Staff and customer surveys
Each year the Group conducts surveys of
both its staff and its customers. The staff
survey was completed by some two thirds of
staff, and showed very positive results on the
existence and communication of the Group’s
strategy and values, on personnel practices,
training and development and what it is like
to work in the Group. The customer survey
was completed by approximately 17% of
customers (677). Key indicators from this,
which are related to the performance of
staff, show that over 90% of customers are
satisfied with the contact they have with
Workspace, and with the Group’s overall
performance, and nearly 85% would
recommend Workspace Group. These results
show a direct link between our human
resource policies and customer satisfaction.

28
24
22
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06

Average spending per employee
on training and development
£
612

617

03

04

688

685
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06
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Chief Executive’s
review

Strategy for growth
2005/06 was a year of unprecedented
growth, with the value of the Group’s
portfolio increasing by 34% to £964.3m
through record levels of both acquisitions
and valuation surpluses.
In this section:
Chief Executive’s review, page 18

Harry Platt
Chief Executive

We have repositioned the portfolio in London
with 97% of our properties now within the
M25. This is a growing marketplace which
we know well and where our intensive
management skills can continue to drive
rental and capital values at our existing
estates and source new opportunities.
Key results
Strong results have again been achieved with:
Adjusted net asset value
per share
Net asset value per share
Trading profit before tax
Profit before tax
Basic earnings per share
Investment portfolio
valuation

£3.12
£2.37
£15.1m
£149.0m
65.1p

up 36%
up 34%
up 4%
up 80%
up 80%

£964.3m

up 34%

In particular, adjusted net assets per share
increased by 36% following a £131.3m
valuation surplus which also contributed
to an 80% increase in profit before tax to
£149.0m (2005: £82.8m). At a trading level,
earnings per share were up 12.7% to 7.1p
(2005: 6.3p) despite a number of significant
tenancy voids during the year.
Strategy
Following a year of exceptional growth,
the Group has largely achieved its five year
target which it set itself in September 2003
of doubling shareholder value and building
a £1bn portfolio. The Group achieved this
by outperforming the sector on all key
measures over the year: valuation surplus
15.8%; overall return 23%; equity return
40.7%; and total shareholder return of
46.1%. Looking forward, the Group seeks
to maintain this outperformance by:
focusing on the SME market in London;
which we believe has excellent long-term
growth prospects;

growing rents; our average like-for-like
rent of £9.48 per sq ft has substantial
potential to grow, and yet remain
affordable for our customers;
realising the latent value in our portfolio;
targeting where intensification or change
of use is possible. In the longer term,
some 45% of the Group’s portfolio has
such potential, whilst on a five-year
basis, there are over 20 estates we
are working on, of which 11 are in the
recently announced Glebe joint venture;
acquiring properties where we see
long-term value; we continue to
track a large number of potential
property acquisitions in London; and
improving margins; on certain estates
there is the potential to further
increase rents with added service
offerings.
We have recorded good growth in our
key financial statistics, net asset value
per share and earnings per share.
However, underlying this there has been
a reduction in occupancy which has,
on a like-for-like basis excluding
developments, reduced from 90.2% to
86.7% and reduced overall from 88.3% to
84.3%. This 4% reduction can be analysed
as follows:
Impact of acquisitions and disposals
Redevelopment sites vacated
for disposal
Occupancy loss following fire
at Westwood
Lombard surrender
Other significant sites
(Tower Bridge, Seax and N17)

1.0%
0.6%
0.6%
1.0%
0.8%
4.0%

The reductions at Tower Bridge, Seax and
N17 arose in part due to the loss of a number
of larger space users, particularly at Tower
Bridge where customers using space for

document storage have reduced their
requirements. Of the balance of the
reduction in occupancy, most of this
creates an opportunity for the Group.
For example, the lease surrender at
Lombard had a twin effect of increasing
earnings in the current year, due to the
surrender premium received, whilst
depressing current levels of occupancy
and rent roll. The surrender premium
was equivalent to the contracted future
rentals, notwithstanding the prospect of
re-letting the space. However, the space
is now being converted to a business
centre, upgrading the services at the
same time. This will have a short-term
impact on earnings whilst space is re-let
and refurbishment completed. Looking
forward, the Group’s other refurbishment
projects underway at Enterprise House
and Clerkenwell Workshops will complete
in 2006 when there is the prospect of
occupancy and rent roll improvements
as these properties are let.
Whilst occupancy reduced, average
like-for-like rents per sq ft increased.
This was partly a mix factor and partly
due to real growth in rental values.
Overall, the average like-for-like rent
increased by 3.6% to £9.48 per sq ft; an
affordable level for a portfolio, 70% of
which is within six miles of the centre of
London. The fact that the average rent
increased at a time when occupancy
reduced indicates that the market
overall is robust and demand is good.
This year the rolling rent review and lease
renewal programme extended to 11.6% of
the opening rent roll. The uplift achieved
of £0.90m through rent reviews and lease
renewals represents an 18.3% increase on
previous passing levels for these tenancies.
This reflects a good performance for a period
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2005/06 Priorities

Achievement

2006/07 Priorities

Income, trading PBT, net
asset value all increased.

To continue to increase
all operating measures
to deliver shareholder
value.

Like-for-like occupancy
down from 90.2% to
86.7% during the year.
Mainly due to a small
number of major voids
and creation of future
opportunities. Average
rent up 3.6%.

To improve occupancy
back to 90%, and achieve
real rental growth of
5% (or more) per annum.

Total acquisitions
£127.4m showing 6.42%
initial return and a
reversionary yield of
8.49%. Disposals of
£47.6m at 6.38% yield
also achieved – with a
switch in the portfolio
both locationally (now
more focused in London)
and in relation to future
growth potential.

To make at least
a further £60m
acquisitions in London
in year, adding to
existing clusters
of properties.

Wharf Road sold.
Planning consent
obtained at Thurston
Road. Plans progressing
for Greenheath. Glebe
joint venture announced
following year-end.

To increase the
momentum for the
redevelopment and
change of use of some
20 or so estates,
including working with
development partners
in a variety of ways.

New CRM System
implemented for
sales process.

Extend CRM business
review to other
areas of customer
management.

TradeLink launched
successfully, with
over 732 customers
now involved.

Whilst maintaining our
customer relationships
to improve those with
‘gatekeepers’ in London,
particularly local
authorities and other
public bodies.

1. Driving shareholder

value
To continue to increase
all operating measures
to deliver enhanced
shareholder value.

EC1

Clerkenwell
Workshops, EC1

2. Operating measures
To maintain occupancy
through the year at
90%, and achieve
real rental growth.

Workspace has
totally refurbished
Clerkenwell Workshops
which now offers over
100 modern and bright
workspaces in its two
wings. A central courtyard
with café is sheltered
by a striking modern
canopy which provides
an exciting feature of
the development.
3. Portfolio
management
To make at least
a further £60m
acquisitions in year.
during which occupancy performance was
mixed. With the continued pressures on
space in London and our affordable rental
levels, we consider that the scope for
continued growth remains good.
Portfolio activity: Acquisitions,
disposals and added value
This year the Group’s portfolio activity
(acquisitions, disposals, refurbishments)
was at the highest level in its history.
During the year 10 properties totalling
£127.4m (2005: £43.4m) (both figures net of
costs) were acquired. This was a significant
achievement in a competitive property
market. Disposals of £47.6m (2005: £34.8m)
were also made. Full details of these
acquisitions and disposals may be found
on pages 77-78. In addition to this scale of
portfolio activity four key features stand out.
Repositioning the portfolio
With the Group’s focus on acquisitions
within the M25, coupled with the disposal
of the majority of its properties outside the
M25, the Group has further increased its
concentration in London. 97% (2005: 90%)
of its portfolio is now within the M25. This
‘switch’ has been achieved at good values.
Whereas the drier investments outside of
the M25 were sold at an exit yield of 6.2%
(with a reversionary yield at exit of 7.1%)
the acquisitions attracted an aggregate
initial yield of 6.4%. These acquisitions
also offer much better prospects for growth
both immediately, as is reflected in their
reversionary yield of 8.5%, and in the
longer term as our skills are applied to
the properties.

4. Releasing latent
development value
To accelerate our
programme to
extract value from
the change of use
of certain estates.

5. Customer services
Implement improved
customer relations
management (CRM)
systems.

6. Brand development
To continue to develop
our brand and in
particular, launch a new
initiative encouraging
inter-trading amongst
our customers.
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Chief Executive’s
review continued
1
The Leathermarket The Leathermarket
1993
2006

Number of businesses
Site valuation
Net rent
Rent per sq ft
Occupancy
2

17
£1.7m
£0.2m
£3.58
44%

129
£36.2m
£1.6m
£14.53
91%

Kennington Park
2006

58
£62.8m
£3.3m
£10.50
88%

This table illustrates the potential at Kennington Park
by reference to the transformation achieved at the
Leathermarket over the period of the Group’s
ownership (more details of which are given opposite).

1. The Leathermarket
example office/
studio space
2. Kennington Park
example workshop/
light industrial space

Kennington Park, our largest
acquisition in the year
The Kennington Park site was acquired for
£56.0m and offers exciting prospects for the
Group. It is a classic Workspace investment.
It is in many respects comparable to the
Group’s Leathermarket centre in
Bermondsey. This building was acquired in
1993 for £1.7m and following a rolling
programme of improvement works, totalling
£5.9m to date now attracts a net rent roll of
over £1.6m per annum, has an ERV of £2.5m
and is valued at £36.2m. At the time of its
acquisition Bermondsey was depressed.
Since then it has emerged as a buoyant
vibrant community attracting considerable
interest for both residential and commercial
uses. Kennington Park, a former taxi cab
works, is located at the inter-section of the
A23 and the A202, just yards from the A3 at
the Oval tube station. It occupies a prominent
6.2 acre island site with 11 discrete, attractive
buildings arranged around a central
courtyard. With the improvements in
neighbouring locations, the Kennington area
appears set to enjoy a renaissance similar to
that of Bermondsey which will improve the
prospects for the site. Kennington Park, as
with the Leathermarket at the time of its
acquisition, is divided mainly into larger
units of accommodation, which generally
attract lower rental values. Over time the
Leathermarket space has been sub-divided
to create accommodation more suited to
its SME customers and this is what we

will do at Kennington Park. 63% of the
Kennington Park floorspace is currently in
units of 2,000 sq ft or more (the Leathermarket
now: 14%) with just 19% allocated to units
sized up to 1,000 sq ft (the Leathermarket
now: 72%).
At the time of the acquisition of Kennington
Park, one of the larger occupiers in the
largest building had served notice to
terminate its lease. This loss, which was
anticipated, is to the Group’s advantage since
it allows us to relocate other users in the
building so that we can refurbish and divide
all of the space into smaller units; the first
stage of an overall rolling programme of
improvements on the estate. It is believed
that as Kennington Park is transformed
through this programme then it will over
time attract customers of a profile similar
to those at the Leathermarket where 78%
of the space is let to customers in the
creative and business and professional
services sectors (Kennington Park: 52%).
These sectors are at the heart of London’s
knowledge based SME services sector and
have shown greater strength and growth
potential. This repositioning of Kennington
Park will (as shown by our experience at the
Leathermarket) secure the organic growth
of rental and capital values.
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Maximising the potential of a building
The Leathermarket, (top) near London Bridge,
and purchased by Workspace Group in 1993, was
originally a collection of semi derelict warehouse
buildings, scheduled for demolition, in a run down
area of Bermondsey. Through phased redevelopment,
the Leathermarket is now a thriving business centre,
attracting top end SMEs, and has been integral to the
regeneration of the general area.
Kennington Park, (bottom) in the shadow of the Oval,
is a recent acquisition (2005) and shares many of the
characteristics of the original Leathermarket – large,
difficult-to-let floor plates, no café or central focus for
businesses to network, very little small unit workspace
and in a neighbourhood with significant potential for
improvement.
Workspace has transformed the Leathermarket through
refurbishment and sub-division of space since its
acquisition, all of which have added value. We now plan
to repeat the process at Kennington Park to create a
successful business centre, serving the thriving SME
sector in an improving location, with resultant increases
in rental and capital values.

Current Leathermarket
unit size distribution
42
30

14

A
B
C
D
E

Up to 500 sq ft (42%)
501-1,000 sq ft (30%)
1,001-2,000 sq ft (14%)
2,001-5,000 sq ft (12%)
5,000+ sq ft (2%)

A
B
C
D
E

Up to 500 sq ft (6%)
501-1,000 sq ft (13%)
1,001-2,000 sq ft (18%)
2,001-5,000 sq ft (33%)
5,000+ sq ft (30%)

12
2

A

B

C

D

E

Current Kennington Park
unit size distribution
33
30

18
13
6

A

B

C

D

E

Current Leathermarket
customers by type
H
G

I

A B
C

D
E

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I

F

Manufacturing (4.4%)
Transport, travel & storage (2.2%)
Wholesale and retail (2.2%)
Construction (1.1%)
Creative industries (47.8%)
Business and professional services (30.0%)
Other services (4.4%)
Community, health and education (4.4%)
Charity, voluntary and
professional organisations (3.5%)

Current Kennington Park
customers by type
A B
C

A
B
C
D
E
F

Manufacturing (4.5%)
Transport, travel & storage (6.1%)
Creative industries (31.8%)
Business and professional services (19.7%)
Community, health and education (4.6%)
Charity, voluntary and
professional organisations (33.3%)

F
E
D

The Leathermarket occupiers tend to be in the higher value added
professional services and creative sectors. This compares to the lower
growth and value added sectors predominant at Kennington Park.

Section 3
22 Workspace Group PLC

Chief Executive’s
review continued

Strategy for
growth

Annual Report and
Accounts 2006

Olympic related investment
Uplands Business Park (pictured right), situated
just north of the Olympic zone has the potential
to provide accommodation to businesses
displaced by the Olympic’s area development.
The Olympics should provide added growth
impetus at other Workspace properties by
pushing up land values in the local area
and encouraging new Olympic related SMEs
needing business space.

Stratford

£2.4bn
The Government and Mayor have agreed a
public funding package of £2.375 billion (for
2012 London Olympic investment), which will
be found from London Council Tax, the London
Development Agency and Lottery funding.
Source: culture.gov.uk

Scale: 5 miles

Olympic zone
Workspace Group properties acquired in 2006
Other Workspace Group properties
City airport
Main roads
Source: London2012.org

Olympics related investment
Prior to the announcement of the decision
on the 2012 Olympic Games the Group
sought opportunities to invest in potentially
affected areas in East London. Two
purchases were completed ahead of the
announcement and others are being
pursued now. Uplands Business Park is
based in Walthamstow to the north of
the Olympic zone. It has the potential to
benefit from providing accommodation to
businesses that will be displaced by the
Olympics area development. The estate was
purchased for a capital value of £83 per sq ft.
As such, it also offers potential, over time,
for change of use, as pressures on land
increase in this area.
This potential is even more marked in
the case of the second acquisition made
only weeks before the bid success was
announced. Marshgate Lane was purchased
for £5.6m (£60 per sq ft). It is located in an
area originally designated for compulsory
purchase for the Olympics. However,
following the bid success the London
Development Agency reappraised its land
needs and the property was released from
the compulsory purchase order zone. It is
located immediately adjacent to the Olympic
boundary close to the A11 at the Bow flyover,
near the Pudding Mill Lane DLR station.
Whilst it is presently designated for industrial
use there is increasing pressure for release
of land adjacent to the Olympic site for other
mixed uses. As a result, the site attracted
a £12.75m valuation at 31 March 2006 (an
increase of 128% over original cost) with
scope for further improvement.
Realising the latent development potential
We believe that at least 45% of the Group’s
portfolio has scope to add value by
improvement initiatives. Through the year we
have continued to work to realise this value.
In our third quarter report we noted that at

four key sites (Aberdeen Studios, Thurston
Road, Wharf Road and Greenheath),
where plans were well advanced, there
was scope to triple the site density adding
430,000 sq ft of space for a variety of uses.
We see potential to do the same on a further
11 estates adding a further 1.47 million sq ft
of extra space. As is explained in our
companion Sustainability Report this sits
comfortably with the principles set out in the
Mayor’s Plan for London. The city’s growing
population can only be accommodated
within current built areas by increasing the
density of development of these areas. To be
sustainable, this denser occupation of space
needs to meet the mixed demands of the
community in living, working and
recreational space.
During the year the original planning
consent at Thurston Road to replace the
46,433 sq ft industrial park with 45,000 sq ft
of retail accommodation and 24 residential
units was improved to a scheme
incorporating 98,650 sq ft of retail and
18,000 sq ft of live work space with 271
residential units adding value to our site.
Further improvements to this scheme are
under consideration.
At Wharf Road an agreement was reached
with a residential developer to sell that part
of the site with a residential consent for a
consideration comprising £1.86m cash and
the provision of a new 30,000 sq ft business
centre to be constructed on the retained
portion of the site. This deal was completed
shortly after the year-end and the developer
is now on site. This ‘new for old’ formula is
one which we seek to repeat elsewhere.
At Greenheath we are progressing
proposals to redevelop a 0.34 acre ribbon
of land on the perimeter of the site to provide
student accommodation, preserving the
business centre at the heart of the site.

If these proposals receive consent then
the business centre will be refurbished
alongside the new works.
Despite support from the planning officers,
our proposals for Aberdeen Studios,
Islington have been refused planning
consent during this year. This was
disappointing, particularly since the
officers had recognised by their
recommendation that our proposals
were the best for the community. We are
now looking at options for revisions to
our plans which might achieve approval,
whilst pursuing a planning appeal on the
original application.
Work is in hand to promote proposals on
other sites. Included in this is our joint
venture with Glebe which was announced
following the year-end. This is a major step
forward to accelerate our programme,
bringing in additional expertise to do this,
and, whilst continuing to benefit in
the upside potential from development,
reducing the Group’s risk profile.
Valuation
With the move to IFRS accounting, this year
we changed our policy of valuing the
portfolio each half year to quarterly
valuations. In an active property market this
showed progressive quarterly surpluses of
£18.1m, £22.1m, £33.9m and £57.2m making
a total of £131.3m. The surplus in the last
quarter alone was almost as much as the
whole for last year, which was itself a record.
This was therefore an exceptional result,
driven principally by falling investment yields
in a very competitive investment market.
Whilst this yield shift has continued following
the year-end, we expect this to abate during
the current year when we anticipate the
fundamentals of rental growth and
redevelopment potential will take over
to drive our future growth.
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E17

Uplands Business Park
Purchased in July 2005, Uplands Business Park is
a large light industrial and office estate on Black
Horse Lane in Walthamstow. In total the site is
285,047 sq ft, with various buildings offering units
from 100 to 15,000 sq ft.
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Uplands Business Park supports a diverse range
of customers and their businesses in E17.
1. Engineering 2. Storage 3. Printers
4. Motor services 5. Professional services
6. Manufacturing
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Total return
(p.a.)

conclusion that this is a highly risky activity.
By aggregating these properties and
customers, risk is not compounded but
shared and substantially reduced.

Chief Executive’s
review continued

The valuation of the Group’s properties
(valued by CB Richard Ellis) at 31 March
2006 was £964.3m. The average value of the
Group’s property was £162 per sq ft, with a
yield at estimated current market rental
values of 6.9%. Given the location of our
portfolio, this represents good underlying
value. Our acquisitions strategy targets
similar properties with low capital values and
future potential, as is shown by our recent
acquisitions in East London which have been
completed at capital values of only £60-£80
per sq ft.
For properties held throughout the year,
comparing their value at 31 March 2005 plus
additions and improvements at cost with that
at 31 March 2006, the uplift was £121.2m or
17.4%. Acquisitions during the year showed
a surplus on valuation of £10.1m (7.5%).
We have reported current and market rental
income levels for the first time this year for
each property. These may be found at page
79. The total ERV at 31 March 2006 was
£66.4m. Allowing for the 10% void that the
Group typically operates at, this shows an
achievable rental stream of £59.8m. This
compares with current net income of £47.2m
leaving £12.6m of potential additional income.
As may be seen from page 79 over half of this
lies in seven properties including, in
particular, the refurbishment projects at
Clerkenwell, Enterprise, Southbank and
111 Power Road. Clearly, as these projects
are completed and the space re-let, rents
and hence earnings will increase.
We have again tested the Group’s
performance against the IPD (Investment
Property Databank) March Universe 2006
benchmark. The table above illustrates not
only our top quartile performance, but also
the lower levels of volatility in our particular
sector compared with commercial property
more generally.

One
year

Three
Five
Ten
years years years

Workspace
Group
23.0% 18.9% 17.0% 19.3%
IPD March
universe
20.9% 16.6% 12.9% 13.0%
Workspace Group
percentile rank
23
22
5
top
IPD comparator 20.7% 14.7% 10.8% 12.8%
The IPD comparator index is a benchmark compiled
by IPD of comparable properties in comparable locations
to those held by the Group.

This outperformance is illustrated
graphically on page 5. Improvements in
valuation and total returns arise partly from
market movements but also as a result of
value-adding activity through acquisition,
management and refurbishment/
redevelopment. Comparison against indices
such as these segregates simple market
movement from our value-adding activity.
Through its performance the Group has
demonstrated its consistent ability to
generate enhanced returns from its
investments. This strategy will continue –
a focused portfolio with low capital values,
serving a growing market, with opportunities
to add value and to acquire more stock.
With this, and the current robust underlying
values, there is plenty of scope and
opportunity for growth.
Risk Management
Whilst careful management of risk will
protect earnings and shareholder value,
systematic analysis of risk and the
application of this into a business model
can create rewards. Casual analysis of the
Group’s activity of investing in secondary
property and letting to customers with
weaker covenants could lead to the

A detailed assessment of the Group’s
risk profile by reference to the recognised
sources of risk may be found on the Group’s
website (see page 84). A summary of this
assessment may be found in the section
on Corporate Governance (see page 63).
Social, Ethical and Environmental (SEE) Issues
Our business is founded on a financially
attractive yet sustainable business model.
From the recycling of older buildings that
have outlived their former use, to the provision
of an attractive occupational offer, to new and
emerging small businesses, SEE concerns are
addressed not just by the way we conduct our
business but by the business itself.
Our corporate, social and environmentally
responsible strategies are at the heart of
the Workspace strategy supporting our
commercial success. We believe that
addressing social, ethical and environmental
issues is not simply philanthropy but
something that has yielded commercial
benefits to the Group.
A more detailed analysis of the Group’s
engagement is included in the Corporate
Governance report on page 64 and in its
separate Sustainability Report, which this
year correlates the Group’s business plan
with the Mayor’s ‘Plan for London’.

Harry Platt
Chief Executive
12 June 2006
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EC1

Hatton Square Business Centre
Since the 19th century the site that is now Hatton
Square Business Centre, EC1, has had a range of
occupants including a tin foil manufacturer,
an electrical manufacturer and an iron works. At the
beginning of the 20th century the Prudential Assurance
Company colonised Holborn and records show in the
1930s the Company built the centre as we know it
today; the Prop House (Prop for Proposal). During
World War II the area suffered significant bombing,
however the Prop House escaped serious damage.
Hatton Square Business Centre now offers offices,
workshops and retail units from 100 sq ft to
3,500 sq ft and provides business accommodation
for 60 businesses. Next to Leather Lane, it is not
surprising that among the most common business
types now to find a home at Hatton Square are arts
and craft, and clothing and shoe production, but also
printing and charities.
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Hatton Square Business Centre supports a diverse
range of customers and their businesses in EC1.
1. Wholesale/Retail 2. Charity 3. Professional services
4. Engineering 5. Design 6. Business advice
7. Manufacturing 8. Printing 9. Clothing and shoes
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Financial review

00

Introduction
2005/06 was a record year at many levels. Profit before tax of
£149.0m, was up 80% on last year, driven by a valuation surplus of
£131.3m; both record levels. At the same time, our investment in
the future through both acquisitions and improvements to existing
property of £154.5m was a record too. Going forward, investment
capacity, following the transaction with Glebe, will be at a record
level also with funding availability
equivalent to last
Chartapproximately
heading
year’s acquisitions and the capacity to raise further debt thereafter.

00

00

00

Indeed (based on UK GAAP principles) gearing at this stage will be
approximately 60% leaving approximately £200m headroom to a
100% gearing level.

00

00

00

00

00

00

This is the first annual report that the Group has prepared by
reference to the new International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). As may be seen from the accounts and notes this transition
has resulted in many significant changes, not only to the style and
content of the reporting but also to the reported figures themselves.
We have decided to preserve Loremipsum
the columnar
sed doloranalysis of performance
sed “Other
diam loremItems” used hitherto in our
between “Trading Operations”velor
and
Loremipsum sed velor
former reporting under UK GAAP
since this assists differentiation
between our “cash” trading activities and the valuation adjustments
introduced under IFRS to bring book values of assets and liabilities
in line with “market values”. As such, the performance reported in
the Trading Operations column is only marginally different under
IFRS and so correlates well with figures reported previously. A more
detailed analysis of the changes under IFRS is provided on pages 53
to 56. Further, to assist understanding, our ten year trading history
(page 82) is presented on both a UK GAAP basis and by reference to
IFRS. In preparing these accounts we have elected to continue to
prepare accounts for the parent company using UK GAAP. As such,
you will find that this year, in addition to the audit report and financial
statements consolidated for the Group as a whole (on pages 33 to 56),
there is a separate audit report and statements for Workspace Group
PLC as a company (on pages 57 to 60). The commentary in this
review addresses the consolidated statements on pages 33 to 56.

Adjusted net asset value per share has
increased 36% in the year

Trading profit before tax increased also by 4.1% to £15.1m
(2005: £14.5m), in a year when occupancy reduced (some of which
was attributable to management decisions that will benefit earnings
in the future, see page 18). Although, as recorded in note 1 to
the accounts, trading earnings were assisted in the year by an
exceptional level of income received from surrender premia. This
is explained more fully on page 18. This has dampened earnings
growth. However, as the re-development projects complete and
lettings commence, occupancy and rental income will improve.
Profit before tax included a £3.4m contribution from profits on
disposals (2005: £0.1m loss). Details of disposals are given on
page 77. This profit arose mainly from the disposal of the Magenta
portfolio, 11 properties all located outside the M25 being all of the
Group’s smaller property holdings outside the M25. Not only was
this sale achieved at a surplus to the 31 March 2005 valuation but
also it showed an exit yield which was lower than that for the
investments made during the year on properties inside the M25,
mainly in London itself. This switch therefore was both profitable
and performance enhancing both in the short term, from better
initial yields, and in the longer term as assets are improved.

Chart heading
00
00
00
00
00
00
97

28 99

Loremipsum sed d
Loremipsum sed ve
ipsum sed dolor ve

Earnings per share growth mirrored profit before tax (PBT) up 80% to
65.1p (2005: 36.1p), whilst trading earnings per share were up 12.7%
at 7.1p (2005: 6.3p) the latter relative improvement (compared with
trading PBT growth) was due to the lower tax rate for the year.
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Rents by property type

Profits
As noted above, profits before tax at £149.0m are 80% up on last year
(2005: £82.8m), this increase being largely driven by the substantial
93% increase in the valuation surplus for the year to £131.3m (2005:
£67.9m). Elevation of valuation surpluses from the former Statement
of Total Recognised Gains and Losses to the Income Statement under
IFRS is helpful since it provides shareholders with an immediate
appreciation of the total gains recognised in the financial period, with
the result that financial ratios (e.g. EPS) calculated by reference to
these statements give a fuller picture also.

EA

B
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D

A
B
C
D
E

Industrial 24.0%
Warehouse 1.3%
Offices and studios 6.1%
Business centres 67.8%
Open storage 0.8%
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Administrative expenses were up 19.7% over the year and, as is
shown later, have increased slightly as a percentage of revenue.
This increase was attributable to higher head office staff costs due
to the increasing scale of the business, increases in the fair value of
cash settled share based payments due to the substantial increase
in the Company’s share price over the year and IFRS transition fees.

Progress record
Progress in key performance indicators over the year and over a five
year period was:

Interest charges were up 20% at £23.6m. This increase was due
principally to the increased debt levels, with borrowings at 31 March
2006 up 33% and totalling £429.7m (2005: £323.2m), offset by a saving
due to lower interest rates. At 4.68% the market daily average rate
of LIBOR through 2005/06 was 0.15% lower than that for 2004/05.

Improvement in Trading PBT
Improvement in Trading EPS
Improvement in dividends per share
Improvement in Adjusted NAV (per share)

Compound
annual
2005/06 2004/05 growth
growth growth 2001–06

4.1% 2.6% 9.9%
12.7% 3.3% 10.2%
10.3% 10.0% 10.2%
35.7% 21.7% 20.9%

Dividend
Taxation
A final dividend of 2.51p per share is proposed. The interim dividend
The effective rate of corporation tax in 2005/06 was 28.4% (2004/05:
was 1.25p per share, and so the total dividend proposed for the year
29.3%). However, much of this relates to the deferred tax provision
is 3.76p
(an increase of 10.3%). The dividends are covered 17.30 times
relating to valuation surpluses. At a trading level the taxation rate
Chart
heading
(2005: 10.47 times) by earnings, 1.90 times (2005: 1.83 times) based
reduced to 22.5% (2005: 29.7%). Of the total charge of £3.4m just
on earnings from trading operations only. The dividend increase is in
£1.2m relates to current liabilities with £2.2m being deferred. This
00
low current charge was due mainly to prior period tax adjustments 00 line with previous periods.
totalling £0.9m made for capital allowance claims. Whilst this
00
reduces the amount of the current taxation liability it also gives rise 00 Internal performance measures
to a deferred tax provision. Since a number of the buildings will soon 00 Internal benchmark comparison shows:
reach the end of their IBA life, or as plant is replaced, these liabilities 00
28 99 00measures
01 02 03 04 05
Performance
2006
2005
2004
2003
2002
will crystallise. It is again anticipated that, leaving aside disposals, the 97
Revenue
per
member
current year tax rate for 2006/07 will be of the order of 30%. However,Loremipsum sed dolor velor
sed diam lorem
of staff
410
380
332
314
294
this level may be reduced by further prior year adjustments arising Loremipsum
sed(£000)
velor sed diam lorem Lorem
ipsum
sed dolor velor
sed diam lorem in
from capital allowance claims.
Year-end
investment
property per member of
staff (£000)
6,262 5,006 4,092 3,261 2,984
Net assets and balance sheet
Overall net worth (net assets employed) on an IFRS basis increased
Administrative expenses as
over the year by £101.8m (35.3%) to £390.3m with the valuation
a percentage of revenue
14.4% 13.9% 13.9% 14.6% 15.3%
surplus for the year of £131.3m before tax (77 pence per share)
Total return on
largely providing this increase. This increase is reflected in the
equity
(pre-tax)
40.7% 27.6% 26.2% 15.0% 20.6%
Chart
heading
£237.6m increase in non-current assets financed by £103.7m of
increased longer-term borrowings with the balance arising from
Return on equity is computed by reference to pre-tax profits plus
00
the £4.4m reduction in net current liabilities and £36.5m increase
valuation surpluses/deficits divided by opening shareholders’ funds.
in deferred tax provisions.
00
Our target is to achieve a strong double digit return on equity year
00 on year, and in due course to reduce administrative expenses as a
The Group’s net current liabilities at 31 March 2006 were £18.8m
00 percentage of revenue to below 12%. However, the continued growth
(2005: £23.2m). Current liabilities include tenants’ deposits in the
00 and expansion of the business, together with the “added value”
form of advance rent payments and quarterly and monthly rents
initiatives undertaken to improve future rental income and capital
00
and service charge payments in advance amounting in aggregate
values
of properties
slows attainment of this latter target.
00 00 00 00
00 00 00 00 00
to £12.3m (2005: £11.0m). The directors consider that in the normal
course of business the majority of these liabilities are unlikely to
Financing
require payment and therefore form part of the working capital
The Group opened this year with £50.9m of available borrowing
of the Group. Net cash inflow from operating activities at £14.4m
resources. This was supplemented by the £47.6m (before costs and
(2005: £11.1m) improved, principally due to the contribution from
Loremipsum
sed dolor
velor sedon
diamthe
lorem
taxation)
realised
disposals of Payne Road, Alpine Park and
newly acquired properties together with increased profitability from Loremipsum
sed velor sed diam lorem Lorem
the
Magenta
Portfolio.
ipsum sed dolor velor sed diam lorem As flagged in last year’s report, the Group’s
existing properties.
facility with Bradford & Bingley has been increased from £200m to
£270m during the year and renewed to a fresh five year term. This
Valuation by investment tenure
enlarged facility together with funds from disposals and other
C A
un-utilised facilities provided the resources for the £127.4m (before
B
A Freehold 91.4%
costs) acquisition programme. This together with other capital
B Long leasehold 5.2%
expenditure on properties totalled £154.5m in the year. At the year
C Part freehold/
part leasehold 3.4%
end the Group had available borrowing facilities of £15.7m which was
increased immediately following the year end by a further £25m facility
with NatWest increasing funding availability to £40.7m. The disposal
of a portfolio of properties to a separately financed joint venture with
Glebe, referred to elsewhere in this report, will give rise to a net
inflow of approximately £120m to the Group. This will be applied to
pay down existing loan facilities, which will remain available for
redrawing in due course as further acquisitions are identified.
Valuation by property type
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Industrial 23.3%
Warehouse 1.0%
Offices and studios 5.4%
Business centres 69.5%
Open storage 0.8%

The Board considers that the funding strategy of extending
and renewing five year term loans continues to be appropriate.
Through this approach, the Board considers the Group can access
competitively priced funding on a flexible basis to match its cash
demands for expansion. With regular reviews and renewals the
maturity of these loans can be maintained in the 3 – 5 year range
Chart heading
leaving flexibility should markets and circumstances change. The
weighted average life of the Group’s debt at 31 March 2006 was
00 3.9 years.
00
00
00
00
00
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At the year end the Group’s facilities and drawings thereon were:
2006
Facility
Amount
£m

Debenture Stock
Convertible Loan Stock
Bradford & Bingley loan
NatWest property loan
NatWest overdraft

2006
Drawn
£m

2006
% of
Debt
£m

2005
Drawn
£m

19.5 19.5
5% 19.5
2.2
2.2
1%
2.5
270.0 270.0 62% 200.0
150.0 134.7 31% 100.8
4.0
3.6
1%
0.8
445.7 430.0 100% 323.6

The available resources of approximately £40m (following the
increase referred to above) are equivalent to eight months spend at
the planned capital investment rate for 2006/07.
Borrowings over recent years

% Fixed/hedged
Average interest rate
(year end)
Interest cover (excl valuation
surpluses)
Trading Interest Cover
Year-end gearing %
(on adjusted NAV)
Debt: Portfolio Value

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

54%

62%

59%

75%

77%

5.9%

6.3%

5.8%

5.8%

5.8%

1.84
1.69

1.77
1.77

1.97
1.91

2.04
1.72

2.15
2.09

85%
45%

88% 104%
45% 49%

98%
48%

81%
43%

Despite the substantial borrowings to finance acquisitions during the
year and following the substantial valuation surplus at the year end,
gearing measured by reference to adjusted net assets employed, was
maintained at 85% (2005: 88%). Both gearing and interest cover levels
are comfortably within the levels historically set by the Board of less
than 120% and greater than 1.5 times.
The debenture and convertible loan stock, which attract an average
11.3% interest charge, represent just 6% of total borrowings. The
debenture stock matures in June 2007 with the convertible maturing
in 2011. The maturity of net debt at 31 March 2006 is shown below:
Maturity of net debt

2006
%

2005
%

2004
%

2003
%

2002
%

Under 12 months
1 – 5 years
5 – 10 years
10 years +
Total

–
99
1
–
100

–
99
1
–
100

–
99
1
–
100

–
99
1
–
100

1
34
65
–
100

At 31 March 2006 the average cost of floating rate funds was a
margin of 0.94% over LIBOR or base rate (2005: 0.94%). At 31 March
2006 secured borrowings were covered 1.99 times by the value of
charged property (with a further £157.6m of uncharged property
giving an overall cover of 2.38 times). Further details of debt facilities
and borrowing policies are given in note 17 to the accounts (page 45).
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Report of the directors
The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2006.
Principal activities
The Group is engaged in property investment in the form of letting of
business accommodation to small and medium sized enterprises
located in London and the South East of England. At 31 March 2006
the Company had 11 active subsidiaries, 8 of which are engaged in
the Group's core activities. Details of the Company's subsidiaries are
listed on page 52. LI Property Services Limited procures insurance
on behalf of the Group. Workspace Management Limited acts as
manager for all the Group’s property investment companies.
Workspace Holdings Limited is an intermediate holding company
and borrower under the Group’s facility with Bradford & Bingley PLC.
Operating and financial review
A review of the Group's operations and financial affairs is set out on
pages 6 to 28 of this Report.
Profit and dividends
The Group profit after tax for the year attributable to shareholders
amounted to £106.6m (2005: £58.5m). The directors recommend the
payment of a final dividend of 2.51p (2005: 2.28p) making a total of
3.76p for the year (2005: 3.41p).
Land and buildings
The Group's fixed assets include investment properties of £954.0m
(2005: £716.5m), owner occupied property of £2.0m (2005: £2.0m)
and current assets include investment properties held for sale of
£8.2m (2005: nil). The Group's investment properties have been
independently valued by CB Richard Ellis, Chartered Surveyors,
at 31 March 2006 at open market value.
Directors and their interests
Mr A J Hales, Mr H Platt, Mr J Bywater, Ms M Carragher,
Mr B Cragg, Mr J P Marples, Dr C J Pieroni and Mr R M Taylor
served the Company as directors throughout the year. A J Hales and
B Cragg retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the Annual General Meeting. Brief biographical details
of each of the directors including those standing for election appear
on page 61.
The Company has a Directors' and Officers' liability insurance policy
which indemnifies the directors and officers against breach of
fiduciary duty.
No director had, during the year, any beneficial interest in any
contract significant to the Company's business, other than a contract
of employment.
Details of the directors’ shareholdings and options over shares are
provided on pages 71 to 72.

F&C Asset Management
ING Investment Management
Insight
Standard Life
Legal and General
Scottish Widows
Citigroup
ABP Investments
Aegon Asset Management
Workspace Group ESOT
Dimensional Funds

Health and Safety
The Group’s policy is to provide and maintain safe and healthy
working conditions, equipment and systems of work for all its
employees and to provide such information, training and supervision
as they need for this purpose. The Group accepts responsibility for
the health and safety of other people, who may be affected by
its activities.
Whilst all employees of the Group have a responsibility in relation
to health and safety matters, certain staff have been designated
“workplace” responsibilities or other co-ordinating responsibilities
throughout the Group, and ultimately, at Board level, the Chief
Executive has overall responsibility. Reports on Health and Safety
are made to each Board meeting.
Employment policies
The Group aims to create a working environment in which every
current or prospective employee is given equal opportunity in
selection, development and promotion.
During the year a Staff Forum has been established to improve
communication and consultation with employees.
Purchasing policies and payments
The Group tries, wherever possible, to procure from within its own
customer base providing its customers are competitive on price and
quality. The Group’s policy is that unless agreed otherwise at the time
of the transaction, its own payments to others for goods and services
received are made on average within a month of the date of invoice.
During the year to 31 March 2006 the average payment term from the
date of invoice was 28 days.
Post balance sheet events and future developments
Following the year end the Group’s interest in the Stevenage
Business Centre was sold for a consideration of £3.2m, Wharf Road
for £7.0m and the Group purchased No 1 Morie Street, London SW18
for a consideration of £4.4m. The Group plans to continue the
development and expansion of its business and has targeted the
acquisition of at least £60m of new property in the current year.
Further, the Group plans to extend its activities to exploit the potential
for improving, extending and changing the use of selected properties.
Following the year end the Group advised that it had reached
agreement to sell a portfolio of properties with potential for
improvement to a joint venture with a developer, Glebe, in which
the Group would take a 50% stake.
Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the accounts.

Substantial shareholdings in the Company
At 12 June 2006 the directors had been notified of the following
shareholdings, amounting to 3% or more of the ordinary share
capital of the Company:
Holder

Donations
The Group has made no political donations (2005: nil). It has made
charitable donations, principally through rental concessions and
sponsorship, totalling £154,030 (2005: £59,033).

% of share capital

10.0%
7.9%
5.5%
5.5%
4.2%
4.0%
3.9%
3.7%
3.5%
3.2%
3.1%

Risk management
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Company are set out in note 17(g) to the financial statements and
in the Corporate Governance section of this report on page 46.
Key Performance Indicators
The directors are required in the business review to comment
upon the Group’s key performance indicators. These are reported
elsewhere in this Annual Report and key performance indicators
are provided on pages 2 and 82.
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Audit information
The directors are satisfied that there is no information needed by
the Group’s auditors in connection with preparing their audit report of
which the auditors are unaware. The directors have taken all steps
that they ought to have taken in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information.
Auditors
The auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and a resolution that they will
be reappointed is included as ordinary business at the Annual
General Meeting.
Annual General Meeting
The 20th Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at
Magenta House, 85 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1DU on Tuesday
1 August 2006. Formal notice of the meeting is given on pages 75
and 76.
Special business at the Annual General Meeting
In addition to the ordinary business of the meeting, three resolutions
(numbered 7 to 9) are proposed as special business and are
concerned with the following matters:
(a) Directors' powers to allot securities – renewal of authority
By law, directors are not permitted to allot new shares (or to grant
rights over shares) unless authorised to do so by shareholders. In
addition, directors require specific authority from shareholders before
allotting new shares (or rights in respect of shares) for cash without
first offering them to existing shareholders in proportion to their
holdings. Resolutions dealing with the authority of the directors to
allot shares will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
Resolution 7 gives the directors the necessary authority for the period
of five years from the date of the passing of such resolution to allot
shares, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £5,650,321 (being one
third of issued share capital of the Company as at 12 June 2006).
Resolution 8 empowers the directors for the period of five years from
the date of the passing of such resolution to allot shares for cash (or
transfer equity securities which are from time to time held by the
Company in treasury) otherwise than to existing shareholders on a
pro rata basis up to an aggregate nominal amount of £847,548, which
is equivalent to 5%. of the issued share capital of the Company as at
12 June 2006. It also enables the directors, in the case of an issue by
way of rights, to deal with fractional entitlements and to make such
exclusions or other arrangements as may be appropriate to resolve
legal, regulatory or practical problems which might arise, particularly
with regard to overseas shareholders. It is intended to renew such
authority and power at successive annual general meetings. There is
no present intention of issuing any ordinary shares, except in
connection with the Company’s share option schemes. As at 12 June
2006 the Company held no equity securities in treasury.
(b) Company’s power to purchase own shares – renewal of authority
Resolution 9 authorises the Company to make market purchases
(within the meaning of section 163 of the Companies Act 1985) on the
London Stock Exchange of up to an aggregate of 16,950,964 ordinary
shares (equivalent to 10% of the issued share capital of the Company)
as at 12 June 2006, at a minimum price per ordinary share of 10p and
a maximum price of 105% of the average of the middle market
quotations of the ordinary shares as derived from the London Stock
Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately
preceding the day on which that ordinary share is contracted to be
purchased.
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This proposal should not be taken as an indication that the Company
will purchase shares at any particular price or indeed at all. The
directors will only consider making purchases if they believe that
such purchases would result in an increase in earnings per share
and are in the best interests of the shareholders. Any shares
purchased under the authority would either be cancelled, and the
number of shares in issue would be reduced accordingly, or would
be held in treasury.
The authority will expire on 31 July 2007 or, if earlier, at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2007.
It is intended to renew such authority and power at successive
annual general meetings.
By virtue of the Company (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury
Shares) Regulations 2003, certain listed companies which buy back
their own shares are now permitted, subject to certain restrictions,
to hold up to 10% of their issued shares in treasury rather than
cancelling them. Instead, such repurchased shares may be held by
companies as treasury shares and later resold for cash, transferred
for the purposes of an employee share scheme, or cancelled. Whilst
any shares are held in treasury, voting rights are suspended,
dividends are not paid and companies cannot take advantage of
statutory pre-emption rights in respect of the shares (other than in
connection with a bonus issue of fully paid shares).
The directors would consider holding as treasury shares any shares
which the Company repurchases pursuant to the authority provided
by this resolution. To the extent that any shares repurchased by the
Company are held in treasury, earnings per share will only be
increased on a temporary basis until such time as the shares are
sold or transferred out of treasury. Overall, the directors believe
that the ability of the Company to hold shares in treasury will
provide the Company with greater flexibility in the management
of its share capital.
By order of the Board
R Mark Taylor
Company Secretary
12 June 2006
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Directors’ responsibilities
The following statement sets out the responsibilities of the directors
in relation to the financial statements of both the Group and the
Company. The reports of the independent auditors, shown on page 32
and page 57, set out their responsibilities in relation to those financial
statements. Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at the end of
the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group for the
financial year. In preparing those financial statements, the directors
are required to:
(1) select appropriate accounting policies and apply them consistently;
(2) make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
(3) state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures being disclosed and
explained; and
(4) prepare those financial statements on the going concern basis,
unless they consider that to be inappropriate.
The applicable accounting standards referred to in (3) above are:
(a) UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP) for the
Company; and (b) International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the European Union and implemented in the UK for
the Group.
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps
sufficient accounting records to disclose with reasonable accuracy
the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for taking reasonable steps to safeguard
the assets of the Company and the Group and, in that context, to
have proper regard to the establishment of appropriate systems of
internal control with a view to the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
The directors are required to prepare financial statements and to
provide the auditors with every opportunity to take whatever steps
and undertake whatever inspections the auditors consider to be
appropriate for the purpose of enabling them to give their
audit report.
The directors consider that they have pursued the actions necessary
to meet their responsibilities as set out in this statement.
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Independent auditors’ report
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Workspace
Group PLC
We have audited the Group financial statements of Workspace
Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2006 which comprise the
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of
Recognised Income and Expense, the Consolidated Balance Sheet,
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related notes. These
Group consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out therein.
We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March
2006 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
that is described as having been audited.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities. In addition the directors are responsible for
preparing the directors’ remuneration report and annual report.
Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report,
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also
report to you whether in our opinion the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the Group financial statements. We also report to
you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified
by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions
is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Key Business
Drivers, Financial and Property Highlights, the Chairman’s
Statement, the Operating and Financial Review, the Chief Executive’s
Review, Financial Review, the Report of the Directors, Directors’
Responsibilities, the Parent Company Financial Statements and
notes, the Shareholder Reporting and the Additional Information.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of
any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
Group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the Group
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the Group financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Group financial statements.
Opinion
In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2006 and of its profit
and cash flows for the year then ended;
• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and
• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the Group financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
12 June 2006
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 March

Notes

Revenue
Direct costs
Net rental income
Administrative expenses
Gain from change in fair value of investment property
Profit/(loss) on disposal of investment properties
Operating profit
Finance income – interest receivable
Finance costs – interest payable
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Profit before tax
Taxation
Profit for the period after tax and attributable
to equity shareholders
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

1
1
1

2006
Trading
operations*
£m

2006
Other
items*
£m

2006
Total
£m

2005
Trading
operations*
£m

2005
Other
Items*
£m

2005
Total
£m

63.2
(16.9)
46.3
(9.2)
–
–
37.1

–
0.1
0.1
0.1
131.3
3.4
134.9

63.2
(16.8)
46.4
(9.1)
131.3
3.4
172.0

55.0
(14.1)
40.9
(7.6)
–
–
33.3

–
0.1
0.1
–
67.9
(0.1)
67.9

55.0
(14.0)
41.0
(7.6)
67.9
(0.1)
101.2

6

0.2
(22.2)
–
15.1
(3.4)

–
(1.4)
0.4
133.9
(39.0)

0.2
(23.6)
0.4
149.0
(42.4)

0.1
(18.9)
–
14.5
(4.3)

–
(0.7)
1.1
68.3
(20.0)

0.1
(19.6)
1.1
82.8
(24.3)

8
8

11.7
7.1p
7.0p

94.9
58.0p
55.7p

106.6
65.1p
62.7p

10.2
6.3p
6.2p

48.3
29.8p
28.6p

58.5
36.1p
34.8p

2006
£m

2005
£m

106.6
106.6

58.5
58.5

2
3
4

* Trading Operations and Other Items are defined in the glossary of terms on page 83.

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense (SORIE)
For the year ended 31 March

Profit for the financial year
Total recognised income and expense for the year
There is no difference between the profit for the financial year and the total recognised income and expense for the year.
The notes on pages 36 to 56 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 March
2006
£m

2005
£m

10
11
12

954.0
0.2
3.6
957.8

716.5
0.2
3.5
720.2

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets – derivative financial instruments
Investment properties held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents

13
17e
10
14

6.7
0.1
8.2
1.7
16.7

5.2
0.2
–
1.2
6.6

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Financial liabilities – derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities

17a
17e
15
16

(3.6)
(1.2)
(29.0)
(1.7)
(35.5)
(18.8)

(0.8)
(1.7)
(24.8)
(2.5)
(29.8)
(23.2)

17a
21

(426.1)
(122.6)
(548.7)
390.3

(322.4)
(86.1)
(408.5)
288.5

22
24
25
23
24
24
9
9
9
9

16.9
28.7
(5.1)
0.8
349.0
390.3
£2.37
£2.29
£3.12
£3.01

16.9
28.4
(5.5)
0.5
248.2
288.5
£1.77
£1.71
£2.30
£2.23

Notes

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Net current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Net assets
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Investment in own shares
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Net asset value per share (basic)
Diluted net asset value per share
Adjusted net asset value per share (basic)
Diluted adjusted net asset value per share

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2006 and were signed on its behalf by
H Platt
R M Taylor
Directors
The notes on pages 36 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

Section 4
35 Workspace Group PLC

Financial
statements

Annual Report and
Accounts 2006

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March
Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Tax paid
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment properties
Capital expenditure on investment properties
Net proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Tax paid on disposal of investment properties
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital
Net proceeds from issue of bank borrowings
Net distribution of own shares
Finance lease principal payments
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash from financing activities

18
19

19

24
7

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
The notes on pages 36 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

18
18

2006
£m

2005
£m

39.0
0.2
(22.9)
(1.9)
14.4

33.9
0.1
(19.7)
(3.2)
11.1

(132.8)
(20.9)
44.2
(4.8)
(0.1)
(0.7)
(115.1)

(44.9)
(9.5)
35.4
(2.8)
(0.1)
(0.8)
(22.7)

–
103.9
0.4
(0.1)
(5.8)
98.4

0.3
16.3
0.7
(0.1)
(5.2)
12.0

(2.3)

0.4

0.4
(1.9)

–
0.4
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Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all years presented, as explained below, with
the exception of IFRS5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations’, which has been applied prospectively from
1 April 2005.
Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC
interpretations as adopted by the European Union and with those
parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties, fair value of derivative financial instruments and
convertible loan stock.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or
actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition investment property is held
at fair value based on a valuation by a professional external valuer at
each reporting date.
Changes in fair value of investment property at the reporting date are
recorded in the income statement.
Properties are treated as acquired at the point the Group assumes
the significant risks and returns of ownership and are treated as
disposed when these are transferred outside the Group.
Existing investment property which undergoes redevelopment for
continued future use as investment property remains in investment
property. Property that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property, but has not previously been classified
as such, is classified as property, plant and equipment and initially
recognised at cost until construction or development is complete,
at which time it is reclassified as investment property at fair value.
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of each item can
be reliably measured. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to the income statement during the period in which they
are incurred.

In the case of existing investment properties undergoing
redevelopment capitalised interest on the redevelopment expenditure
is added to the asset’s carrying amount. Borrowing costs capitalised
are calculated by reference to the actual interest rate payable on
borrowings, or if financed out of general borrowings by reference to
the average rate payable on funding the assets employed by the
Group and applied to the direct expenditure on the property
Adoption of IFRS
undergoing redevelopment. Interest capitalised is from the date of
The Group is required to establish its IFRS accounting policies for
commencement of the re-development activity until the date when
the year ended 31 March 2006 and to apply these retrospectively to
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its
determine its balance sheet at the date of transition to IFRS,
1 April 2004, and comparative financial information for the year ended intended use are complete.
31 March 2005. The comparative financial figures have therefore been
Assets held for sale
amended as required in accordance with the relevant requirements
and disclosures relating to the transition to IFRS. Advantage has been Properties and land held for sale are included in the balance sheet
at fair value and presented on the balance sheet as investment
taken of certain exemptions allowed by IFRS 1 ‘First Time Adoption
properties held for sale.
of IFRS’ as follows:
Key judgements
Key judgements include the estimation of fair values of investment
properties and derivative financial instruments, the assessment of
useful economic lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment and estimates of trade receivables impairment provisions.

• Share based payment transactions – to not apply IFRS 2 ‘Share
Based Payment’ to equity instruments granted before 7 November
2002 and cash settled share base payment liabilities settled prior
to 1 January 2005.
• Fair value at deemed cost – to take fair value as the deemed cost
of owner occupied property at the date of transition.

Property plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements Group and the cost of each item can be reliably measured. All other
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement
of the Company and all its subsidiary undertakings up to 31 March
2006. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to during the period in which they are incurred. In the case of properties
undergoing construction or development, capitalised interest on the
govern the financial and operating policies. The financial statements
development expenditure is added to the asset’s carrying amount.
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences to the date control ceases.
Depreciation is provided using the straight line method to allocate the
cost less estimated residual value over the asset’s estimated useful
Inter company transactions, balances and unrealised gains from
lives as follows:
intra group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
Freehold land
not depreciated
of the asset transferred.
Buildings
50 years
Motor
vehicles
4 years
Investment properties
Equipment and fixtures
4 years
Investment properties are those properties owned or leased under a
finance lease by the Group that are held to earn rental income or for
capital appreciation or both and are not occupied by the Company or
subsidiaries of the Group.
Land or buildings held under operating leases are classified and
accounted for as investment properties where the rest of the
definition of investment property is met. The operating lease is
accounted for as if it were a finance lease.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at least at each financial year end. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
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Intangibles
Acquired computer software licenses and external costs of
implementing or developing computer software programmes are
capitalised. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful
lives of 4 years on a straight line basis. Intangibles are stated at
historical cost.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Leases
A group company as a lessee
i) Operating leases – leases in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are
classified as operating leases. Payments, including prepayments,
made under operating leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.
ii) Finance leases – leases of assets where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised
at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the net present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in current and non-current borrowings.
Each lease payment is allocated between liability and finance charges
so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income
statement. The investment properties acquired under finance leases
are subsequently carried at fair value.
A group company as lessor
i) Operating leases – properties leased out under operating leases
are included in investment property in the balance sheet. Rental
income from operating leases is recognised in the income statement
on a straight line basis over the lease term. When the Group provides
incentives to its customers the cost of the incentives are recognised
over the lease term on a straight line basis as a reduction of
rental income.
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Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost, any difference between the initial amount (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings, using the effective
interest method, except for interest capitalised on redevelopments.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.
Compound financial instruments
At the date of issue of compound financial instruments, the fair value
of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-compound debt. The difference between
the proceeds of issue and the fair value of the liability is included in
equity. The interest payable and amortisation of the carrying value of
the liability component are recognised as interest expense so as to
maintain a constant rate of interest on the carrying value.
Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into derivative transactions such as interest rate
collars in order to manage its interest risk. Derivatives are recorded
at fair value calculated on valuation techniques based on market
prices and estimated cash flows. As the Group does not apply hedge
accounting to the interest rate collars, any changes in value are
recognised in the income statement.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Investment in own shares
The Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT).
When the Group purchases Company shares, the consideration paid
is deducted from shareholders’ equity as Investment in Own Shares
until the shares are re-issued, cancelled or disposed of. Where
ii) Finance leases – when assets are leased out under a finance lease, shares are re-issued or disposed of any consideration due is included
the present value of the minimum lease payments is recognised as a in shareholders’ equity as Investment in Own Shares.
receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the
present value of the receivable represents unearned finance income. Provisions
Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a current obligation
investment method before tax, which reflects a constant periodic rate arising from a past event and it is probable that the Group will be
of return. Where the buildings element of a property lease is
required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the
classified as a finance lease, the land element is treated as an
directors’ best estimate of the present value of the expenditure
operating lease.
required to settle that obligation at the balance sheet date.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at cost less provision for impairment where
it is established there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivable. The amount of the provision is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows. The provision is recorded in the income statement.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks and other short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are
included within cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
cash flow statement.

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises rental income, service charges and other sums
receivable from tenants of the Group’s investment properties. Other
sums comprise insurance charges, supplies of utilities, premia
associated with surrender of tenancies, commissions, fees and other
sundry income.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the income
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. When the
Group provides lease incentives to its tenants the cost of incentives
are recognised over the lease term, on a straight line basis, as a
reduction to income.
Service charge and other sums receivable from tenants are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the relevant
service or transactions at the reporting date.
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Rental income from property let out under a finance lease is
accounted for by allocating each lease payment between receivable
and finance income so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance income is
credited to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the receivable for each period. Contingent rents, being those lease
payments that are not fixed at the inception of the lease, for example
increases arising on rent reviews, are recorded as income in the
periods in which they are earned.
Income for the sale of assets is recognised when the significant risks
and returns have been transferred to the buyer. In the case of sales
of properties this is generally taken on completion. Where any aspect
of consideration is conditional then the revenue associated with that
conditional item is deferred.
Direct costs
Minimum lease payments payable under head leases categorised
as finance leases are allocated between liability and finance charges
so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income
statement. Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are
not fixed at the inception of the lease, for example increases arising
on rent reviews, are recorded as an expense in the income statement
in the period in which they are incurred.
Share based payment
Incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees under
share option schemes. The fair value of the options granted is
recognised over the vesting period.
Fair value is measured by the use of Black-Scholes and Monte-Carlo
option pricing models. The expected life used in the models has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.
The Company has established an ESOT to satisfy part of its obligation
to provide shares when employees exercise their options. The
Company provides funding to the ESOT to purchase these shares.
Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme.
Contributions are charged to the income statement as they fall due.
Income tax
Income tax on the profit for the year comprises current and
deferred tax.
Current income tax is tax payable on the taxable income for the year
and any prior year adjustment and is calculated using tax rates that
have been substantively enacted by the balance sheet data.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that
have been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax is realised or
the deferred tax liability settled. Deferred tax is provided in full on the
difference between the original cost of investment properties and
their carrying amounts at the reporting date without taking into
account deductions and allowances which would apply if the assets
concerned were disposed of.
No provision is made for temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit or relating to investments in subsidiaries where it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Dividend distribution
Final dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved, while interim dividends
are recognised when paid.
New Standards
IFRS 6 and 7 and IFRIC 4, 5, 6 and 7 have been adopted by the
European Union, but are not effective for the year ended 31 March
2006. It is believed that they will not have a material impact on the
financial statements on initial application.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 March
1. Analysis of net rental income

Revenue
2006
£m

Rental income*
Service charges and other recoveries
Services, fees, commissions and sundry income

49.2
12.3
1.7
63.2

Costs
2006
£m

(0.2)
(15.9)
(0.7)
(16.8)

Net
rental
income
2006
£m

49.0
(3.6)
1.0
46.4

Revenue
2005
£m

43.3
9.8
1.9
55.0

Costs
2005
£m

(0.2)
(13.5)
(0.3)
(14.0)

Net
rental
income
2005
£m

43.1
(3.7)
1.6
41.0

* Rental income includes surrender premia of £2.2m (2005: £0.3m).
The Group operates a single business segment providing business accommodation for rent in London and the South East of England,
which is continuing.
2. Profit on disposal of investment properties

Gross proceeds from sale of investment properties
Book value at time of sale plus sale costs
Pre tax profit/(loss) on sale
Current taxation
Deferred tax released on sale
Net tax
Net profit on disposal after tax

2006
£m

2005
£m

44.5
(41.1)
3.4
(4.7)
4.9
0.2
3.6

34.7
(34.8)
(0.1)
(4.0)
4.5
0.5
0.4

2006
£m

2005
£m

0.3
2.5
3.3
0.1

0.3
2.3
2.3
0.2

0.1
0.3
4.9

0.1
0.4
4.5

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.1

3. Operating profit
The following items have been charged in arriving at operating profit:

Direct costs:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets
Staff costs (note 5)
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on investment property
Trade receivables impairment
Administrative expenses:
Amortisation of intangibles
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets
Staff costs (note 5)
Other operating lease rentals payable:
– motor vehicles – minimum lease payments
Auditors’ remuneration including expenses
Depreciation in direct costs relates to fixtures and fittings installed within investment properties.

Amounts payable to auditors for non audit fees totalled £103,000 and relate primarily to the costs of IFRS conversion (2005: £12,000).
4. Finance costs

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts
Amortisation of issue costs of bank loans
Interest payable on finance leases
Interest payable on 11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
Interest payable on 11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
Interest payable on 11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011
Interest capitalised on property re-developments

2006
£m

2005
£m

21.0
0.5
0.1
1.4
0.8
0.3
(0.5)
23.6

16.8
0.4
0.1
1.4
0.8
0.3
(0.2)
19.6
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5. Employees and directors
Staff costs for the Group during the year:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Defined contribution pension plan costs (see note 29)

2006
£m

2005
£m

6.3
0.7
0.4
7.4

5.7
0.7
0.4
6.8

2006
Number

2005
Number

4
63
87
154

4
54
85
143

Number of people (including executive directors) employed at the year end:

Executive directors
Head office staff
Estates staff

The average number of persons employed during the year was 153 (2005: 145).
Key management for the purposes of related party disclosure under IAS 24 are taken to be all executive and non executive directors.
Included within staff costs above is remuneration payable to key management personnel, as follows:
Key management compensation

Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Pensions and other post-employment benefits
Share-based payments (not included above)

2006
£m

2005
£m

1.9
0.1
0.7
2.7

1.6
0.1
0.4
2.1

The remuneration of the executive directors is determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Board. A table of the directors’ emoluments
and details of directors’ beneficial interests in the shares of the Company and in options to acquire shares in the Company are given in the
Report of the Remuneration Committee on pages 70 and 72.
6. Taxation
Analysis of charge in period

Current tax
Deferred tax
Total taxation

2006
£m

2005
£m

5.9
36.5
42.4

6.2
18.1
24.3

2006
£m

2005
£m

6.8
(0.9)
5.9

7.3
(1.1)
6.2

34.5
1.2
0.1
0.5
0.2
36.5
42.4

15.9
0.9
0.3
0.9
0.1
18.1
24.3

The charge in the period is analysed as follows:

Current tax:
UK corporation tax
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods
Deferred tax:
On fair value gains of investment properties
On accelerated tax depreciation
On derivative financial instruments
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods
Others
Total taxation
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The tax on the Group’s profit for the period differs from the standard applicable corporation tax rate in the UK (30%). The differences are
explained below:

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax at standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2005: 30%)
Effects of:
Income taxed as capital gains
Contaminated land relief
Capital gains adjustments on property disposals
Other items
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods
Total taxation

2006
£m

2005
£m

149.0
44.7

82.8
24.8

(0.4)
(0.3)
(1.2)
–
(0.4)
42.4

–
–
(0.4)
0.1
(0.2)
24.3

There are no timing differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised.
The total tax charge represents 28.4% (2005: 29.3%) of profit before tax. This reduction was caused by contaminated land relief claims and
proportionately higher indexation allowances on capital gains.
7. Dividends paid

Final dividend 2004/05: 2.28p (2003/04: 2.07p*) per ordinary share
Interim dividend 2005/06: 1.25p (2004/05: 1.13p*) per ordinary share

2006
£m

2005
£m

3.7
2.1
5.8

3.4
1.8
5.2

* Figures adjusted to reflect bonus share issue made in March 2005.

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2006 of 2.51p per ordinary share which
will absorb an estimated £4.1m of shareholders’ funds. If approved by the shareholders at the AGM, it will be paid on 4 August 2006 to
shareholders who are on the register of members on 7 July 2006.
8. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trust (ESOT).
For diluted earnings per share the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Group has two classes of dilutive potential ordinary shares: those share options granted to employees and
those issuable to convertible bond holders.
Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below:
Earnings used for calculation of earnings per share

Earnings used for basic earnings per share
Interest saving net of taxation on 11% Convertible Loan Stock dilution
Share option scheme dilution
Total diluted earnings
Less non trading items
Trading diluted earnings

Profit
2006
£m

Profit
2005
£m

106.6
0.2
–
106.8
(94.9)
11.9

58.5
0.2
–
58.7
(48.3)
10.4

Earnings
per share
2006
pence

65.1
(1.5)
(0.9)
62.7
(55.7)
7.0

Earnings
per share
2005
pence

36.1
(1.0)
(0.3)
34.8
(28.6)
6.2

Weighted average number of shares used for calculating earnings per share

Weighted average number of shares (excluding shares held in the ESOT)
Dilution due to Share Option Schemes
Dilution due to Convertible Loan Stock
Used for calculating diluted earnings per share

2006
Number

2005
Number

163,629,157
2,538,531
4,400,000
170,567,688

161,931,920
1,682,780
5,000,000
168,614,700
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9. Net assets per share
Net assets used for calculation of net assets per share

Net assets at end of year (basic)
Dilution due to Convertible Loan Stock
Diluted net assets
Derivative financial instruments at fair value
Deferred tax on accelerated tax depreciation
Deferred tax on fair value change of investment properties
Deferred tax on derivative financial instruments
Diluted adjusted net assets
Adjusted net assets (basic)

2006
£m

2005
£m

390.3
2.2
392.5
1.1
8.3
114.2
(0.4)
515.7
513.5

288.5
2.5
291.0
1.5
6.6
79.7
(0.5)
378.3
375.8

Net assets have been adjusted to derive a diluted net assets measure as defined by the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA).
Number of shares used for calculating net assets per share
2006
Number

Shares in issue at year-end
Less ESOT shares
Number of shares for calculating basic net assets per share
Dilution due to Share Option Schemes
Dilution due to Convertible Loan Stock
Number of shares for calculating diluted net assets per share

2005
Number

169,509,640
(4,940,960)
164,568,680
2,538,531
4,400,000
171,507,211

168,839,660
(5,620,370)
163,219,290
1,682,780
5,000,000
169,902,070

10(a). Investment properties

Balance at 1 April
Additions during the year
Capitalised interest on re-developments
Disposals during the year
Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment property
Investment property held for sale (note below)
Balance at 31 March

2006
£m

2005
£m

716.5
154.5
0.5
(40.6)
131.3
(8.2)
954.0

626.8
56.0
0.2
(34.4)
67.9
–
716.5

Property held for sale at the balance sheet date is shown separately under current assets as required by IFRS5. See note 28 for details of sales.
Within additions for the year are property purchases, including costs, of £133.1m (2005: £45.1m).
Capitalised interest is included at a rate of capitalisation of 5.73% (2005: 5.79%). The total amount of capitalised interest included in
investment properties was £1.5m (2005: £1.2m).
Investment property includes buildings under finance leases of which the carrying amount is £0.7m (2005: £0.7m). Investment property
finance lease commitment details are show in note 17(h).
The Group has determined that all tenant leases are operating leases within the meaning of IAS17. The majority of the Group’s tenant leases
are granted with a rolling three month tenant break clause. The future minimum rental receipts under non-cancellable operating leases
granted to tenants are as follows:

Within one year
Between two and five years
Beyond five years

2006
£m

2005
£m

23.0
24.5
23.5
71.0

19.0
18.5
24.2
61.7
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10(b). Valuation
The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2006 by CB Richard Ellis, Chartered Surveyors, a firm of independent qualified
valuers. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal and Valuation Standards
on the basis of market value. Market value is defined as the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.
The reconciliation of the valuation report total shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as non-current assets: investment properties,
is as follows:

Total per CB Richard Ellis valuation report
Owner occupied property
Property held for sale (shown as current assets)
Head leases treated as finance leases under IAS 17
Other
Total per balance sheet

2006
£m

2005
£m

964.3
(2.4)
(8.2)
0.7
(0.4)
954.0

718.4
(2.3)
–
0.7
(0.3)
716.5

2006
£m

2005
£m

0.6
0.1
0.7

0.5
0.1
0.6

0.4
0.1
0.5

0.3
0.1
0.4

0.2

0.2

Equipment
and
fixtures
£m

Total
£m

11. Intangible assets

Computer software
Cost
Balance at 1 April
Additions during the year
Balance at 31 March
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 April
Charged for the year
Balance at 31 March
Net book value at end of year
12. Property, plant and equipment
Owner
occupied
land
£m

Owner
occupied
buildings
£m

Cost
Balance at 1 April 2004
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at 31 March 2005
Additions during the year
Balance at 31 March 2006

0.5
–
–
0.5
–
0.5

1.5
–
–
1.5
0.1
1.6

4.2
0.8
(0.9)
4.1
0.6
4.7

6.2
0.8
(0.9)
6.1
0.7
6.8

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 April 2004
Charged for the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at 31 March 2005
Charged for the year
Balance at 31 March 2006

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
0.1
0.1

2.7
0.7
(0.8)
2.6
0.5
3.1

2.7
0.7
(0.8)
2.6
0.6
3.2

Net book amount at 31 March 2005

0.5

1.5

1.5

3.5

Net book amount at 31 March 2006

0.5

1.5

1.6

3.6

At 1 April 2004, the transition date to IFRS, the fair value of freehold owner occupied land and buildings was adopted as the deemed cost
of those assets. The fair value of owner occupied land and buildings was £2.0m and the carrying value at 1 April 2004, under UK GAAP,
was £2.0m.
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13. Trade and other receivables

Trade debtors
Less provision for impairment of receivables
Trade debtors – net
Taxation and social security
Prepayments and accrued income

2006
£m

2005
£m

3.8
(0.3)
3.5
0.3
2.9
6.7

3.5
(0.4)
3.1
–
2.1
5.2

There is no concentration of credit risk with regard to trade receivables as the Group has a large number of unrelated customers. No single
debtor represents more than 4.9% of trade debtors.
There is no material difference between the above amounts and their fair values due to the short term nature of the receivables.
14. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds

2006
£m

2005
£m

–
1.7
1.7

–
1.2
1.2

Tenants’ deposit deeds represent returnable cash security deposits received from tenants and are ring-fenced under the terms of the
individual lease contracts.
Bank overdrafts are included within cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement.
15. Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Taxation and social security payable
Tenants’ deposit deeds (see note 14)
Tenants ’ deposits
Accrued expenses
Deferred income-rent and service charges

2006
£m

2005
£m

2.4
0.4
1.7
5.3
13.9
5.3
29.0

2.2
1.1
1.2
5.0
10.5
4.8
24.8

There is no material difference between the above amounts and their fair values due to the short term nature of the payables.
16. Current tax liabilities

Current tax liabilities

2006
£m

2005
£m

1.7

2.5

Section 4
45 Workspace Group PLC

Financial
statements

Annual Report and
Accounts 2006

17. Financial liabilities – borrowings
a) Balances

Current
Bank loan and overdrafts due within one year or on demand (secured)
Non-current
11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011 (unsecured)
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007 (secured)
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007 (secured)
Other loans (secured)
Finance lease obligations (secured)

2006
£m

2005
£m

3.6

0.8

2.2
12.5
7.0
403.7
0.7
426.1
429.7

2.5
12.5
7.0
299.7
0.7
322.4
323.2

The secured loans and overdraft facility are secured on properties with balance sheet values totalling £806.7m (2005: £655.5m).
b) Maturity

Secured (excluding finance leases)
Repayable in less than one year
Repayable between one year and two years
Repayable between two years and three years
Repayable between three years and four years
Repayable between four years and five years
Less cost of raising finance
Unsecured
Repayable in five years or more
Finance leases (secured)
Repayable in five years or more

2006
£m

2005
£m

3.6
19.5
–
134.7
270.0
427.8
(1.0)
426.8

0.8
–
219.5
–
100.8
321.1
(1.1)
320.0

2.2

2.5

0.7
429.7

0.7
323.2

c) Interest rate profile
Principal
£m

Interest
rate

Current
Bank loan and overdrafts due within one year or on demand

3.6

Variable

Variable On demand

Non-current
11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011

2.2

11% fixed

June and September
December
2011
September June 2007
and March
September June 2007
and March
Variable August 2010
Variable
July 2009

11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007

12.5 11.125% fixed

11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007

7.0 11.625% fixed

Other loans
Other loans

270.0 LIBOR+0.94%
134.7 LIBOR+0.95%

Interest
payable

Repayable

The 11% convertible loan stock 2011 is convertible each year within 31 days of the date of dispatch of the audited consolidated financial
statements at one ordinary share to £0.50 of stock held.
The net proceeds received from initial issue of the Convertible Loan Stock 2011 have been split between the liability element and an equity
element as follows:

Net proceeds of Convertible Loan Stock 2011
Less equity component
Liability component at date of issue
Cumulative amortisation since issue
Liability component of conversion
Liability component as at 31 March
The effective interest rate on the liability element at 31 March 2006 was 11.95% (2005: 11.95%).

2006
£m

2005
£m

4.0
(0.3)
3.7
0.3
(1.8)
2.2

4.0
(0.3)
3.7
0.3
(1.5)
2.5
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17. Financial liabilities – borrowings continued
d) Financial instruments held at fair value through the profit and loss
The following interest rate collars are held:

Interest rate collar (amortising amount)
Interest rate collar
Interest rate collar (increasing amount)

Amount
hedged
£m

Interest
cap
%

Interest
floor
%

Expiry

104.2
75.0
35.1

8.00%
6.95%
7.00%

4.50%
4.05%
2.99%

July 2009
July 2009
Oct 2010

The above instruments are treated as financial instruments at fair value with changes in value dealt with in the income statement during each
reporting period.
At the year end 5% (2005: 7%) of the Group’s borrowings were fixed with a further 50% (2005: 52%) subject to a collar.
e) Fair values of financial instruments

Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft
11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
Other loans
Finance lease obligations
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments:
Liabilities
Assets

2006
Book
value
£m

2006
Fair
value
£m

2005
Book
value
£m

2005
Fair
value
£m

3.6
2.2
12.5
7.0
403.7
0.7
429.7

3.6
2.5
13.1
7.4
403.7
0.7
431.0

0.8
2.5
12.5
7.0
299.7
0.7
323.2

0.8
2.9
13.5
7.6
299.7
0.7
325.2

1.2
(0.1)
1.1
430.8

1.2
(0.1)
1.1
432.1

1.7
(0.2)
1.5
324.7

1.7
(0.2)
1.5
326.7

The total gain recorded in the income statement was £0.4m (2005: £1.1m) for changes of fair value of derivative financial instruments.
The fair value of the interest rate collars has been determined by reference to market prices and discounted expected cash flows at prevailing
interest rates. All other fair values have been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The total fair value
adjustment equates to 0.8p per share (31 March 2005: 1.2p).
f) Borrowing facilities
At 31 March 2006 the Group had undrawn borrowing facilities of £19.3m (2005: £50.9m) for which conditions precedent had been met.
Of the total undrawn facilities £0.2m (2005: £1.7m) had a maturity of less than 12 months with the remainder having a maturity of in excess
of two years.
g) Financial instrument risk management objectives and policy
Interest risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and borrowings. The Group borrows at both fixed and floating rates of
interest and then uses interest rate collars to generate the desired interest and risk profile.
The Group’s policy is to fix or cap interest rates on at least 50% of its borrowings.
Credit risk
The credit risk in liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with investment grade
credit ratings.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk from its customers as exposure is spread over a large number of entities.
Liquidity risk
The Group minimises liquidity risk by continually refreshing the maturity profile of its debt.
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h) Finance leases
Finance lease liabilities are in respect of leased investment property.
Minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

Within one year
Between two and five years
Beyond five years
Future finance charges on finance leases
Present value of finance lease liabilities

2006
£m

2005
£m

0.1
0.2
3.7
4.0
(3.3)
0.7

0.1
0.2
3.7
4.0
(3.3)
0.7

2006
£m

2005
£m

18. Notes to cash flow statement
Reconciliation of profit for the period to cash generated from operations:

Profit for the period
Tax
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangibles
(Profit)/loss on disposal of investment properties
Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment property
Fair value gains on financial instruments
Interest income
Interest expense
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

106.6
42.4
0.6
0.1
(3.4)
(131.3)
(0.4)
(0.2)
23.6

58.5
24.3
0.7
0.1
0.1
(67.9)
(1.1)
(0.1)
19.6

(1.7)
2.7
39.0

–
(0.3)
33.9

2006
£m

2005
£m

–
1.7
(3.6)
(1.9)

–
1.2
(0.8)
0.4

2006
£m

2005
£m

1.9
4.8
6.7

3.2
2.8
6.0

Non-cash
items
£m

At
31 March
2006
£m

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds
Bank overdrafts

19. Tax paid

Tax paid in operating activities
Tax paid in investing activities
Total tax paid
20. Analysis of net debt
At
1 April
2005
£m

Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds
Bank overdrafts
11% Convertible Loan Stock
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture
Bank loans
Less cost of raising finance
Finance lease obligations
Total

–
1.2
(0.8)
0.4
(2.5)
(12.5)
(7.0)
(300.8)
1.1
(0.7)
(322.4)
(322.0)

Cash
flow
£m

–
0.5
(2.8)
(2.3)
–
–
–
(103.9)
0.3
(0.1)
(103.7)
(106.0)

–
–
–
–
0.3
–
–
–
(0.4)
0.1
–
–

–
1.7
(3.6)
(1.9)
(2.2)
(12.5)
(7.0)
(404.7)
1.0
(0.7)
(426.1)
(428.0)
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21. Deferred tax liabilities

Balance at 1 April
Deferred tax charge
Balance at 31 March

2006
£m

2005
£m

86.1
36.5
122.6

68.0
18.1
86.1

Deferred tax recognised in the balance sheet by each category of temporary timing difference is as follows:
Deferred tax liability
2006
2005
£m
£m

Fair value gains on investment properties
Capitalised interest
Accelerated tax depreciation
Derivative financial instruments
Other
Balance at 31 March

114.2
0.4
8.3
(0.4)
0.1
122.6

79.7
0.3
6.6
(0.5)
–
86.1

If the investment properties were sold for their revalued amount there would be a potential liability to corporation tax of £95.6m (31 March
2005: £64.5m). Under IFRS no account is taken of indexation relief on capital gains resulting in the difference between expected corporation
tax to be paid and the provision made for deferred tax.
22(a). Share capital
2006
Number

Authorised: Ordinary shares of 10p each
Issued: Fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each

240,000,000 240,000,000
169,509,640 168,839,660
2006
£

Issued: Fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each

2005
Number

2005
£

16,950,964 16,883,966

Movements in share capital were as follows:
2006
Number

Number of shares at 1 April
Bonus issue
Executive share options exercised
Save as You Earn share options exercised
Convertible Loan Stock converted
Number of shares at 31 March

2005
Number

168,839,660 16,733,811
– 151,955,694
–
50,000
69,980
20,155
600,000
80,000
169,509,640 168,839,660
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22(b). Share-based payment
a) Employee share schemes
The Group operates an Executive Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) and a Save as You Earn (“SAYE”) share option scheme. Grants under ESOS
are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant and normally granted at the market price ruling at the date of
grant. Grants under the SAYE scheme are normally exercisable after three or five years saving. In accordance with UK practice, the majority
of options under the SAYE schemes are granted at a price 20% below the market price ruling at the date of grant.
Details of the movements for the equity-settled ESOS and SAYE schemes during the year were as follows:

ESOS
Number

Options outstanding

At 1 April 2004
Options granted
Options exercised
Options lapsed
Bonus issue (1:9)
At 31 March 2005
Options granted
Options exercised
Options lapsed
At 31 March 2006

761,130
67,050
(177,629)
–
5,854,959
6,505,510
697,550
(679,410)
–
6,523,650

ESOS
Weighted
exercise
price

886p
181p
387p
–
112p
112p
248p
65p
–
131p

SAYE
Number

SAYE
Weighted
exercise
price

50,360
10,072
(20,155)
(1,765)
346,608
385,120
78,829
(69,980)
(30,855)
363,114

79p
145p
62p
101p
105p
105p
200p
92p
135p
125p

Of the 6,523,650 outstanding ESOS options at 31 March 2006 (2005: 6,505,510) 3,485,450 were exercisable immediately (2005: 2,768,010).
At 31 March 2006 there were 6,886,764 (2005: 6,890,630) share options exercisable on the Company’s ordinary share capital. Of these,
4,899,700 were directors’ share options and are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. 1,987,064 options are held by employees
who are not directors and these are analysed below:

Date of grant

Scheme

Exercise
price
pence

9 August 2000
24 July 2001
29 July 2002
30 June 2003
30 June 2004
17 June 2005
1 September 2005
3 November 2005

ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS

0.9225*
1.0915*
1.1895*
1.1325
1.8075
2.4450
2.6600
2.8200

19 July 1999
17 July 2000
27 July 2001
27 July 2001
25 July 2002
22 July 2003
22 July 2003
22 July 2003
23 July 2004
23 July 2004
20 July 2005
20 July 2005
Total

SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE

0.540
0.750
0.950
0.950
0.985
0.910
0.910
0.910
1.450
1.450
2.000
2.000

Ordinary
shares
number

62,500
230,100
375,000
415,000
243,000
266,500
60,150
31,900

Exercisable between

09.08.2003
24.07.2004
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
01.09.2008
03.11.2008

09.08.2010
24.07.2011
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
01.09.2015
03.11.2015
Exercisable on

8,160
4,900
37,630
2,320
20,490
51,770
21,700
740
66,560
11,710
58,924
18,010
1,987,064

01.09.2006
01.09.2007
01.09.2006
01.09.2008
01.09.2007
01.09.2006
01.09.2008
01.09.2010
01.09.2007
01.09.2009
01.09.2008
01.09.2010

The exercise of all options, other than those obtained under the Group’s Save as You Earn scheme, is dependent upon the Group achieving
specified non-market related performance targets as disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 72. The prescribed targets
have been met in respect of all options granted in 2001 and earlier years and 95% of options granted in 2002 amounting to 647,376 ordinary
shares (identified by a * in the above table).
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22(b). Share-based payments continued
b) Fair value of ESOS and SAYE share based payments
The estimated fair value of the share based payments granted during the year have been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. Inputs to
the model are summarised as follows:

Weighted average share price at grant
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Average expected life (years)
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting

2006
ESOS

2006
SAYE
3 year

2006
SAYE
5 year

2005
ESOS

2005
SAYE
3 year

2005
SAYE
5 year

248p
248p
15%
10
4%
2%
4%

250p
200p
15%
3
4%
2%
18%

250p
200p
15%
5
4%
2%
27%

181p
181p
15%
10
5%
2%
4%

181p
145p
15%
3
5%
2%
18%

181p
145p
15%
5
5%
2%
27%

The expected volatility is based on historic volatility over a five year period. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise.
The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. The expected
dividend is based on the present value of expected future dividend payments to expiry.
Fair values per share of these options were:

2006
Grant
date

ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
SAYE – 3 year
SAYE – 5 year

17 June 2005
1 Sept 2005
3 Nov 2005
20 July 2005
20 July 2005

2006
Fair
value of
award
pence

2005
Grant
date

2005
Fair
value of
award
pence

53p 19 June 2004
55p
–
58p
–
60p 23 July 2004
67p 23 July 2004

45p
–
–
47p
52p

c) Co Investment Plan
The Group operates a Co Investment Plan for directors, the exercise of which depends on the achievement of certain market related
performance conditions.
The scheme and its performance criteria are fully explained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 70.
d) Fair value of Co Investment Plan share based payments
The Monte Carlo model has been used to determine fair value of Co Investment Plan grants. Assumptions used in the model were as follows:
2006

2005

Share price at grant (pence)
245p
Exercise price (pence)
Nil
Average expected life (years)
3
Risk free rate
4%
Expected dividend yield
2%
Average share price volatility FTSE Real Estate comparator group (market related performance condition assumption) 21%
Average correlation FTSE Real Estate comparator group (market related performance condition assumption)
80%
Fair value per option
109p

181p
Nil
3
5%
2%
21%
80%
78p

The expected Workspace share price volatility was determined taking account of the daily share price movement over a five year period.
The respective FTSE 250 Real Estate share price volatility and correlations were also determined over the same periods. The average
expected term to exercise used in the models has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions, behavioural conditions and historical experience.
The risk free rate has been determined from market yield curves for government gilts, with outstanding terms equal to the average expected
term to exercise, for each relevant grant. The expected dividend yield was determined by calculating the present value of expected future
dividend payments to expiry.
e) Cash settled share based payments
National Insurance payments due on the exercise of non-approved ESOS options are considered cash settled share based payments.
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f) Fair value of cash settled share based payments
The estimated fair value of the National Insurance cash settled share based payments have been calculated using the Black-Scholes model.
Inputs to the model are summarised as follows:
2006
NIC

2005
NIC

339p
248p
15%
9.36
4%
2%
4%
109p

235p
181p
15%
9.25
5%
2%
4%
75p

2006
£m

2005
£m

0.3
0.6

0.2
0.3

Equity
element of
convertible
loan
stock
£m

Equity
settled
share
based
payments
£m

Total
£m

0.2
–
0.2
–
0.2

0.1
0.2
0.3
0.3
0.6

0.3
0.2
0.5
0.3
0.8

Other
reserves
£m

Retained
earnings
£m

Total
equity
£m

Share price at 31 March
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Term of option remaining (years)
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
Possibility of ceasing employment
Fair value of cash based payment per share
g) Share based payment charges
The Group recognised a total charge in relation to share based payments as follows:

Equity settled share based payments charged to equity
Cash settled share based payments charged to the income statement
23. Other reserves

Balance at 1 April 2004
Value of employee services
Balance at 31 March 2005
Value of employee services
Balance at 31 March 2006
24. Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
Share
capital
£m

Balance at 1 April 2004
Share issues
Bonus share issue
Distribution of own shares
Dividends paid
Value of employee services
Profit for the year
Balance at 31 March 2005
Share issues
Distribution of own shares
Dividends paid
Value of employee services
Profit for the year
Balance at 31 March 2006

1.7
–
15.2
–
–
–
–
16.9
–
–
–
–
–
16.9

Share
premium
£m

42.9
0.7
(15.2)
–
–
–
–
28.4
0.3
–
–
–
–
28.7

Investment
in own
shares
£m

(6.2)
–
–
0.7
–
–
–
(5.5)
–
0.4
–
–
–
(5.1)

0.3
–
–
–
–
0.2
–
0.5
–
–
–
0.3
–
0.8

194.9
–
–
–
(5.2)
–
58.5
248.2
–
–
(5.8)
–
106.6
349.0

233.6
0.7
–
0.7
(5.2)
0.2
58.5
288.5
0.3
0.4
(5.8)
0.3
106.6
390.3

£0.3m (2005: £0.4m) of share issues was in relation to conversions under the 11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011.
25. Investment in own shares
The Company has established an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) to purchase shares in the market for distribution at a later date
in accordance with the terms of the 1993 and 2000 Executive Share Option Schemes. The shares are held by an independent trustee and the
rights to dividend on the shares have been waived. During the year the Trust transferred 679,410 shares to employees on exercise of options.
At 31 March 2006, the number of shares held by the Trust totalled 4,940,960 (2005: 5,620,370). The shares have been included at cost in
shareholders’ equity. 4,920,600 shares held by the Trust are subject to option awards.
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26. Capital commitments
At the year end the estimated amounts of contractual commitments for future capital expenditure not provided for were:

Under contract:
Purchases, construction or re-development of investment property
Repairs, maintenance or enhancement of investment property
Authorised by directors but not contracted:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Purchases, construction or re-development of investment property
Repairs, maintenance or enhancement of investment property

2006
£m

2005
£m

6.5
0.2
6.7

8.2
0.7
8.9

0.2
0.1
6.9
8.5
15.7

0.6
0.1
5.6
6.9
13.2

27. Subsidiary undertakings
Except where indicated otherwise, the Company (incorporated in the UK) wholly owns the following subsidiary undertakings incorporated in
the UK and registered in England, all of which are consolidated in the Group’s financial statements:
Name

Nature of business

Share capital (ordinary shares)

Workspace 1 Ltd*
Workspace 2 Ltd
Workspace 3 Ltd*
Workspace 4 Ltd*
Workspace 5 Ltd*
Workspace 6 Ltd
Workspace 7 Ltd
Workspace 8 Ltd
Workspace 9 Ltd*
Workspace 10 Ltd
Redhill Workspace Ltd
Workspace Holdings Ltd
London Industrial
(Kingsland Viaduct) Ltd
LI Property Services Ltd
Workspace Management Ltd
Enerjet Limited
Vylan Limited

Property Investment
Property Investment
Property Investment
Property Investment
Property Investment
Dormant
Property Investment
Property Investment
Property Investment
Dormant
Dormant
Holding Company

2 shares of £1 each
2 shares of £1 each
2 shares of £1 each
2 shares of £1 each
2 shares of £1 each
1 share of £1
1 share of £1
2 shares of £1 each
1 share of £1
1 share of £1
1 share of £1
2 shares of £1 each

Dormant
Insurance Agents
Property Management
Dormant
Dormant

1 share of £1
100 shares of £1 each
1 share of £1
1 share of £1
1,176,753 shares of £1 each

* The share capital of these subsidiaries is held by other group companies.

28. Post balance sheet events
On 14 April 2006 the Group sold part of its interest in Wharf Road for a cash consideration £1.9m and construction of a new 30,000 sq. ft
business centre on the retained portion of the site. On 26 April 2006 the Group sold its interest in Stevenage Enterprise Centre for £3.2m being
the book value at 31 March 2006. On 26 May 2006 the Group purchased 1 Morie Street, London for a consideration of £4.4m.
On 12 June 2006 the Group entered into a joint venture with Glebe, contributing 11 of the Group’s properties for a total consideration from the
joint venture of £146m, compared to a book value at 31 March 2006 of £137.4m.
29. Pension commitments
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The pension cost charge for the year totals £0.4m (2005: £0.4m), and represents contributions payable
by the Group to the fund.
The Group’s commitment with regard to pension contributions ranges from 6% to 16.5% of an employee’s salary and employee contributions
range from 3% to 15%. The pension scheme is open to every employee after 3 months’ qualifying service. The number of employees in the
scheme at the year end was 83 (2005: 77).
30. Operating lease commitments
The following future minimum lease payments are due under non cancellable operating leases:

Motor vehicles:
Due within one year
Due between two and five years

2006
£m

2005
£m

0.1
0.1
0.2

0.1
0.1
0.2
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31. Explanation of the transition to IFRS
This is the Group’s first annual report prepared in accordance with
IFRS. The accounting policies set out on pages 36 to 38 have been
applied in preparing the financial statements for the periods ended
31 March 2006, 31 March 2005 and in preparing the opening IFRS
balance sheet at 1 April 2004, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS.
IFRS 1 requires reporting entities to select accounting policies that
comply with IFRS and apply them retrospectively to all periods
presented in the first IFRS financial statements but permits a
number of exemptions. The Group has taken advantage of the
following exemptions:
• share based payment transactions – to not apply IFRS2 Share
Based Payment to equity settled share based payments granted
before 7 November 2002 and cash settled share based payment
liabilities settled prior to 1 January 2005.
• fair value as deemed cost – to take fair value as the deemed cost
of owner occupied property, plant and equipment at the date of
IFRS transition
The principal differences between UK GAAP and IFRS as they affect
the reported results and their presentation of Workspace Group are
set out below:
IAS 40 Investment property
IAS 40 requires that the revaluation gains or losses on investment
property held at fair value be recognised on the face of the
Consolidated income statement rather than in reserves in the
Statement of total recognised gains and losses as is the case under
UK GAAP. As a result the revaluation reserve is no longer shown as
a separate component of equity in the Consolidated balance sheet
but is included within retained earnings, and is non distributable.
Under UK GAAP on disposal of properties the tax due on the
realisation of gains previously recognised through the revaluation
reserve was shown in the Statement of Group total recognised gains
and losses. Under IFRS it is included in the Income statement. The
tax due on sale will comprise an element in the Income statement
current tax charge (being the Capital Gains Tax liability including
indexation allowances) and a transfer from the deferred tax reserve
of the deferred tax amount already provided in previous periods.
IAS 12 Income taxes
IAS 12 requires full provision to be made for the deferred tax on
revaluation gains or losses of investment properties at the tax rate
estimated at the point of realisation. A tax charge therefore arises in
the Consolidated income statement if a revaluation surplus occurs,
the corresponding entry being a deferred tax liability in the balance
sheet. Under IAS 12 the provision for deferred tax will take no account
of indexation allowances afforded under UK taxation law, the tax
provided is not a calculation of potential capital gains tax liability.
Under UK GAAP the liability is an estimate of the capital gains tax,
but is not provided for, only disclosed in the notes (note 17 in the
31 March 2005 published annual report).
IAS 17 Leases
IAS 17 requires leases, whether as the lessee or lessor, to be
examined to differentiate between finance and operating leases. Most
property leases were recognised as operating leases under UK GAAP
but under IFRS different criteria may mean some are considered as
finance leases. Leases which extend for long periods and therefore
under which a substantial portion of the asset life is consumed may
be regarded as finance leases.
a) Head leases. Some (or some parts) of the investment properties of
the Group are held under long leases which under IFRS are classified
as finance leases, so requiring recognition of a liability based on the
minimum lease payments and a corresponding increase in the
carrying value of the investment property. Many of these head leases
incur only a peppercorn rent hence creating no finance lease liability.
For head leases with rental payments other than peppercorn, the rent
paid is split between interest payable and repayment of the lease
liability. Any rent payable in excess of the minimum lease payments,
as identified at initial recognition of the lease, is considered as
contingent rent and is expensed immediately.
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Under UK GAAP leasehold investment properties were reported at
the valuation of the legal interest owned.
b) Tenant leases are subject to the same tests. Because of the
multi-tenanted nature of the Group’s buildings and the short-term
nature of most tenancies, no leases granted by the Group have been
determined to be finance leases.
SIC-15 Operating lease – incentives
SIC-15 requires that any lease incentives offered to tenants, such as
rent free periods or reduced initial rents are recognised over the
lease term. An adjustment is therefore made to increase revenue in
the Consolidated income statement and create a financial asset.
Under UK GAAP any incentive was spread to the shorter of the lease
term or period to the first rent review or lease break. The Group has
granted no material operating lease incentives.
IAS 10 Events after the balance sheet date
IAS 10 requires dividends only to be recognised when there is an
irrevocable legal obligation to make payment. The final dividend does
not become irrevocable until approved by the members at the
Annual General Meeting. Under IFRS the final dividend is therefore
not recognised until approved and interim dividend not recognised
until paid. This treatment is consistent with FRS 21 which has
recently been introduced under UK GAAP.
IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment
IAS 16 requires owner occupied property to be shown as part of
property, plant and equipment. The Group’s head office is defined
as owner occupied property. As land has an indefinite life and
buildings a finite life the land and building elements of the owner
occupied property are shown separately, the latter being depreciated
over the expected useful life and the former not being depreciated.
The valuation of the asset at the date of transition to IFRS is taken
to be its deemed cost, any surplus or deficit being recognised in
retained reserves.
IAS 23 Borrowing costs
IAS 23 allows the capitalisation of directly attributable borrowing
costs on the creation or refurbishment of property by applying the
weighted average borrowing costs to the expenditures on the asset.
In the case of investment properties only the expenditure on the
improvement costs may be subject to capitalisation of related
borrowing costs and the underlying carrying cost of the property
is excluded. Under UK GAAP interest capitalisation arose on both
the original value of the investment property and on the
improvement costs.
IAS 38 Intangible assets
IAS 38 requires externally acquired computer software to be
classified as an intangible asset. Under UK GAAP software was
shown within fixtures and fittings amongst other tangible assets.
IAS 32/39 Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation,
recognition and measurement
a) IAS 32 requires the Convertible Loan Stock to be split into its equity
and debt components. The debt element is carried at amortised cost,
amortised over the life of the instrument, such that interest is
charged at a constant effective interest rate compared to the liability
outstanding at any given point in time. Under UK GAAP the
instrument was considered wholly as debt.
b) IAS 39 requires derivative financial instruments to be valued at fair
value through the Consolidated income statement and their carrying
values shown in the Consolidated balance sheet unless they meet the
IFRS hedging criteria. Under UK GAAP the fair value of such items
was disclosed by way of a note and any original cost amortised over
the life of the item.
c) IAS 39 requires the identification of any embedded derivatives in
the Group’s contractual arrangements. Embedded derivatives are
derivative instruments that have been combined with other
contractual arrangements to create a composite contract. The Group
currently believes it has no material embedded derivatives.
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IFRS 2 Share-based payment
The Group operates an employee Save as You Earn Scheme, an
Executive Share Option Scheme and a Co Investment Plan. IFRS 2
requires the cost of services provided where payment is made
through a share based payment scheme to be recognised as an
expense over their vesting periods and requires that where there is
no reliable estimate of the cost of these services then the fair value
of the options granted should be recognised as the cost of services.
The fair values have been estimated by use of the Black-Scholes
option valuation model in the case of the SAYE and the Executive
Share Option Scheme which have non market related performance
conditions and by use of Monte Carlo simulation in the case of the
Co Investment Plan whose performance conditions are market
related. Subsequent changes in fair value are shown as an expense.
Provision is also made for employers’ National Insurance costs
relating to share based payment schemes.

The purchase cost of the matching shares was recognised for the
Co Investment Plan on a straight line basis over the vesting period.
Employers’ National Insurance costs were recognised on share
options expected to meet their vesting criteria.
IAS 7 Cash flow statement
Under IFRS the Consolidated cash flow statement describes
movements in cash and cash equivalents. Under UK GAAP the cash
flow analyses movements in cash only. With that exception there are
no material differences between the previously published and
restated cash flow statements. Cash and cash equivalents include
short-term, highly liquid investments, thus including short term bank
deposits. Deposits were shown as investments under UK GAAP.

Under UK GAAP the SAYE and Executive Share Option Scheme were
not directly recognised as an expense (although the interest costs
arising from borrowings made to finance the purchase of shares
held in the Group’s ESOT to satisfy option exercises were recognised,
together with share dilution where new shares were issued).

Reconciliation of consolidated profit for the year ended 31 March 2005
Previous
GAAP
£m

Revenue – continuing operations
55.0
Direct costs
(14.1)
Net rental income
40.9
Administrative expenses
(7.6)
Gain from change in fair value on investment property
0
Loss on disposal of investment properties
(0.1)
Operating profit
33.2
Interest receivable and payable and similar charges
(18.8)
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
0
Profit before tax
14.4
Taxation
(4.3)
Profit for the period after tax
10.1

IAS 40
Investment
property
£m

0

IAS 12
Contingent
tax
£m

IAS 17
Property
head leases
£m

0

0.1
0.1

67.3
67.3

67.3
0.5
67.8

IAS 23
Capitalisation
of interest
£m

0

IAS 39
Fair value of
derivatives
£m

0

0.6
0

0
(20.2)
(20.2)

0.1
(0.1)

0.6
(0.6)

0

0

0

0

0
1.1
1.1
(0.3)
0.8

Restated
under IFRS
£m

55.0
(14.0)
41.0
(7.6)
67.9
(0.1)
101.2
(19.5)
1.1
82.8
(24.3)
58.5
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31. Explanation of the transition to IFRS continued
KEY
A IAS 40 Investment property
B IAS 12 Contingent tax
C IAS 17 Property head leases
D IAS 10 Dividends
E IAS 16 Owner occupied property
F IAS 38 Computer software intangible
G IAS 32/39 Convertible loan stock
H IAS 39 Fair value of derivatives
I IFRS 2 Share based payments

Reconciliation of equity at 31 March 2005
Previous
GAAP
£m

Non current assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment – other
Property, plant and equipment – land
Total non current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets – derivative financial instruments
Tenants’ deposits – cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Financial liabilities – derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Net current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non current liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Investment in own shares
Other reserves
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity

715.8
0
3.7
0
719.5
5.3
0
1.2
6.5

A
£m

B
£m

C
£m

D
£m

E
£m

F
£m

G
£m

H
£m

0.7

0

0

0

0

(0.8)
0
(28.5)
(2.5)
(31.8)
(25.3)

0
0

0
0
0

(321.7)
(7.4)
(329.1)
365.1

4.3
4.3
4.3

(83.5)
(83.5)
(83.5)

0.7

0

0

0

(0.5)
0.5
0

0

0.2
(0.2)
0

0

0

0

0

0
0

3.7
3.7

0.1

0

0.1

0
0

0.1
0.1

(1.7)
(1.7)

0
0.1

0.5
0.5
(1.2)

(322.4)
(86.1)
0 (408.5)
0 288.5

(1.2)
(1.2)

16.9
28.4
(5.5)
0.3
0.5
0
(0.3) 248.2
0 288.5

(0.7)

16.9
28.4
(5.5)
0
263.4 (263.4)
61.9 267.7 (83.5)
365.1
4.3 (83.5)

(0.7)
0

0
3.7

0
0

0
0

0.2

0

3.7
3.7

0

0

5.2
0.2
1.2
6.6

(0.8)
(1.7)
(0.1) (24.8)
(2.5)
(0.1) (29.8)
0 (23.2)

0.1
0
0

Restated
under
IFRS
£m

716.5
0.2
3.0
0.5
0 720.2

(0.2)
0.2

(1.7)
3.7

I
£m

(0.1)
0.1
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31. Explanation of the transition to IFRS continued
KEY
A IAS 40 Investment property
B IAS 12 Contingent tax
C IAS 17 Property head leases
D IAS 10 Dividends
E IAS 16 Owner occupied property
F IAS 38 Computer software intangible
G IAS 32/39 Convertible loan stock
H IAS 39 Fair value of derivatives
I IFRS 2 Share based payments

Reconciliation of equity at 1 April 2004
Previous
GAAP
£m

Non current assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment – other
Property, plant and equipment – land
Total non current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets – derivative financial instruments
Tenants’ deposits – cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Financial liabilities – derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Net current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non current liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Investment in own shares
Other reserves
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity

626.1
0
3.7
0
629.8
6.8
0
1.1
0.2
8.1
(1.3)
0
(27.4)
(2.2)
(30.9)
(22.8)
(305.8)
(5.5)
(311.3)
295.7

A
£m

B
£m

C
£m

D
£m

E
£m

F
£m

G
£m

H
£m

0.7

0

0

0.7

0

(0.5)
0.5
0

0.2
(0.2)
0

0

0

I
£m

626.8
0.2
3.0
0.5
0 630.5

(0.2)
0.5

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.3

0
0

0
0

0
0

(63.3)
(63.3)
(63.3)

0
0

3.3
3.3

0.1
0.1

(3.2)
(2.9)

0
0.1

0.8
0.8
(2.1)

(306.5)
(68.0)
0 (374.5)
(0.1) 233.6

(2.1)
(2.1)

1.7
42.9
(6.2)
0.1
0.3
–
(0.2) 194.9
(0.1) 233.6

0.1
0
0

0
0

(0.7)

1.7
42.9
(6.2)
0
209.6 (209.6)
47.7 209.6 (63.3)
295.7
0 (63.3)

(0.7)
0

0
3.3

0
0

0
0

0.2

0

3.3
3.3

0

0

0

6.6
0.5
1.1
0.2
8.4

(1.3)
(3.2)
(0.1) (24.1)
(2.2)
(0.1) (30.8)
(0.1) (22.4)

(3.2)
3.3

Restated
under
IFRS
£m

(0.1)
0.1
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Workspace Group PLC
We have audited the parent company financial statements of
Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2006 which
comprise the Company Balance Sheet and the related notes. These
parent company financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described
as having been audited.
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of
Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2006.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the parent company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities. In addition the directors are also responsible for
preparing the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Annual Report.
Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report,
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
in writing.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent
company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if,
in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the parent
company financial statements, if the company has not kept proper
accounting records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified
by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions
is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company
financial statements. The other information comprises only the Key
Business Drivers, Financial and Property Highlights, the Chairman’s
Statement, the Operating and Financial Review, the Chief Executive’s
Review, Financial Review, the Report of the Directors, Directors’
Responsibilities, the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report, the Group financial statements and related notes, the
Shareholder Reporting and the Additional Information. We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent company
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
other information.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the
parent company financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the parent company financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent
company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.
Opinion
In our opinion:
• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2006;
• the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the parent company financial statements.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
12 June 2006
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 March 2006

Fixed assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Current assets
Debtors
Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred tax provision
Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Investment in own shares
Other reserve
Profit and loss account
Total shareholders’ funds

Notes

2006
£m

2005
(restated)
£m

C

–

–

D

204.3

211.7

E

(58.0)
146.3

(87.0)
124.7

F
G

(21.7)
(1.0)
123.6

(22.0)
(1.0)
101.7

H
H
H
H
H

16.9
28.7
(5.1)
0.2
82.9
123.6

16.9
28.4
(5.5)
–
61.9
101.7

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 June 2006 and were signed on its behalf by
H Platt
R M Taylor
Directors
The notes on pages 59 and 60 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Company financial statements
A. Accounting policies
Although the Group consolidated accounts are prepared under IFRS,
the Workspace Group PLC company accounts are prepared under UK
GAAP. The principal accounting policies of the Company are:

The Company itself has no employees. When the Company grants
share options to Group employees as part of their remuneration, the
expense of the share options is reflected in the employing subsidiary
undertaking, Workspace Management Limited.

(a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention and in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP).

B. Profit for the year
As permitted by Section 230(3) of the Companies Act 1985, the profit
and loss account of the Company is not presented as part of these
financial statements. The profit attributable to shareholders, before
dividend payments, dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company was £26.8m (2005: £7.0m – restated).

(b) Changes in accounting policy
i) The Company has adopted FRS 21 ‘Events after the balance
sheet date’ in these financial statements. The adoption of this
standard represents a change in accounting policy and the
comparative figures have been restated accordingly. Under
FRS 21 final dividends (both payable and receivable) are not
recognised in the profit and loss account, or in debtors/creditors
on the balance sheet until approved by shareholders. Interim
dividends are not recognised until paid.
ii) The Company has adopted FRS25 ‘Financial instruments:
Disclosure and presentation’ and FRS26 ‘Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement’ in these financial statements.
Comparative figures have not been restated following the
adoptions of these standards.
FRS25 requires the Convertible Loan Stock to be split into its
equity and debt components. The debt element is carried at
amortised cost, amortised over the life of the instrument, such
that interest is charged at a constant effective interest rate
compared to the liability outstanding at any given point in time.
The Company does not hold derivative financial instruments.
FRS26 requires the identification of any embedded derivatives
in the Company’s arrangements. Embedded derivatives are
derivative instruments that have been combined with other
contractual arrangements to create a composite contract.
The Company currently believes it has no material embedded
derivatives.
(c) Cash flow statement
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS1 not
to produce a cash flow statement as one is prepared for the Group
financial statements.
(d) Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Interests in subsidiary undertakings are carried in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less impairment. Impairment in subsidiaries
is taken to the profit and loss account.
(e) Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided on taxable profits at the
current rate.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from differences between the
recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and their
recognition in a tax computation.
In accordance with FRS 19 deferred tax has been recognised in
respect of all timing differences which have originated, but not
reversed, by the balance sheet date, except that deferred tax has not
been recognised on any potential capital gain where a binding sale
commitment is not in place.
In adopting FRS 19 the Company has chosen not to discount deferred
tax assets and liabilities.
(f) Share schemes
Incentives are provided to employees under share option schemes.
The Company has established an Employee Share Ownership Trust
(ESOT) to satisfy part of its obligation to provide shares when Group
employees exercise their options. The Company provides funding to
the ESOT to purchase these shares.

Auditors’ remuneration of £10,000 (2005: £10,000) has been borne by
a subsidiary undertaking.
Proposed dividends are disclosed in note 7 to the Group consolidated
financial statements.
C. Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Refer to note 27 (page 52) for the list of subsidiary undertakings.
D. Debtors
2006

2005
(restated)
£m
£m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Corporation tax – payment on account

201.1 208.2
3.2
3.5
204.3 211.7

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and
repayable on demand. Interest is charged to subsidiary undertakings.
E. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2006

2005
(restated)
£m
£m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Accruals

58.0
–
58.0

86.8
0.2
87.0

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and
repayable on demand. Interest is paid to subsidiary undertakings.
F. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011 (unsecured)
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock
2007 (secured)
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock
2007 (secured)

2006
£m

2005
£m

2.2

2.5

12.5

12.5

7.0
21.7

7.0
22.0

Refer to note 17 (page 45) for details of these borrowings, their fair
values and the split of the Convertible Loan Stock between debt
and equity.
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G. Deferred tax provision

Balance at 1 April
Deferred tax credit for the year
Transfer direct to reserves on sale of
investment properties
Balance at 31 March
Deferred tax comprises:
Accelerated capital allowances
Capitalised interest

2006
£m

2005
£m

1.0
–

1.3
(0.1)

–
1.0

(0.2)
1.0

1.0
–
1.0

0.9
0.1
1.0

H. Capital and reserves
Movements and notes applicable to share capital, share premium
account and investment in own shares are shown in notes 22 and 24
(pages 48 and 51).
Other reserve is in respect of the adoption of FRS25 and represents
the equity element of the Convertible Loan Stock.
Profit and loss account:
£m

Balance at 1 April 2005 as previously reported
Prior year adjustment (FRS21)
Balance at 1 April 2005 as restated
Profit for the year
Dividends paid
Balance at 31 March 2006

80.1
(18.2)
61.9
26.8
(5.8)
82.9

I. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
2006

2005
(restated)
£m
£m

Profit for the financial year
26.8
7.0
Dividends paid
(5.8) (5.2)
Taxation on valuation surpluses realised on sale
of investment properties
–
(0.9)
Issue of shares
0.3
0.7
Net distribution of own shares
0.4
0.7
Net movement in shareholders’ funds
21.7
2.3
Opening shareholders’ funds as previously reported 119.9 106.1
Prior year adjustment (FRS 21)
(18.2) (6.7)
101.7 99.4
Adoption of FRS 25
0.2
–
Opening shareholders’ funds as restated
101.9 99.4
Closing shareholders’ funds
123.6 101.7

Shareholder
reporting

Section 5
61 Workspace Group PLC

Annual Report and
Accounts 2006

In this section:
>The Board
>Advisers and headquarters
>Corporate governance, risk management and
approach to social, environmental and ethical
(SEE) issues
>Board and committee reports
>Directors’ remuneration report
>Notice of the Annual General Meeting

Shareholder
reporting

1

2

3

4

The photograph of the Board members
was taken from the top of the new two
floor extension of Enterprise House, SE1.
To find out more about this development
please see separate Workspace’s
Sustainability Report 2006.

The Board
1 Antony Hales BSc
Chairman*‡
Tony Hales (58), joined the Board in November 2002 and was
appointed Chairman in December 2002. He is currently Chairman
of NAAFI Ltd and British Waterways and a non-executive director of
Aston Villa plc. He was previously Chief Executive of Allied Domecq
plc and a non-executive director of HSBC Bank plc.
2 Harry Platt MA MRTPI
Chief Executive
Harry Platt (54) joined the Board as Director and General Manager
in April 1991, became Managing Director in April 1992 and Chief
Executive in October 1999. He was Chief Executive of Harlow District
Council between 1983 and 1989 and before that Assistant Chief
Executive at the London Borough of Greenwich. Prior to joining the
Group he was Operations Director of Dixons Commercial Properties
Limited. He is also a non-executive director of the CHE Hotel
Group PLC.
3 John Bywater FRICS *†
John Bywater (59) joined the Board in June 2004. He is an executive
director of Hammerson PLC and Managing Director of its UK
activities. John started his career with British Rail later moving to the
Burton Group, Allied Lyons and Donaldsons, Chartered Surveyors.
4 Madeleine Carragher FRICS
Operations Director
Maddy Carragher (51) has worked for the Group since its
establishment, initially as Estates Surveyor. She is responsible for the
development and implementation of the Group’s marketing strategy
and the promotion, letting and overall management of the Group’s
estates. She was promoted to the main Board in January 1996.
Prior to joining the Group she was a surveyor at DE&J Levy.
5 Bernard Cragg BSc ACA*†
Bernard Cragg (51) joined the Board in June 2003. He is Chairman
of Datamonitor Plc and i-mate Plc, and a non-executive director of
Mothercare Plc, Bristol & West plc and Astro All Asia Networks PLC.
He was formerly Group Finance Director and Chief Financial Officer
of Carlton Communications Plc and a non-executive director of
Arcadia plc.

5

6

7

8

6 Patrick Marples MRICS
Property Director
Patrick Marples (50) joined the Board in November 1996 as Property
Director responsible for the investment management of the Group’s
property portfolio. He had previously worked as a property consultant
for the Group since 1987 and prior to that he was an associate
partner at DE&J Levy.
7 Christopher Pieroni BA (Hons) MSc (Econ) PhD (Cantab)*†
Chris Pieroni (48) joined the Board in January 2000. After teaching
economics at Cambridge University in the 1980s he was a
management consultant before joining Colliers Erdman Lewis in
1993, becoming Chief Operating Officer and subsequently Head of
International for Colliers CRE. He is currently a director in the
Corporate Finance department at KPMG, specialising in real estate
and infrastructure.
8 Mark Taylor BSc FCA
Finance Director
Mark Taylor (55) joined the Board in October 1995 as Finance Director.
He trained with Touche Ross and was previously employed for 16 years
by John Laing PLC, latterly as Joint Managing Director of John Laing
Developments and Director of Group Investments. Following this he
worked for a short period with the Ministry of Defence.
Executive Board Responsibilities
Harry Platt, Chief Executive
Madeleine Carragher, Operations Director
Responsibilities include:
– Estate management
– Lettings
– Building Maintenance & Development
– Marketing
Patrick Marples, Property Director
Responsibilities include:
– Property acquisitions and disposals
– ‘Change of use’ opportunities
– Joint venture schemes
– Property valuation issues
Mark Taylor, Finance Director
Responsibilities include:
– Finance
– Company Secretarial
– Investor Relations
– Workspace Energy
– IT
* Non-executive
† Member of Remuneration, Nominations and Audit Committees
‡ Member of Nominations Committee
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Advisers and headquarters
Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London WC2N 6RH
Solicitors
Norton Rose
Kempson House
Camomile Street
London EC3A 7AN
Bankers
The Royal Bank of Scotland
Corporate Banking London
280 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 4RB
Financial advisers
N M Rothschild
New Court
St Swithin’s Lane
London EC4P 4DU
Financial advisers and joint stockbrokers
Panmure Gordon & Co. plc
50 Stratton Street
London W1J 8LL
Joint stockbrokers
Investec
2 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7QP
Registrars
Computershare Services PLC
PO Box 82
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH

Registered office and headquarters
Magenta House
85 Whitechapel Road
London E1 1DU
Tel: 020 7247 7614
Fax: 020 7247 0157
Email: info@workspacegroup.co.uk.
Website: www.workspacegroup.co.uk.
Registered number
2041612
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Corporate governance, risk management and approach to social,
environmental and ethical (SEE) issues
Workspace Group aims to operate with high standards of corporate
governance and wherever possible comply with the provisions of the
Combined Code. It believes that good governance is assisted by
transparent detailed reporting and that strong and sustainable long
term economic performance is aided by compliance with best
practice in corporate social responsibility (CSR). In this the Group
publishes a range of material both on its website and in hard copy
(for details see page 84) including:
1. An annual CSR review which this year has been expanded in a
Sustainability Report to cover the implications of the London Plan
for the Group’s strategy and approach to sustainable development;
2. A self-assessment checklist identifying compliance with each of
the detailed requirements of the Combined Code;
3. Quarterly reports;

Risk management
The Board regularly reviews the Group’s activities with a view to
confirming that all sources of risk are identified. For all risks
recognised, not addressed by the financial controls described in the
Report of the audit committee (see page 67), it has established a
programme of management, monitoring and reporting. This includes
a formal Risk Committee comprising an executive director and four
senior staff, which assesses and reviews risks to the Group, identifies
programmes to reduce the risks and reports regularly on this to the
Audit Committee. An analysis of the risks identified by the Board and
a summary in the form of responses to frequently asked questions
may be found in the Investor Relations section of the Group’s website
(see page 84) or is available from the Company Secretary at the
Group’s registered office.
The following commentary addresses some of the principal
operational risks affecting the Group’s business.

4. A detailed examination of risks.

Through its focus on cash flow, the Group’s day-to-day procedures
in the letting and management of its properties control much of the
The above material is complementary to this statement of compliance operational risk associated with its business. The commercial risk
with the Combined Code, which the Group is required to publish.
that the Group carries derives principally from its customer profile.
The Group invests in accommodation let generally to smaller
businesses which have a weaker covenant. This has traditionally been
Overall compliance with the Combined Code
perceived as a high-risk activity. However, the Group has over 4,000
Except in one respect, the directors believe that the Group has fully
customers and receives in excess of 9,900 enquiries for space per
complied with the Combined Code during and after the year ended
31 March 2006. The single exception concerns the composition of the annum. Its exposure, therefore, to any single customer or business
sector is low.
Board. The Group has four executive directors, three independent
non-executive directors, and a non-executive chairman. The
Chairman is not regarded as independent under the Combined Code The letting risk is better assessed against the dynamics of the SME
sector in the areas in which the Group operates, rather than in
even though, prior to his appointment in November 2002, he had no
relation to the fortunes of any one or group of customers. The SME
relationship with the Group. The Code advises that for FTSE 250
sector is resilient, growing and recognised as important by all
companies the number of independent non-executives should at
political parties. The properties held by the Group are generally ideal
least equal the number of executive directors. For such compliance
for long term use by SMEs whose space requirements are generally
by Workspace, this would mean either reducing the number of
simple. Our buildings are also less prone than many to obsolescence,
executive directors or appointing another independent non-executive
to change in technical and technological requirements and fashion.
director. Given the selection process for non-executive directors
(described below) and that the Board itself regards the Chairman as
Day-to-day management of the Group’s operations, including letting
independent, the Board feels the balance of skills and experience of
and property and financial management, follows simple but carefully
the four non-executive directors as shown below is right for the
constructed processes. The high numbers of customers coupled with
Group. At this stage therefore, the Board does not intend to appoint
a high churn rate generate high volumes of activity. These demand
a further non-executive director, although this matter will be kept
responsive systems and procedures. Through regular routine
under review.
reporting of key performance indicators, the Group is able to monitor
developing patterns in its estates and respond swiftly.
Board and committee reports
These may be found on page 66.
The commercial risks of the business are not the traditionally perceived
property risks but more akin to those taken by a business-to-business
Performance evaluation
service provider delivering services to the SME sector. Unlike most
The Board reviews its performance and modus operandi and that of
service providers, however, Workspace Group receives payment for
each of its committees annually (each Committee having in turn
reviewed itself by reference to the needs of the business and required these services in advance. By contracting with its customers for fixed
regular payments, made in advance and often further secured by a
governance standards). Included in this review is consideration of
deposit, the Group’s financial risk is greatly reduced.
individual directors’ performance (which in the case of the executive
directors is undertaken as part of the wider performance appraisal
process applied to staff across the entire Group) and a review of the
performance of the Board as a whole (including its delegations, risk
assessment and management processes, reporting procedures and
effectiveness in monitoring performance and developing strategy).
The Board’s reviews of itself, its committees and its members
conducted in the last year identified no significant weaknesses or
deficiencies. Further, it is the policy of the Board to consider the
continuing suitability of all directors who are offered for re-election
and review whether their continued contribution would be of benefit
to the Group. Such a review has been undertaken this year over
the proposed re-appointments of Tony Hales and Bernard Cragg,
the review concluded their positive continued effectiveness and
commitment to the role. Meetings are held between the non-executive
directors without the executives present (usually before the full Board
meetings and meetings between the non-executive directors without
the Chairman present, to review the Chairman’s performance) and
are held at least annually.

Customers are subject to post entry and exit interviews. Consultation
meetings are held on major issues, together with occasional focus
groups. Annual customer surveys are undertaken and customer
comments cards provided at all properties. A complaints register is
maintained. Workspace Group commissions ongoing research into
the SME market to identify emerging needs.
The level of occupancy at which the Group breaks even has been in
the range 55–60% throughout the last five years. With current overall
occupancy of 84.3% and a lowest level of 75% during 1991, the last
significant economic downturn, the Group has substantial resilience
to changing economic circumstances.
With the focus of its activities in London, the Group's exposure to
the fortunes of the city is significant and this year’s separate
CSR/Sustainability Report expands on this. The Board agrees with the
majority of commentators who consider that the long term prospects
for London and for its SMEs, remain better than those for the
remainder of the UK, and so believes that this risk is greatly
outweighed by the opportunities it creates. Its customer base within
this region remains broadly distributed with no reliance on any single
trading sector.
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The key financial risk carried by the Group is its exposure to interest
rate variations. These are managed in two ways. Firstly, through its
investment in relatively higher yielding properties and its focus on
management of the returns from these properties, the Group
maintains high levels of interest cover. Notwithstanding a gearing level
of 85% (based on adjusted net assets employed) at 31 March 2006,
the interest on these borrowings was covered 1.84 times (excluding
valuation surplus). The Group further safeguards its position by use of
instruments to manage interest rate exposure. At 31 March 2006 54%
of the Group’s debt was subject to hedging either through fixed rate
borrowings or through the use of interest rate collars.
Workspace recognises the importance of its suppliers in providing
a quality service to its customers. All suppliers are subject to an
approval process which extends to identification of their
environmental and safety policies. At the year end the Group had over
400 approved suppliers, of which 69% are based in London. The
Group aims to use its customers as suppliers where they are
competitive in price and quality. Some 7% of approved suppliers are
also customers. The Group aims to settle all accounts within credit
terms whenever possible. The Group continuously seeks to find ways
of improving the efficiency and performance of its supply chain.
This year we have introduced a supplier scoring system, and we are
prioritising sectors where more or better suppliers are needed.
Social, environmental and ethical (SEE) issues
Workspace Group has long since taken its responsibilities to the
environment and wider society seriously. Such aspects are
considered to be part of the Group’s core operating philosophy and
are integrated within its standard operational procedures. Indeed
social, environmental and ethical issues are addressed quite simply
by the nature of the Group’s activities – recycling old redundant
buildings to provide attractive accommodation packages for small
businesses, whilst providing a service support infrastructure for these
small business customers.
As with all other risks, the Board has nominated a director (the Chief
Executive) with specific responsibility for management of the Group’s
exposure to environmental and broader CSR risks. The Board has
identified and assessed the significant risks to the Group’s short and
long term value arising from SEE matters, as well as the opportunities
to enhance value that may arise from an appropriate response and
these risks are monitored regularly at Board level. The Board
receives adequate information to make this assessment and account
is taken of SEE matters in the training of directors. The Board has
ensured that the Group has in place effective systems for managing
significant risks, which, where relevant, incorporate performance
management systems and appropriate remuneration incentives.
The Group’s commitment to SEE risk management operates on both
a short and a long term horizon.
Short term SEE risks and opportunities
There are two elements to the Workspace Group approach:
• Firstly, careful identification of significant environmental and social
risks. These frequently relate to the activities of the Group’s
customers rather than those within its own direct control.
Examples include:
– land or water contamination on site;
– health & safety or crime incidents;
– transport related impacts and congestion charging;
– environmental taxation such as landfill tax or the climate
change levy.
Proposed acquisitions and existing property holdings are investigated
carefully including identifying the risk of flooding and the potential
extent of contamination from existing or previously undertaken
activities on-site. These studies have identified that almost all the
Group’s properties are unlikely to suffer from flooding or
contamination and that, at those properties where the risk was higher,
this was unlikely to give rise to damage and any associated liability.
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Reports on these matters have been made available to CB Richard
Ellis for the purposes of the valuation. Potential contamination by
customers is avoided by management of their activities or where the
risk is not manageable, exclusion from occupation.
• Secondly, the Group’s intensive style of management and the risk
management programme undertaken jointly with the Group’s
insurers, Norwich Union, seeks to assist current customers in
recognising and preventing health & safety, pollution, fire and other
risks. In addition, the Group makes significant efforts to work with
its customers in order to raise their own awareness and find ways
of mitigating their impacts through partnership agreements.
Examples of these include:
– the introduction of centralised waste recycling contracts and
distribution of educational material on waste management:
– the promotion of cycling initiatives for properties, particularly
those located within the congestion charging zones;
– the purchase of electric cars for use by both staff and customers
at certain sites.
Workspace is fully committed to supporting sustainability in the
operation and development of its portfolio and has adopted clear
guidelines in communicating with and instructing its contractors
and consultants.
– Standard appointments for design consultants require them to
apply principles of whole life costing in order to identify the most
environmentally sustainable and financially viable design
solutions for the building;
– On all major building contracts over £250,000 it is required that
contractors employed are committed to recycling waste materials
and providing tangible certified evidence to support this;
– An evaluation of renewable energy, energy saving and sourcing of
sustainable and non-hazardous products and materials is made
on major building projects to optimise expenditure and value
engineer solutions.
The Group considers that CSR and environmental polices should be
founded not just on avoiding recognised unacceptable practice but
on active implementation of policies and practices that benefit the
community. In recognition of the importance of its customers in the
arts and media sectors, the Group has introduced a creative and
cultural policy, details of which can be found on our website.
Local community involvement and investment is encouraged at all
managed sites, in the belief that this continues to reinforce the
Workspace Group brand and maintains competitiveness through
securing market share. Employees are encouraged to take
appointments to agency boards via a Staff Volunteering Policy and
the Company supports charitable initiatives where these assist
customers (e.g. cycling campaigns and art/theatrical productions).
Workspace prefers to assist through gifts in kind rather than cash
since it considers that these can often be of greater direct assistance.
Where it undertakes development activities, Workspace Group PLC
engages with customers and the local community over its plans.
Given its focus on the smaller business community and thereby the
community at large, the Group is keenly interested in managing its
public profile to avoid brand damage. This extends not just to
community relations but to the operation of codes and standards of
conduct by its staff that would not risk damage to its reputation.
The Group’s Code of Conduct for employees prohibits the receipt or
payment of any bribes or facilitation payments, and requires all
employees to operate within the law. A Whistle blowing Policy and
Helpline exist to enable staff to report perceived breaches of the
Code of Conduct.
This year, the Group will be publishing its seventh consecutive annual
CSR report entitled Sustainability Report 2006. In previous reports of
Workspace’s Responsible Approach to Society, we used the term
CSR to refer to the economic, social and environmental impacts
relating to operational matters. This year we have chosen to look for

Section 5
65 Workspace Group PLC

Shareholder
reporting

the first time towards our external environment and the key challenges
it represents. As a result, we have changed our terminology from
CSR to Sustainability (synonymous with Sustainable Development).
Our approach is still underpinned by an annual target-setting and
review procedure with responsibilities allocated across the senior
management team. Progress against the annual targets is formally
audited by our third party advisors. Previous CSR Reports and annual
reviews of progress against targets can be obtained from the Company
Secretary at the Group’s registered offices or from the Group’s website
(see page 84).
Long term SEE risks and opportunities
Workspace Group PLC seeks to achieve long term sustainable
growth. SEE issues, and how they are handled, underpin this.
Moreover, clear identification of these issues provides longer term
opportunities for the Group’s expansion within the London area. As
such, Workspace is conscious of the need for it to identify changes
occurring in London – in its economy, population and employment; in
the environmental challenges; and in life styles and technology – and
to plan accordingly. In 2006, the Group has undertaken a review of its
own business impacts in relation to the key objectives within the
Mayor’s London plan. This has served to identify ways in which the
business is already contributing to economic, environmental and
social well-being in the Capital, and to respond to major challenges
so as to safeguard long-term sustainability. The findings of this
review are captured in the 2006 Sustainability Report.
Workspace Group’s work with Investment Property Databank (IPD)
shows that its historic property returns have been in the top quartile
of the property sector on a consistent basis. Looking forward, the
Group’s recent work with Upstream and Property Market Analysis
(PMA) using the third dimension analysis shows that the relative long
term strength of the financial returns from our portfolio is delivered
in conjunction with a very positive sustainability profile. The graph
below shows the overall position of the Workspace Group PLC
portfolio (white dot) in relation to the other portfolios in the analysis
(which examined 38 portfolios exceeding £37.5bn of property
investment). It demonstrates that the Workspace portfolio is distinct
from all the other portfolios analysed, being the only one to combine
high forecasted returns with strong sustainability characteristics. It is
these characteristics of high performance and sustainability that we
seek to build on, and that underpin our policies and procedures for
managing longer-term SEE risks.
100% of Workspace’s developments are on brownfield land as they
consist of redeveloping old disused buildings and bring them back to
life. This is likely to enhance the Group’s chances of gaining planning
permission as the spatial development strategy for London seeks to
accommodate growth within existing boundaries and avoid
encroachment on open spaces. Workspace’s portfolio also
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demonstrates significant opportunities for increasing density and
intensifying uses through further development opportunities, thereby
providing much needed housing and other uses, whilst
simultaneously adding value to the portfolio. Workspace Group PLC
also seeks to future proof its properties by ensuring that they
integrate efficient technologies and materials with low embodied
energy to safeguard against obsolescence or depreciation as energy
prices continue to rise. Workspace Group PLC is currently
participating as a key member in a new BPF/Carbon Trust Project
Group looking into energy and CO2 assessment, with the intention of
producing a list of the top ten changes that can be made to buildings
to reduce their carbon emissions. Specific example research,
complemented by Workspace’s internal annual monitoring, is
intended to highlight action areas for tangible savings in specification
and operation, both by Workspace and its customers.
By providing SMEs in London with accommodation at affordable and
flexible rates, Workspace is making a significant contribution to
London’s ongoing economic growth – particularly as a large
proportion of its customers are in rapidly growing sectors such as
creative and green industries. Contributing to London’s status as a
world class city will in itself ensure that Workspace’s customer base
continues to grow as it attracts growing numbers of entrepreneurs
and SMEs needed to provide services to the Capital’s economy.
Shareholder contact
Meetings are held with principal shareholders following both the
announcement of the Group’s preliminary and its interim results.
It is the practice of the Company that, ordinarily, meetings with
shareholders will be attended by executive directors alone or
accompanied by representatives of the Company’s stockbroker.
However, it is the Company’s practice also, following the preliminary
results, that such contact meetings shall be followed up by a
telephone conversation between the Chairman and the shareholder.
The Company also requires its stockbrokers to discuss the outcome
of meetings with shareholders and report its findings to the Board.
The Board believes that this provides a better form of governance
than attendance at meetings by non-executive directors. Other
ad-hoc meetings and presentations and site visits are arranged
for shareholders throughout the year. In addition, each year a dinner
is held with principal shareholders which the full Board attend.
This has been found by both the Board and shareholders to be an
effective means by which the entire Board may be accessed by major
shareholders. Dialogue with the wider investment community is
supported by the Company. During the year Board members
presented at investor conferences and participated as noted earlier
with Upstream and Property Market Analysis (PMA) in developing
with other investors an analysis tool that brings together the two
conventional dimensions of portfolio performance (total return and
risk) with a third dimension, sustainability.
If shareholders have any views on how the Group’s practices may be
improved further in the areas identified in this report then we will be
pleased to receive them. Please address any such comments to the
Company Secretary or, if appropriate, the Chairman or senior
independent non-executive director.

The sustainable returns of Workspace’s portfolio

Higher
forecasted
returns

Source: Upstream/PMA The Third Dimension research 2005

Lower
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returns
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adjusted
returns

R Mark Taylor
Company Secretary
12 June 2006
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Board and committee reports
Board of directors
The normal Board complement of the Company comprises four
executive directors – a Chief Executive, a Finance Director, an
Operations Director and a Property Director, whose responsibilities
are described on page 61 – and four non-executive directors, three of
whom are independent of management (under the 2003 Code) and
free from any personal business or other relationship with the Group.
The fourth non-executive director is the Chairman.
As with all executive director appointments, the non-executives have
been recruited through external search advisers by the Nomination
Committee, each bringing a complementary range of skills and
experience to the Board. Tony Hales, as Chairman, is not regarded as
independent under the terms of the 2003 Combined Code. He brings
an extensive background as a former Chief Executive of a FTSE 100
Company, non-executive experience in various companies and public
agencies as well as expertise in marketing and brand development,
and in managing a de-centralised property portfolio. John Bywater is
the most recently appointed non-executive director (June 2004) and
has extensive direct property and development expertise, as well as
experience in the intensive management of retail centres. Bernard
Cragg joined the Board in 2003 and will be considered for reappointed
for a further three year term at the AGM. He has a wide general
management experience. However, as a chartered accountant, again
with FTSE 100 background, he was recruited as Chairman of the
Audit Committee as he would bring recent relevant financial
experience to the Group. It is in the Company’s policy to have at least
one non-executive director who is a member of a recognised
accounting body on the Group’s Audit Committee. Finally, Chris
Pieroni is the longest serving non-executive director, Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and designated senior independent
director. At the time of appointment in 2000 among other skills,
he was recruited to provide both analytical property and economic
background experience to the Board, as well as his experience in
reviewing remuneration and rewards. Recruitment of a replacement
non-executive director is currently underway whilst, on the retirement
of Chris Pieroni, Bernard Cragg will become the designated senior
independent director.
All directors have written contracts and in the case of non-executive
directors these specify those corporate matters that are reserved for
decision by the full Board, together with the rights of individual
directors to seek independent professional advice and services paid
for by the Company. Committees of the Board share these rights of
access to independent advice. All directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible to
the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with.
Both the appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a
Board matter. Executive directors have one-year rolling contracts of
employment whilst non-executive directors are appointed by the full
Board for a term not exceeding three years. Details of the directors
contract terms are given on page 74.
All directors have induction training on joining the Board including
briefings on the Company’s business and visits to estates.
Resources are provided for the continued training and development
of all directors.
The non-executive directors meet at least annually without the
executive directors and on such other occasions as deemed
appropriate.
Board sub-committee and executive board responsibilities
The Board retains full and effective control over the Group’s activities.
It has reserved a number of matters for its exclusive consideration
and approval. These include (but are not restricted to) the
establishment and constitution of Board Committees, identification of
strategic objectives, approval of business plans, budgets and financial
reports, acquisition of properties valued £5m or more and significant
capital projects, provision of guarantees and treasury arrangements,
stock issuance and risk management policies. More routine day-today matters are delegated by the Board to an Executive Board
comprising the executive directors. Full details of matters reserved
for the full Board are provided on the Group’s website.

The Board has established Remuneration and Audit Committees,
each of which consists exclusively of the three independent nonexecutive directors. The Nominations Committee is chaired by Tony
Hales, the Chairman of the Company and also includes the three
other non-executive directors. The terms of reference of these
committees are available from the Company Secretary or may be
accessed through the Investor Relations area of the Group’s website
(see page 84). The Chairmen of the Board Committees will be
attending the Company’s Annual General Meeting and will be
available to answer questions from shareholders.
The Board has nominated directors with specific responsibilities in
key business areas. These extend to social, environmental ethical
issues; health and safety; staff (equal opportunities, remuneration,
training and development); customers and suppliers; community
involvement and investor relations. These nominated directors report
regularly to the Board.
The full Board of Directors meets on a fixed bi-monthly frequency
with further ad hoc meetings as necessary. Regular quarterly
meetings are held of the Audit Committee, whilst the Remuneration
Committee has at least four fixed meetings a year. The following table
shows the number of scheduled Board and Committee meetings
held in 2005/06 and the number attended by the respective members.
In addition to these formal meetings, directors meet alone and with
advisers to conduct the business of these committees as required.
Board meetings held and attended
Board

Audit

Nominations

Remuneration

From March 2005 to
March 2006
Number held

6

5

1

5

A Hales

6

•

1

•

H Platt
M Carragher
J P Marples
R M Taylor

6
6
6
6

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

1
1
1

5
5
5

J Bywater
5
5
B Cragg
6
5
C Pieroni
6
5
• indicates not a member of that Committee.

Chairman and Chief Executive
The Chairmanship of the Company is drawn from the non-executive
directors. There are clearly defined roles for the Chairman and Chief
Executive. The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board,
securing its effectiveness, setting its agenda, ensuring compliance
with the Group’s strategy and that it is regularly reviewed. He is not
involved in an executive capacity in any of the Group’s activities.
The effectiveness of the Chairman is reviewed by the Board annually.
The Chairman will be considered for re-appointment for a further
three year term at the AGM.
The Chief Executive is responsible for the delivery of the strategic and
financial objectives of the Group.
Company Secretary
All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary.
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Report of the Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee is responsible for the selection
and appointment of all directors, and taking an overview of the
general staffing and management of the business including
succession planning.
All appointments in the Group are open to internal candidates as well
as being subject to external recruitment. In this manner, the Group
can, whilst offering staff the opportunity for progression, ensure that
where no natural internal candidates present themselves positions
are covered by quality candidates. These principles apply to senior
management and Board appointments also. However, it is a key
objective of the Company that each director should have one or more
members of staff whose skills and abilities could make them suitable
for progression over time to the Board.
During the latter part of the year the Committee has commenced a
search for a new non-executive director to replace Chris Pieroni who,
having served six years retires this year. In line with company policy,
assistance is being obtained from an executive search agency
specialising in this field. Candidates will be shortlisted and
interviewed by the Nominations Committee and the Chief Executive.
Candidates for final selection will meet with other members of the
Board and be introduced to the Group’s business before a final
selection and appointment is made.
The Committee reviewed the proposed re-appointment of
Messrs Tony Hales and Bernard Cragg and recommended their
re-appointment to the Board. In addition, during the year the
Committee looked at succession, leadership and the continuing
organisation and development of the business. This showed that the
Group is resilient in the case of any single executive departure with
adequate short-term cover in all positions.

A J Hales
Chairman of the Nominations Committee
12 June 2006
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Report of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, chaired by Bernard Cragg, a chartered
accountant, meets at least quarterly, with the external auditors ,
Chairman, Chief Executive and Finance Director in attendance by
invitation. At least twice a year, the external auditors attend part of
the Audit Committee meeting without the presence of management
for confidential and independent discussions and have direct access
to the Chairman of the Committee at their discretion. The Audit
Committee reviews the annual accounts, the preliminary financial
results announcement and other financial statements prior to
submission to the Board, considering the compliance with accounting
standards, and that disclosures are fair, balanced and appropriate.
It is pleasing to note that the Group’s financial reporting was, once
again, recognised in the BDO Stoy Hayward Property Accounts
Awards by the award of Bronze Standard for its 2005 Annual Report.
In addition, last year’s Annual Report was joint winner of the
Proshare award for the Best Annual Report and Accounts for Private
Investors, outside the FTSE 100.
The Committee also considers the requirement for, scope and extent
of an internal audit programme. It reviews the effectiveness of the
external audit and makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and remuneration of the auditors. The Audit Committee
considers all papers presented to the Board on risk assessment and
internal check and control and receives the report of the newly
formed Risk Committee of senior managers. The Chairman of the
Audit Committee reports to the Board on matters discussed at Audit
Committee meetings. The Group’s auditors report to the Committee
annually confirming the independence of all staff concerned with the
audit engagement. During the year the Audit Committee also
reviewed its own effectiveness and reported to the Board on that
detailed review which was favourable.
Engagement of the Group’s auditors on non-audit activities is not
specifically excluded. However, such work is ordinarily only awarded
following competitive tender and careful analysis by the Audit
Committee of the potential for conflict arising as a result of the
appointment. The Board considers that in certain circumstances, for
example where accountants’ reports are required in the context of a
circular to shareholders, the Group’s auditors may be better qualified
to issue such a report than another third party. In the current year the
Group’s auditors have been engaged to provide advice on the
implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards.
The Audit Committee reviews the level of audit fees for their
adequacy and the magnitude of other fees relative to the audit fee.
The provisions of the Combined Code in respect of internal controls
require that directors review all controls including operational,
compliance and risk management as well as financial controls. The
directors have performed this review on a regular basis during the
year. This process is monitored by the Audit Committee. The Board
has considered the requirements of the Financial Services Authority
Listing Rules and implemented a programme for the identification,
reporting and management of risks as advised by the Combined
Code. The internal control and check system is designed to identify
and manage risks, rather than eliminate them and as such it can
provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
The Company has an established framework of controls which, inter
alia, include:
a) Financial reporting
There is a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual business
plan approved by the Board. Operating results and cash flows are
reported monthly and compared with budget. Forecasts are prepared
regularly throughout the year. The Company reports to shareholders
on a quarterly basis. In addition to these controls the Group operates
a range of operational reporting systems to monitor its business on a
day-to-day basis, and has a comprehensive monthly Key
Performance Indicator (KPI) report covering key business issues.
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b) Investment appraisal
The Company has clearly-defined guidelines for capital
expenditure. These include annual budgets, detailed appraisal
and review procedures, levels of authority and due diligence
requirements where investment or development properties are
being acquired. Post-investment appraisals are performed for major
investments (both acquisitions and major works on owned property).
c) Internal control
The Committee has once again during the year considered carefully
the Group’s internal control and check procedures. The Group does
not have an internal audit function. Since the Group invests in
investment properties let on fixed terms, risks associated with its
assets and revenues are not high. The Board considers that the
control systems operated should reduce the risk of error, fraud or
failure to a sufficiently low level that does not warrant the cost of an
internal audit function. The Board continues to monitor the Group’s
activities to ensure the continued validity of this judgement.
d) Whistle blowing
The Group has established and communicated a mechanism for
whistle blowing. Staff wishing to express concerns over any matter
which they feel unable to discuss with their line management should
raise these with the Chief Executive, or where the matter concerns an
Executive Director, the Chairman. All calls will be reported to the
Audit Committee. Over the year no issues have been raised.
e) Risk management
The Board regularly reviews the Group’s activities with a view to
identifying all sources of risk. In addition, during the year, a Risk
Committee has been established comprising a Board Director, and
four senior staff. This Committee reviews all risks facing the Group,
prioritises them every six months, and ensures processes are in
place to review each issue raised. It reports half-yearly to the Audit
Committee. A more detailed assessment of risk management is
on page 63 with detailed risk assessments available on the
Group’s website.
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Report of the Remuneration Committee
The Board is advised in this area by a Remuneration Committee
comprised wholly of independent non-executive directors of the
Company – Chris Pieroni (Committee Chairman); John Bywater and
Bernard Cragg. The Chairman of the Company (Tony Hales) and Chief
Executive (Harry Platt) are invited as appropriate to attend meetings
of the Committee but play no part in discussions concerning their
own packages.
The Committee is required annually to consider and review all
aspects of the executive directors’ employment, performance and
remuneration and the Company’s policies on these matters and to
make recommendations to the full Board. The Committee also
examines and discusses with executive directors how policies here
are aligned with human resources policies in the Company as a
whole, and particularly those for senior management outside the
Board. Responsibility in these areas rests with the executive
directors and a separate report on this is given on page 16.
The Committee does not make recommendations on the
remuneration of non-executive directors, which is a matter
reserved solely for the full Board.
The Remuneration Committee consults with its human resources
adviser, John Miller, about its proposals where appropriate.
Independent professional advice is taken from time to time from
Investment Property Databank (IPD), KPMG, Norton Rose and other
consultants appointed by the Committee in order to carry out its
duties. The Group subscribes to the Monks Partnership (an advisory
service of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) for the provision of salary
survey information on senior executives. The remuneration policy for
the Board is considered both in the wider context of the market and
in terms of the remuneration structure operated within the Group.
Mr Miller is retained by the Company to provide advice on human
resources matters on a company-wide basis. IPD has benchmarked
the performance of the Group’s property portfolio for more than ten
years. Norton Rose, as the Group’s legal adviser, provides services
both in the context of transactions and wider commercial matters.
KPMG and Monks Partnership provide no other service to the Group.
All consultant advisers are considered by the Committee to
be independent.

Bernard Cragg
Chairman of the Audit Committee
12 June 2006
C J Pieroni
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
12 June 2006
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Directors’ remuneration report
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002. It describes how the Board
has applied the principles of good governance relating to directors’
remuneration as set out in the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance referred to in the Corporate Governance Statement on
page 63. In particular, the report seeks to show how the Group’s
remuneration policies support its business strategy in the creation of
long term shareholder value. As required by the Remuneration Report
Regulations, a resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration
Report will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the
Company at which the financial statements are to be presented for
approval. The members of the Remuneration Committee will be
available at the AGM to answer shareholders’ questions about
directors’ remuneration. The vote on the resolution will have advisory
status, will be in respect of the remuneration policy and overall
remuneration packages and will not be specific to individual levels
of remuneration.
The sections of this report dealing with emoluments paid and share
options held have been subject to audit by the Group’s auditors.
The remaining sections are not subject to audit.
Executive remuneration policy
Workspace is a management intensive business. Its hotel style
operations require a distinctive blend of property and customer skills
in driving rents and asset values forward. In addition, as its portfolio
grows within London and competitive pressures increase in the city
for land, the opportunities to create further value from the change of
use of certain estates increase. These twin factors have been key
drivers in the progressive development of the Group’s business model
from a business focused on earnings growth to one which delivers
shareholder value from a combination of earnings growth and added
capital value both from more intensive use of property and by change
of use. There is an inherent tension between these activities since the
process to grow capital value through change of use or refurbishment
inevitably gives rise to reductions in shorter term income, which in
turn has an impact on earnings. The challenge of the Remuneration
Committee has been to monitor and develop executive packages to
reflect these conflicting elements as the business grows.
The Company aims to ensure that remuneration packages offered
are competitive and designed to attract, retain and motivate executive
directors of the right calibre. With the management intensive nature
of its activities the Company recognises the importance of a focused
management team and that incentives must be related to the
creation of long term shareholder value. At the same time, policy in
this area must be aligned with the Group’s wider human resources
policies. The Remuneration Committee considers that fixed elements
of remuneration should be set at levels below median for the sector
and that variable elements should give the real opportunity for total
remuneration to achieve above sector median levels when good
results are achieved. Such variable elements must be performance
related, linked to measurable targets, on both an annual and longer
term basis related to a balance between profits, earnings and asset
growth, and of course, measures of total shareholder return. With the
right balance, shareholders, executives and wider staff thereby share
in the success of the Group.
Executive directors are able to accept external non-executive board
appointments in a PLC normally limited to one each and provided
permission is obtained from the Chairman of the Company. Fees
from such appointments are retained by the Executive. The Chief
Executive held one external non-executive Board position during the
year. No other executive directors held any external non-executive
appointments during the year.

Fixed elements of pay
The fixed elements of remuneration are salaries, pension and
other benefits.
(a) Base salary
The base salaries for the executive directors are reviewed and
analysed annually taking into account advice from independent
sources on the rates of salary for similar jobs in a selected group
of comparable companies, and based on the performance of the
individuals. Increases in basic salary of 5% were awarded in 2005/06
with effect from 1 April 2005; and with effect from 1 April 2006 the
salary of the Chief Executive has been increased to £300,000 with the
other executive directors increasing to £195,000.
(b) Pension
The Company operates a defined contribution (‘money purchase’)
pension scheme for executive directors. Pension contributions are
made on salary payments only and equal 16.5% of base salary.
(c) Other fixed elements
Other fixed elements of remuneration comprise car benefit
(£15,000 per annum) and private medical and personal accident and
life insurance.
Variable elements of pay
There are three variable elements of pay. An annual bonus, a three
year co-investment plan and a longer term share option scheme.
Different performance criteria apply to each of these. Through the
latter two schemes (co-investment plan and share option scheme)
the Group seeks to encourage and reward good long term
performance by providing incentives to both invest in and retain equity
in the Company. The value of these schemes is linked to the
performance of the Company’s shares. The Group aims that all
executives build up shareholdings equal to one times basic salary.
All executive directors currently meet this target.
(a) Annual performance bonus
The Group operates an annual bonus scheme which provides for a
capped variable (performance related) cash bonus. The overall bonus
comprises three distinct elements based on trading profit before tax,
portfolio performance and personal targets. The trading targets are
linked to achievement of a defined budgeted trading profit before tax
based on IFRS profits but excluding certain items, the major ones
being valuation surpluses, interest capitalisation, new acquisitions net
contribution, fair value adjustments to derivative financial instruments
and IFRS 2 adjustments. Bonus awards on trading profit before tax
increase from 0% to 50% of salary in line with increases in profitability.
The portfolio performance bonus is based upon achievement of a
capital return from the portfolio better than that for the defined
comparator index compiled by IPD. Where the combined relative
performance of Workspace exceeds the index by 1% in each of the
latest three years, then a bonus of 5% of salary is payable with
increments to a maximum of 30% of salary where the outperformance
is 2.5% over the reference period. A final bonus of up to 20% was
payable on achievement of individual personal targets. The total
maximum bonus if all targets were achieved was therefore 100% of
salary. The bonus is awarded by the Remuneration Committee after
consideration of the Group’s and individual’s performance against
these targets for the year. The annual bonus for 2005–2006 for all
executive directors was between 90% and 94% of base salary.
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(b) Co-investment plan (audited)
This plan, approved in March 2004, is directed at increasing the directors’ direct share ownership in the Company, incentivising them on a
medium term basis in relation to total shareholder return (TSR) and aligning shareholder and director interests. Under the plan, up to 100%
of the annual bonus awarded to directors may be invested in the Company’s shares. The Company then buys in the market, a one for one
(net) matching holding. These shares are held over a subsequent three year qualification period. To qualify for full distribution of matching
shares the TSR of Workspace Group over the reference period must exceed that of the company at the bottom of the top quartile of the FTSE
Real Estate Index (of which the Company is a constituent member). To qualify for any matching shares, the TSR performance must be above
that of the company at the bottom of the fourth decile. In between these two measures there is a scaled award. The Company believes that
linking awards to above average TSR aligns the interests of shareholders and employees. The Company believes also that such longer term
incentives encourage the retention of senior staff. In June 2005 under the plan executives invested 75% of their annual bonus, whilst in the
previous year executives invested 50% of their annual bonus. Shares acquired, under the plan, which are subject to matching shares should
the performance conditions be met, are shown in the following table:
Shares acquired under co-investment plan
2005
2004

H Platt
M Carragher
J P Marples
R M Taylor

33,013
23,109
23,109
23,109

32,200
22,540
22,540
22,540

Share price at time of grant

£2.445

£1.810

(c) Executive share options (audited)
The Group believes that share ownership by executive directors and senior managers aligns their interests with those of ordinary
shareholders. The executive share option scheme encourages this whilst providing a longer term incentive to participants. Prior to 2005 the
Board awarded options subject to criteria linked to the growth of earnings per share. Given the changing balance in the Group’s business
model (as noted earlier), which focuses on both increased earnings and the added capital value of the Group’s assets to generate sustained
growth in shareholder value, the Committee has decided that options awarded last year (2005) and in future years should be tested on the
basis of a relative assessment of the Group’s NAV growth against other companies in the real estate sector (with a market capitalisation
greater than £300m).
Full vesting of options will arise for top quartile performance, whilst no options will vest for below median performance. Within the second
quartile options will vest on a pro rata basis. Options lapse on termination of employment unless termination arises due to exceptional
circumstances, such as redundancy or death.
All grants of executive share options awarded since 2004 have been on the basis of a single performance test and where this test is not
fulfilled or is only partly achieved, no retesting in future periods is allowed. Further, for all grants of options from this time, in the event of
a change in ownership of the Company, options only vest to the extent that exercise conditions have been fulfilled.
Directors’ emoluments, interests and incentive awards
1. Emoluments during the year (audited)
Total emoluments (excluding options) of the directors for the year are shown below:

Executive directors
H Platt (Chief Executive)
M Carragher
(Operations Director)
J P Marples
(Property Director)
R M Taylor
(Finance Director)
Non-executive directors
A J Hales (Chairman)
C J Pieroni*
B Cragg*
J Bywater
A H Cherry (retired)

Pension
scheme
contributions
2006
£000

Total
emoluments
2005
£000

Pension
scheme
contributions
2005
£000

Fees
£000

Basic
salary
£000

Performance
bonus
£000

Other
benefits
£000

Total
emoluments
2006
£000

–

267.8

251.7

23.0

542.5

44.2

454.6

42.1

–

187.4

168.7

18.6

374.7

30.9

320.7

29.4

–

187.4

172.4

21.7

381.5

30.9

318.8

29.4

–
–

187.4
830.0

170.5
763.3

19.5
82.8

377.4
1,676.1

30.9
136.9

320.1
1,414.2

29.4
130.3

84.1
30.0
30.0
25.0
–
169.1

–
–
–
–
–
830.0

–
–
–
–
–
763.3

–
–
–
–
–
82.8

84.1
30.0
30.0
25.0
–
1,845.2

–
–
–
–
–
136.9

75.0
28.0
28.0
20.3
8.3
1,573.8

–
–
–
–
–
130.3

* posts attract £5,000 fees for Chairs of Committees, on top of the basic non-executive fee of £25,000.
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2. Shareholdings
The beneficial interest of the directors and their families in the ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:
Ordinary shareholdings

A J Hales
H Platt
M Carragher
B Cragg
J P Marples
C J Pieroni
R M Taylor
J Bywater
Total

31 March
2006

31 March
2005

50,000
821,303
196,509
20,000
70,609
3,360
216,289
4,200
1,382,270

50,000
803,290
173,400
20,000
47,500
3,360
193,180
–
1,290,730

None of the directors has a beneficial interest in the shares of any other Group Company or non-beneficial interest in the Company or any
other Group Company and there have been no changes in the interests in the period between 31 March 2006 and 12 June 2006.
3. Options (audited)
(a) Options awarded in 2005
On 17 June 2005 the Board, on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, granted the following options exercisable at the mid
market price on that date of £2.445.
Executive directors

H Platt
M Carragher
J P Marples
R M Taylor
Senior managers*
Total

No of shares under option

109,500
76,500
76,500
76,500
339,000
266,500
605,500

* In addition, two further options were granted to senior managers in the year for a total of 92,050 shares.

Details of the exercise conditions for these options are given in the table following.
The above options were granted pursuant to the Company’s 2000 share option scheme which was approved at the July 2000 EGM and
amended at the EGM held in July 2003. The options granted to directors this year equated to shares of a value equivalent (at the time of the
grant) to one times the base salary of the directors. Options over a further 60,862 shares were granted during the year under the Group’s
SAYE scheme, which all employees are entitled to join following any probationary period relating to their employment. Following the grant of
these options, the Group had at 31 March 2006 options over 6,886,764 shares outstanding, of which 4,290,600 were designated to be satisfied
by shares held by the Group’s ESOT and 2,596,164 through the issue of new shares. The shares held by the ESOT represent 2.91% of the
issued share capital at 31 March 2006 with options to be satisfied by the grant of new shares representing 1.53% of the issued capital.
All of the options granted during the year (other than the SAYE options) were granted pursuant to an annex to the 2000 share option scheme
which is ‘unapproved’ for income tax purposes and have a ten year life expiring on 17 June 2015.
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(b) Outstanding options at March 2006
Options granted to directors over ordinary shares in the Company are as follows:
At
31/03/05

H Platt

M Carragher

J P Marples

R M Taylor

Total

210,000†
147,400†
410,000†
175,000†
410,000
273,000
10,160*
138,000
–
6,800*
300,000†
130,000†
14,590*
310,000
205,000
96,500
–
70,000†
300,000†
130,000†
310,000
205,000
10,160*
96,500
–
300,000†
130,000†
3,640*
310,000
205,000
14,850*
96,500
–
5,018,100

Granted
during
the year

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
109,500
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
76,500
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
76,500
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
76,500
339,000

Exercised
during
the year

(210,000)
(147,400)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(70,000)
(30,000)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(457,400)

At
31/03/06

Exercise
price

–
–
410,000
175,000
410,000
273,000
10,160
138,000
109,500
6,800
300,000
130,000
14,590
310,000
205,000
96,500
76,500
–
270,000
130,000
310,000
205,000
10,160
96,500
76,500
300,000
130,000
3,640
310,000
205,000
14,850
96,500
76,500
4,899,700

£0.451
£0.4995
£0.9225
£1.0915
£1.1895
£1.1325
£0.91
£1.8075
£2.445
£0.54
£0.9225
£1.0915
£0.985
£1.1895
£1.1325
£1.8075
£2.445
£0.4995
£0.9225
£1.0915
£1.1895
£1.1325
£0.91
£1.8075
£2.445
£0.9225
£1.0915
£0.985
£1.1895
£1.1325
£0.91
£1.8075
£2.445

Normal exercise date
From
To

29.06.2001
01.04.2002
09.08.2003
24.07.2004
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
–
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
–
09.08.2003
24.07.2004
–
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
01.04.2002
09.08.2003
24.07.2004
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
–
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
09.08.2003
24.07.2004
–
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
–
30.06.2007
17.06.2008

28.06.2005
01.04.2006
09.08.2010
24.07.2011
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
01.09.2006
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
01.09.2006
09.08.2010
24.07.2011
01.09.2009
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
01.04.2006
09.08.2010
24.07.2011
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
01.09.2006
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
09.08.2010
24.07.2011
01.09.2009
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
01.09.2010
30.06.2014
17.06.2015

Exercise terms
(see table
following)

1
1
2
3
4
5
6
5
7
6
2
3
6
4
5
5
7
1
2
3
4
5
6
5
7
2
3
6
4
5
6
5
7

† Options which have fully satisfied their performance criteria and vested.
* Options obtained under the Rules of the Group’s SAYE scheme. All other options have been granted under the rules of the Company’s executive
share option schemes.

There have been no changes in directors’ interests over options in the period between the balance sheet date and 12 June 2006. The middle
market price of Workspace Group PLC ordinary shares at 31 March 2006 was £3.3875 and the range during the year was £2.3225 to £3.3925.
Details of the basis of grant and the performance tests for exercise of options are:
Basis of grant

1. Options granted within ABI guideline
of 4 x earnings (in total) limit
2. 2 times total earnings
3. 1 times total earnings
4. 2 times total earnings
5. 1 times salary
6. Per Inland Revenue rules
7. 1 times salary

Terms for exercise

EPS growth of 9% over RPI for three-year period
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 3% p.a. compound plus
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 8% p.a. compound (pro rata)
EPS growth of RPI plus 3% p.a. compound
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 5% p.a. compound plus
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 12% p.a. compound (pro rata)
EPS growth of RPI plus 5% p.a. compound
SAYE options with no terms for exercise
NAV growth over 3 years in top quartile of listed real estate companies
with market cap exceeding £300m

All options prior to 2005 have been subject to a single test which is related to published EPS growth. The prescribed targets have been met
in respect of all options granted in 2001 and earlier years (and vesting from 2004). Options granted in 2002 (and vesting from 2005) have met
their vesting criteria so as to allow the options to be exercised over 74% of the shares under option. Options awarded in 2003 and 2004 are
tested against EPS growth of RPI + 5% p.a. compound. With the introduction of IFRS, valuation surpluses are now included in the calculation
of EPS. As a consequence, the Remuneration Committee has concluded that the most appropriate and challenging basis of measuring
additional shareholder value creation is to test cumulative earnings growth through the period and it is on this basis that those options will
now be tested. This also has the benefit of moving towards the criteria (relative NAV growth) now established for the options awarded in 2005
and proposed future awards.
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c) Exercise of options during the year
Directors’ options exercised during the year were as follows:

H Platt
J P Marples

Date
exercised

Number
exercised

Option price
£

Market value
£

17/06/2005
22/03/2006
17/06/2005
07/09/2005
13/02/2006

210,000
147,400
30,000
40,000
30,000

0.451
0.4995
0.4995
0.4995
0.9225

2.3825
3.2167
2.4225
2.67
3.083

4. Total package and fixed/variable balance
Assuming that the performance criteria for the exercise of options and receipt of co-investment plan matching shares granted during the year
are satisfied and that the share price at maturity of these schemes is 60% above the option price and co-investment matching shares (option
price £2.445, co-investment plan share price £2.3825, share price 31 March 2006 £3.3875), then the composition of the total package and the
fixed/variable balance is shown in the table below:
Fixed
remuneration
%

H Platt
M Carragher
J P Marples
R M Taylor

38.4
39.1
39.2
39.1

Variable components
Co-investment
Bonus
Options
plan
%
%
%

28.8
27.9
28.2
28.1

18.4
18.5
18.3
18.4

14.4
14.5
14.3
14.4

5. ESOT
In implementing its remuneration strategy, the Board established in 1999 an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT). The Trust is used to
purchase shares in the Company to meet its obligations under share options. Use of the ESOT reduces the dilutive effect of the grant of
options over new shares. The ESOT purchased 2,000,000 shares at an average price of 50.7 pence per share in March 1999 and a further
5,067,700 shares at a price of £1.03 in September 2002. Of these shares 2,126,740 have been transferred on exercise of options and a further
4,920,600 have been allocated to meet future exercises. 20,360 remain unallocated. The market value of the ESOT holding at 31 March 2006
was £16,737,502 compared with a book cost of £5,132,682 and value due on exercise of options of £5,355,810. The ESOT also holds 202,160
shares as bare trustee on behalf of the four executive directors following purchases by them under the terms of the Group’s co-investment
plan, together with a further 339,777 shares held to meet matching awards under this scheme.
Performance graph
The following graph compares the total shareholder return performance (TSR) of the Group with benchmark indices. Given the differing
benchmarks used for such performance measurement, your Board has decided to undertake this comparison against all of the FTSE
All Share, FTSE Real Estate and FTSE 250 indices, of all of which the Company is a constituent member.
Workspace Total Shareholder Return (TSR) Index
350
300
250
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100
50
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It is clear from these charts that the performance of the Group continues to be well above that of its peers.
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Directors’ appointments
The Group’s policy is to engage all executive directors on rolling service contracts requiring 12 month notice of termination on either side.
Non-executive directors are ordinarily appointed on three year contracts.
The details of the service contracts of those who served as directors during the year are:

A J Hales
H Platt
M Carragher
B Cragg
J P Marples
C J Pieroni
R M Taylor
J Bywater

Contract
date

Date of last reappointment
at Annual General Meeting

Unexpired term

Notice period

19.11.2005
01.12.1993
01.01.1996
01.06.2006
27.09.1996
10.06.2003
22.09.1995
09.06.2004

2003
2005
2004
2003
2005
2005
2004
2004

32 months
n/a
n/a
36 months
n/a
–
n/a
15 months

12 months
12 months
12 months
6 months
12 months
6 months
12 months
6 months

Service contracts do not provide for compensation on termination of contract other than in the form of written notice provisions. There are no
express mitigation provisions in the directors’ service contracts, however ordinary principles of contract law are implicit in these contracts
obliging contract parties to mitigate losses.
Non-executive directors’ remuneration policy
Fees for non-executive directors are reviewed annually and determined by the Board in the light of market practice and surveys (e.g. by
Monks and IRS), and with reference to the time commitment and responsibilities associated with the roles. Generally, the time commitment
of the Chairman is expected to be 50 days a year and for other non-executives some 12–15 days a year. Non-executive directors do not
participate in decisions about their own remuneration.
Following review, and his re-appointment for a further three year term, the Company Chairman’s fees were increased during the year to
£100,000 per annum, having been held at £75,000 for the previous three years. Again, following review, and with effect from 1 April 2006, basic
non-executive directors’ fees have been increased to £28,000 per annum (from £25,000 previously) with additional fees for Committee Chairs
maintained at £5,000 per annum.
Non-executive directors receive no other pay or benefits (other than the reimbursement of expenses incurred in respect of their duties as
directors of the company).
Executive directors’ remuneration and wider Group remuneration policy
The Group’s wider people policies are reported separately (page 16). The ratio of the average base pay of executive directors to the average
of all other full time staff directly employed by the Group is 7.22 (2005: 7.21).
The one scheme which only executive directors and no other staff currently benefit from is the long term incentive scheme established two
years ago. Following probationary periods, all staff in the Company are eligible to participate in the Company’s bonus scheme, SAYE, pension
scheme, life assurance arrangements and medical insurance benefits; and some senior staff have share option awards.
The Remuneration Committee discusses the remuneration of senior staff outside the Executive Board, and following recommendations from
the Executive Board, made share option awards to certain senior managers.
On behalf of the Board
Dr C J Pieroni
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
12 June 2006
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the twentieth Annual General
Meeting of Workspace Group PLC will be held at the Company’s
head office at Magenta House, 85 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1DU
on Tuesday 1 August 2006 at 9.30am for the following purposes:
As ordinary business:
1. To receive and adopt the Company’s accounts for the financial
year ended 31 March 2006 and the reports of the directors and
the auditors thereon.
2. To declare a final dividend of 2.51p per share in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2006, payable on 4 August 2006 to
shareholders on the register on 7 July 2006.
3. To re-elect as a director A J Hales who retires by rotation and,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election.
4. To re-elect as a director B Cragg who retires by rotation and,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election.
5. To consider, and if thought fit, approve the report on directors’
remuneration contained within the report and accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2006.
6. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the
Company for the ensuing year and to authorise the directors to
fix their remuneration.
As special business:
7. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution
as an ordinary resolution, namely:
THAT:
(a) the directors be and they are hereby generally and unconditionally
authorised, in accordance with Section 80 of the Companies Act
1985 (the ‘Act’), to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot
relevant securities, up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£5,650,321 during the period commencing on the date of the
passing of this resolution and expiring on 31 July 2011 (both dates
inclusive), but so that this authority shall allow the Company to
make offers or agreements before the expiry of this authority which
would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after
such expiry and notwithstanding such expiry the directors may
allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offers or agreements;
(b) all authorities previously conferred under Section 80 of the Act be
and they are hereby revoked, provided that such revocation shall
not have retrospective effect; and
(c) words and expressions defined in or for the purposes of Part IV
of the Act shall bear the same meanings in this resolution.
8. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution
as a special resolution, namely:
THAT:
(a) the directors be and they are hereby empowered, pursuant to
Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 (the ‘Act’):
(i) subject to the passing of the resolution numbered 7 set out in
the notice of this meeting, to allot equity securities pursuant
to the authority given in accordance with Section 80 of the Act
by the said resolution number 7; and
(ii) to transfer equity securities which are held by the Company
in treasury;
as if Section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment
or transfer, provided that this power shall be limited to the
allotment of equity securities:
(A) in connection with or the subject of an offer or invitation,
open for acceptance for a period fixed by the directors, to
holders of ordinary shares in the Company, to holders of
11 per cent Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2011 of the
Company and to holders of such other equity securities of the
Company as the directors may determine in proportion (as
nearly as may be) to their respective holdings on a record date
fixed by the directors or (where applicable) in accordance with
the rights for the time being attached to such stock or equity
securities (including equity securities which, in connection
with such offer or invitation, are the subject of such
exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem
necessary or expedient to deal with fractional entitlements or
with legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of any regulatory body or any stock exchange in,
any territory or otherwise howsoever);

(b)
(c)
9.

(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)

(f)

(B) in connection with the terms of any share option scheme
for the time being operated by the Company (and any shares
acquired or held by the Company in treasury may be
transferred in satisfaction of the exercise of options under any
such scheme); and
(C) otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraphs (A) or (B) above,
up to an aggregate nominal amount of £847,548;
and shall expire on 31 July 2011, except that the Company may
before such expiry make offers or agreements which would or
might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry
and notwithstanding such expiry the directors may allot equity
securities in pursuance of such offers or agreements;
all powers previously conferred under Section 95 of the Act be
and they are hereby revoked, provided that such revocation shall
not have retrospective effect; and
words and expressions defined in or for the purposes of Part IV
of the Act shall bear the same meanings in this resolution.
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution
as a special resolution, namely:
THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
authorised in accordance with Section 166 of the Companies Act
1985 (the ‘Act’) to make market purchases (within the meaning
of section 163(3) of the Act) of ordinary shares of 10p each in the
capital of the Company (‘Ordinary Shares’) on such terms and in
such manner as the directors may from time to time determine,
provided that:
the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to
be acquired is 16,950,964;
the minimum price which may be paid for an Ordinary Share
is 10p;
the maximum price which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is
an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle market
quotations for an Ordinary Share (as derived from the London
Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the five business days
immediately preceding the day on which that Ordinary Share is
contracted to be purchased;
the minimum and maximum prices per Ordinary Share referred
to in sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) of this resolution are in each case
exclusive of any expenses payable by the Company;
the authority conferred by this resolution shall expire on 31 July
2007, or at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the
Company to be held in 2007, if earlier, unless such authority is
varied, revoked or renewed prior to such time by the Company in
general meeting by special resolution; and
the Company may enter into a contract to purchase Ordinary
Shares under the authority conferred by this resolution prior to
the expiry of such authority which will or may be completed
wholly or partly after expiry of such authority and may make a
purchase of Ordinary Shares in pursuance of any such contract.

By Order of the Board
R M Taylor
Secretary
12 June 2006
Registered Office
Magenta House
85 Whitechapel Road
London E1 1DU

Section 5
76 Workspace Group PLC

Shareholder
reporting

Notes
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
6.

Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations
2001, only those shareholders in the register of members of the Company
48 hours before the time for which the meeting is called shall be entitled
to attend and vote or to be represented at the meeting in respect of the
shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the
register of members after 48 hours before the time for which the meeting
is called shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to
attend and vote at the meeting.
If the meeting is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours after the
time fixed for the original meeting, the above specified time will also apply
for the purpose of determining the entitlement of members to attend and
vote (and for the purpose of determining the number of votes they may
cast) at the adjourned meeting. If, however, the meeting is adjourned for
a longer period then, to be so entitled, members must be entered on the
Company’s register of members not less than 48 hours before the time
fixed for the adjourned meeting or, if the Company gives notice of the
adjourned meeting, at any time specified in that notice.
A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above
meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll,
vote in his or her place. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
To be valid, a form of proxy for use at the meeting and the power of
attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a copy
of such authority certified notarially, must be signed and lodged with
the Company’s registrars, Computershare Services PLC PO Box 82,
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 7NH not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for the meeting or adjourned meeting.
A form of proxy is provided with this notice. Completion and return of such
proxy will not preclude a member from attending and voting in person.
The directors’ service contracts and the register of directors’ interests in
shares and the rules of the long term bonus incentive scheme are available
for inspection at the Company’s registered office and will be available for
inspection during usual business hours on any week day (Saturday and
Sunday excluded) at the place of the meeting from 15 minutes prior to the
commencement of the meeting until the conclusion thereof.
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Investment portfolio valuation
up 34% to £964.3m

Acquisitions and disposals 2005/06
Acquisitions 2005/06
Purchase
price

Initial actual
income
£000

Market rent at
31/03/06
£000

£7.50m

151.8

1,150.0

£5.59m

347.3

478.8

16,800 sq ft, 14 unit office building
287,500 sq ft industrial estate with 57 units

£2.64m
£24.00m

210.0
1,711.0

198.1
1,857.4

332,100 sq ft business park in 11 buildings
with 70 units
41,500 sq ft industrial estate with 10 units

£56.00m

3,705.4

4,669.2

£4.04m

304.3

314.4

26,200 sq ft courtyard offices over 25 units
30,900 sq ft business centre with 86 units

£5.15m
£5.55m

397.0
332.1

416.2

11,300 sq ft business centre with 38 units
£2.52m
28,200 sq ft industrial and office building with 8 units £3.65m
15,200 sq ft industrial buildings with 7 units
£2.28m

124.8
227.1
143.6

1,115.5

12,700 sq ft business centre with 6 units
£4.50m
(£176,500 rent free currently)
10,800 sq ft business centre with 44 serviced offices £4.00m
£127.42m

253.2

309.7

277.9
8,185.5

310.3
10,819.6

Sale price

Exit income
£000

Name of property

Description

111 Power Road, Chiswick, London W4

Factory complex (98,110 sq ft) for refurbishment
as a business centre
93,400 sq ft, 25 unit industrial estate

Marshgate Business Centre,
Stratford, London E15
Evelyn Court, Deptford, London SE8
Uplands Business Park, Walthamstow,
London E17
Kennington Park, Kennington, London SW9
Horton Road Industrial Estate,
West Drayton, UB7
Sundial Court, Kingston-upon-Thames, KT5
Park Royal Business Centre,
Park Royal, London NW10
Park Royal House, London NW10
28/30 Park Royal Road, London NW10
2 Cullen Way and 10 Cullen Way,
London NW10
10 Bowling Green Lane, Clerkenwell,
London EC1
Langdale House, Borough, London SE1
Total
Disposals 2005/06
Name of property

Description

Payne Road Studios & 5 Payne Road,
Bow, London E3
Alpine Park, Beckton, London E6

Site sold for mixed use development

£2.10m

97.4

Single 35,000 sq ft warehouse sold under
option to occupier
11 small unit industrial estates located outside
M25 totalling 321,000 sq ft in 234 units (the sales price
including the Stevenage Business Centre which completed
on 26 April 2006)

£3.80m

350.0

£41.70m

2,590.0

£47.60m

3,037.4

Magenta Portfolio

Total
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Acquisitions
During the year the Group made ten acquisitions for a total
consideration (excluding acquisition costs) of £127.4m. These
acquisitions were made at an aggregate initial yield of 6.42%.
Allowing for a10% void level their aggregate reversionary yield would
be 7.64%.
111 Power Road, Chiswick, is a former factory complex where the
production activities had ceased and part of the complex had been
converted to business centre use. It is close to the Chiswick Studios
Business Centre acquired last year by the Group and was identified
as a possible acquisition following a review of the market around
Chiswick Studios. Construction works are in progress to complete
the conversion of the remainder of the property to a business centre.
Due to the substantial void area it was acquired at a low initial yield
of 2.0%. Following the refurbishment works it is anticipated that the
yield will improve to 7.4% on total costs (including capital expenditure
since acquisition) and the property will offer accommodation
complementing the Group’s other ownerships in the area, namely
Chiswick Studios and the Barley Mow Centre.
Marshgate Business Centre is an industrial estate in Stratford,
East London. It was acquired as part of the Group’s plan to acquire
strategically located assets in and around the Olympics zone. In this
case the property was located within the designated zone and, as a
result, was destined to be subject to a compulsory purchase order
if the Olympics was awarded to London. In the circumstances, it had
been increasingly difficult to manage and the former owners sold at
a price that recognised this blight. As described on page 21, following
the award of the Olympics the circumstances changed and the
property is no longer subject to a compulsory purchase order,
enhancing its value significantly. Given its considerable attraction for
residential development the Group is now reviewing its options for
this property.
Evelyn Court is a small, 14 lettable unit office scheme in Deptford
located between the Group’s major Tower Bridge and Faircharm
Studios properties. It occupies a prominent site on the A200 in
Deptford and services the local business community.
Uplands Business Park was the second acquisition in the Group’s
plan to target ‘Olympics affected’ areas. It is located approximately
three miles to the north of the Olympics zone (between it and the
North Circular Road). Its acquisition price of £83 per sq ft, as a site
cost, would not deter redevelopment should a more valuable
alternative use be identified in due course.
Kennington Park was the most significant acquisition of the year.
Through it and the subsequent disposal of the majority of the Group’s
holdings outside the M25, the Group effected a switch to refocus
further its activities into London whilst exchanging assets showing
lower initial and reversionary yields for ones which not only exceeded
these but offered significantly greater potential for further
enhancement. The Group’s strategy with regard to this major holding
is described in more detail on page 21.
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Horton Road Industrial Estate is a small single storey terraced estate
constructed in the 1950s. It is located to the west side of the Stockley
Park business area with good transportation links to Heathrow.
It offers simple affordable space to occupiers in this prime business
area. As the Stockley Park area continues its spread outwards it is
possible in time that this site will present opportunities for
redevelopment.
Sundial Court is prominently located at the intersection of the A3 and
A240 in the Tolworth area of Kingston-upon-Thames. It is a modern
courtyard office scheme, constructed in 1990 providing 26,200 sq ft
over 25 office units servicing its local office market. This acquisition
will assist growth of the Group’s representation in this area in which
it holds little property at present.
The Park Royal portfolio is a package of properties that the Group
has been tracking for a number of years. It is located on Park Royal
Road and complements the Group’s existing ownerships (Acton
Business Centre, Westwood Business Centre and Europa House)
located adjacent to the other major road traversing Park Royal,
Victoria Road. Park Royal has enjoyed a renaissance over recent
years following an earlier period of industrial decline. With this
acquisition the Group is now established as the principal supplier
of accommodation to small businesses in this area.
10 Bowling Green Lane is a former school building that has been
converted into a business centre. It adjoins the Group’s Clerkenwell
Workshops.
Langdale House is a small serviced office business centre located in
Southwark between the Group’s existing Leathermarket property and
the Great Guildford Street cluster (Great Guildford Street, Surrey House
and Linton House). The Group has monitored this property for a number
of years and it will complement the Group’s other accommodation
in this improving location. It gives a further presence in the serviced
office market, focusing on space let to small businesses.
Disposals
Three disposals were made during the year for an aggregate of
£47.6m. The most significant sale was that of the ‘Magenta Portfolio’
which comprised all of the Group’s small unit estates outside of the
M25 (leaving it with just 4 properties remaining outside the M25).
The properties in this portfolio showed a combined lifetime Internal
Rate of Return (IRR) of 21.6%. Payne Road Studios was sold for
change of use to a residential developer. It showed an IRR of 21.1%.
Alpine Park was sold to its occupier who exercised an option over
the property which was granted at the time of its original letting
when the occupier relocated within the Group. It showed a lifetime
IRR of 9.3%.
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List of Group’s properties
Lettable

No. of
units

Income
£000

ERV
£000

31
6
156

407.2
78.9
14.2

495.1
309.7
1655.8

Business centre
Business centre
Business centre

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold

64
122

651.7
1154.9

1915.8
1695.3

Business centre
Business centre

Freehold
Freehold

55

645.7

820.3

Business centre

Freehold

78
44
146
42

232.9
207.1
1577.9
764.3

294.9
310.3
2517.0
770.0

Business centre
Serviced offices
Business centre
Business centre

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold

1
33
246
6
59

200.0
629.9
1048.8
220.2
709.1

204.6
923.0
2309.5
320.7
952.2

Offices
Offices
Business centre
Offices
Business centre

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold

41

521.3

605.6

Business centre

Freehold

4
1,134

41.4
9,105.5

41.1
16,140.9

Office/Retail

Freehold

139
115

563.5
944.8

812.7
1193.6

53
52
63

259.1
678.2
619.7

331.1
731.0
812.3

24
105
93
22
22
24
712

404.7
508.9
567.5
80.8
584.4
13.0
5,224.6

416.7
567.9
783.9
322.7
462.1
314.1
6,748.1

48

213.7

281.5

Business centre

31

434.8

573.7

45,000

18

223.3

337.5

41,363
56,201

42
84

273.9
292.8

394.9
445.1

Single storey light
industrial estate
Single storey light
industrial estate
Business centre
Business centre

20,008

25

222.8

275.5

Mare Street Studios, Hackney, London E8
•* Marshgate Business Centre, Stratford,
London E15
n Parmiter Industrial Estate, Bethnal Green,
London E2

40,038
93,414

31
25

243.3
370.4

305.2
478.8

34,571

31

323.0

402.7

u Poplar Business Park, London E14

74,740

60

1,202.1

1,211.8

20,064

20

180.3

220.7

Central
area sq. ft
n Archer Street Studios, Archer Street, London W1
15,080
* Bowling Green Lane, Clerkenwell, EC1R
12,733
u Clerkenwell Workshops, Clerkenwell,
47,969
London EC1R
u Enterprise House, Southwark, London SE1
75,444
u Great Guildford Business Square,
92,965
Southwark, London SE1
• Hatton Square Business Centre,
43,596
Clerkenwell, EC1N
Holywell Centre, London EC2A
21,807
* Langdale House, Borough, London SE1
10,820
u Leathermarket, Bermondsey, London SE1
126,181
• Linton House, Southwark, London SE1
35,013
Magenta House, Whitechapel, London E1
(owner occupied)
0
• Quality Court, off Chancery Lane, London WC2A
16,690
u Southbank House, London SE1
64,771
Surrey House, Southwark, London SE1
16,297
• Westminster Business Square, Vauxhall,
63,562
London SE11
n Whitechapel Technology Centre, Whitechapel,
34,765
London E1
57/59 Whitechapel Road, Whitechapel, London E1 3,379
681,072
North
• Aberdeen Centre, Islington, London N5
56,283
• Atlas Business Centre, Staples Corner,
154,083
London NW2
Belgravia Workshops, Islington, London N19
33,821
• Bounds Green Industrial Estate, London N11
147,516
• The Chocolate Factory, Wood Green,
119,249
London N22
n The Ivories, Islington, London N1
24,802
n Leroy House, Islington, London N1
46,916
• N17 Studios, Tottenham, London N17
125,595
Parma House, Wood Green, London N22
34,673
n Southgate Office Village, Enfield, London N14
33,848
n Wharf Road Trading Estate, Islington, London N1 43,382
820,168
East
Alpha Business Centre, Walthamstow,
22,168
London E17
• Bow Enterprise Park, Bow, London E3
63,791
n†

n
n

Buzzard Creek Industrial Estate, Barking,
Essex IG11
Cremer Business Centre, Shoreditch, London E2
Greenheath Business Centre, Bethnal Green,
London E2
Highway Business Park, Wapping, London E1

Redbridge Enterprise Centre, Ilford, Essex IG1

* Denotes those properties that were acquired during the year.
† Denotes those properties held on 999 year lease with option to purchase freehold.
0 Denotes properties with a value of between £5m and £10m at 31 March 2006.
• Denotes properties with a value of between £10m and £20m at 31 March 2006.
u Denotes properties with a value in excess of £20m at 31 March 2006.

Description

Tenure

Business centre
Freehold
Offices and
Freehold
industrial estate
Business centre
Freehold
Industrial estate
Freehold
Business centre Part freehold/
Part leasehold
Business centre
Freehold
Business centre
Freehold
Business centre Mainly freehold
Business centre
Freehold
Offices
Freehold
Re-development
Freehold

Short
leasehold
Freehold
Long
leasehold
Freehold
Mainly
freehold
Freehold

Single storey light
industrial estate
Business centre Mainly freehold
Industrial estate
Freehold
Single storey light
industrial estate
B1 industrial &
warehousing estate
Single storey light
industrial estate

Freehold
Mainly
freehold
Freehold
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Lettable
area sq. ft

No. of
units

Income
£000

ERV
£000

31,620
51,986
284,114

39
22
57

339.9
802.4
1,604.6

432.7
832.8
1,857.4

879,078

533

6,727.3

8,050.3

6,370

6

65.3

70.1

18,772

13

115.9

176.2

16,993

8

163.9

166.4

* Evelyn Court, Deptford, London SE8
16,888
Faircharm Studios, Deptford, London SE8
106,727
Glenville Mews Industrial Estate, Southfields,
44,967
London SW18
Hamilton Road Industrial Estate, West Norwood,
London SE27
23,658

14
81
32

173.3
445.4
442.2

198.1
597.7
499.2

12

132.1

173.9

4

33.9

59.8

14
70
21

80.8
3,329.8
533.8

197.6
4,669.2
575.6

76,181

14

205.2

717.3

16,750

17

134.7

168.0

5,800

4

71.8

74.7

129,131

102

578.2

743.2

Industrial estate

Freehold

19,971

20

211.2

253.0

Freehold

31,002

18

253.2

276.9

• Riverside Business Centre, Earlsfield,
London SW18
Rudolf Place, London SW8

79,811

144

692.3

845.7

Single storey light
industrial estate
B1 industrial and
warehousing estate
Business centre

14,663

18

203.0

209.4

n*

26,174

25

231.7

416.2

46,433

27

325.0

325.0

424,287

205

2,147.1

3,470.6

141,881

1

610.1

610.1

Warehouse

Mainly
freehold
Freehold

67,838
86,684

14
213

571.4
715.3

680.5
929.8

Business centre
Business centre

Freehold
Freehold

64,698

29

520.7

409.3

Single storey light
industrial estate

Freehold

1,864,722

1,126

12,987.3

17,513.5

East continued
n Seedbed Centre, Romford, Essex RM7
• Stratford Office Village, Stratford, London E15
u* Uplands Business Park, Walthamstow,
London E17
South
Alscot Road Industrial Estate, Bermondsey,
London SE1
Canterbury Industrial Estate, Lewisham,
London SE15
Ellerslie Square Industrial Estate, London SW2

n
n†

Hardess Street Industrial Estate, Camberwell,
9,180
London SE24
Homesdale Business Centre, Bromley, Kent BR1 15,266
u* Kennington Park, London SW9
332,147
n Kingsmill Business Park, Kingston, Surrey KT1
42,450
n

Lombard Business Park, Purley Way,
Croydon, CR0
Mahatma Gandhi Industrial Estate, London SE24
Michael Manley Industrial Estate, London SW8

• Parkhall Road Trading Estate, West Dulwich,
London SE21
Pensbury Industrial Estate, Wandsworth,
London SW8
Progress Way Business Park, Croydon CR0

Sundial Court, Kingston-upon-Thames,
Surrey KT5
• Thurston Road Industrial Estate, Lewisham,
London SE13
u Tower Bridge Business Complex, Bermondsey,
London SE16
n Tower Bridge Block F, Bermondsey,
London SE16
• Union Court, Clapham, London SW4
• Wandsworth Business Village, Broomhill Road,
London SW18
n Zennor Road Industrial Estate, London SW12

Description

Tenure

Business centre
Offices
Industrial estate

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold

Single storey light
industrial estate
Single storey light
industrial estate
Single storey light
industrial estate
Offices
Business centre
Single storey light
industrial estate

Freehold

Single storey light
industrial estate
Single storey light
industrial estate
Business centre
Business centre
Light industrial and
B1 office space
Offices and
industrial building
Single storey light
industrial estate
B1 industrial and
warehousing estate

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Long
leasehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Long
leasehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold

Freehold
Freehold

Light industrial and
B1 office space
Offices

Freehold

Single storey light
industrial estate
Business centre

Freehold

Freehold
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Lettable
area sq ft

No. of
units

Income
£000

ERV
£000

50,361
46,422
40,725
15,814

95
62
21
16

407.5
442.9
197.6
186.7

514.3
495.3
270.3
190.0

Artesian Close Land, London NW10
4,500
Barley Mow Business Centre, Chiswick, London W4 75,651
Barratt Way Industrial Estate, Harrow, HA3
49,265

1
214
10

15.0
1,166.1
291.6

15.0
1,817.7
372.3

51,493
75,521
14,244
26,477
50,794
41,495

104
79
6
27
35
10

890.5
578.8
238.9
281.7
565.9
311.5

1,024.0
703.9
230.7
415.5
754.6
314.4

Ladbroke Hall, Barlby Road, London W10
Lewis House, Acton, London NW10

15,219
20,914

11
19

229.9
109.5

234.0
253.1

Long Island House, London W3
† Maple Industrial Estate, Feltham,
Middlesex TW13
n National Works, Hounslow, Middlesex, TW4

29,968
18,210

18
18

255.6
255.9

361.4
256.9

48,372

40

396.7

430.2

• Pall Mall Deposit, Barlby Road, London W10
•* Park Royal Business Centre, Park Royal,
London NW10
* 28/30 Park Royal Road,
Park Royal, London NW10
* Park Royal House, Park Royal, London NW10
* 2 Cullen Way, London NW10
* 10 Cullen Way, London NW10
n* 111 Power Road, Chiswick, London W4

49,767
30,491

103
85

706.1
710.8

916.2
1,115.5

28,175

8

11,300
5,201
9,999
76,471

38
3
4
11

165.8

1,150.0

25,980
157,552

27
19

269.7
402.4

414.0
435.1

12,558
56,797

29
98

177.7
1,328.0

234.4
1,417.2

83,347

15

313.3

495.3

Business centre

Freehold
Long
leasehold
Freehold

25,784

63

257.2

459.1

Business centre

Freehold

1,248,867

1,289

11,153.3

15,290.4

29,515

7

290.4

348.1

Business centre

51,851

28

308.9

401.2

Long
leasehold
Freehold

• Park Avenue Estate, Luton, Bedfordshire LU3
203,924
• Seax Centre, Basildon, Essex SS15
128,298
Stevenage Enterprise Park, Stevenage, Herts SG1 27,618

37
29
30

700.8
536.0
207.5

864.9
805.2
226.5

Single storey
light industrial estate
Industrial estate
Freehold
Light industrial estate Freehold
Single storey light
Freehold
industrial estate

441,206
5,935,113

131
4,925

2,043.6
47,241.6

2,645.9
66,389.1

West
n Acton Business Centre, London NW10
n Aladdin Business Centre, Greenford, UB6
Arches Business Centre, Southall, Middlesex UB2
Artesian Close Industrial Estate, London NW10

u
n

• Canalot Studios, Kensal Road, London W10
• Charles House, Southall, Middlesex UB2
Chiswick Studios, Chiswick, London W4
n Europa Building, Acton, London NW10
• Grand Union Centre, Ladbroke Grove, London W10
* Horton Road Industrial Estate, West Drayton UB7

n

n
n

The Quadrangle, Fulham, London SW6
Rainbow Industrial Estate, Raynes Park,
London SW20

Shaftesbury Centre, Barlby Road, London W10
• Westbourne Studios, Ladbroke Grove,
London W10
n Westwood Business Centre, Acton,
London NW10
n Windmill Place Business Centre, Southall,
Middlesex UB2
Outside London
Clyde House, Maidenhead, Berks, SL6
n

Harlow Enterprise Centre, Harlow, Essex CM20

Grand total

* Denotes those properties that were acquired during the year.
† Denotes those properties held on 999 year lease with option to purchase freehold.
n Denotes properties with a value of between £5m and £10m at 31 March 2006.
• Denotes properties with a value of between £10m and £20m at 31 March 2006.
u Denotes properties with a value in excess of £20m at 31 March 2006.

Description

Business centre
Business centre
Business centre
Single storey light
industrial estate
Storage and land
Business centre
Single storey light
industrial estate
Business centre
Business centre
Business centre
Business centre
Business centre
Single storey light
industrial estate
Business centre
Office and industrial
estate
Business centre
Single storey light
industrial estate
Single and two storey
light industrial
Business centre
Business centre
Industrial units
and offices
Business centre
Industrial units
Industrial units
Factory complex
for conversion to
business centre
Business centre
Single storey
industrial and open
Storage land
Business centre
Business centre

Tenure

Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Long
leasehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
Freehold
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Ten years of growth
IFRS
31 March
2006
£m

Rents receivable
Service charges and other income
Revenue
Profit before taxation (on trading operations)
Profit before taxation
Profit after taxation
Earnings per share
Earnings per share on trading operations
Dividends per share
Investment properties
Less net liabilities
Less: long term indebtedness
Net assets
Gearing
Net assets per share
Adjusted net assets per share

49.2
14.0
63.2
15.1
149.0
106.6
65.1p
7.1p
3.76p
962.2
(145.8)
(426.1)
390.3
110%
£2.37
£3.12

31 March
2005
£m

43.3
11.7
55.0
14.5
82.8
58.5
36.1p
6.3p
3.41p
716.5
(105.6)
(322.4)
288.5
112%
£1.77
£2.30

31 March
2004
£m

39.5
11.6
51.1
14.1
68.9
48.3
30.1p
6.1p
3.10p
626.8
(86.7)
(306.5)
233.6
132%
£1.46
£1.89

31 March
2003
£m

35.7
9.3
45.0
12.5
28.8
21.1
13.1p
6.0p
2.81p
505.5
(69.0)
(246.0)
190.5
131%
£1.19
£1.55

31 March
2002
£m

30.9
8.2
39.1
11.5
35.6
26.8
16.6p
5.3p
2.55p
414.7
(60.9)
(175.7)
178.1
100%
£1.09
£1.39

Five Year
growth
(compound)

Ten Year
growth
(compound)

11.5%

16.0%

11.8%
9.9%
19.8%
20.4%
19.7%
10.2%
10.2%
21.3%

16.3%
13.8%
41.9%
40.7%
39.7%
13.0%
11.2%
22.6%

20.4%

20.5%

19.8%
20.9%

19.8%
21.9%

Five Year
growth
(compound)

Ten Year
growth
(compound)

11.5%

16.0%

11.8%
9.9%
(1.0)%
1.3%
0.7%
10.2%
10.2%
21.3%

16.3%
13.8%
16.1%
15.7%
15.1%
13.0%
11.2%
22.6%

21.8%

22.8%

21.2%

22.0%

UK GAAP
31 March
2006
£m

Rents receivable
Service charges and other income
Turnover
Profit before taxation (on trading operations)
Profit before taxation
Profit after taxation
Earnings per share
Earnings per share on trading operations
Dividends per share
Properties at valuation
Less net liabilities
Less: long term indebtedness
Net assets
Gearing
Net assets per share

49.2
14.0
63.2
15.1
18.6
14.2
8.7p
7.1p
3.76p
961.5
(32.0)
(425.4)
504.1
85%
£3.06

31 March
2005
£m

43.3
11.7
55.0
14.5
14.4
10.1
6.2p
6.3p
3.41p
715.8
(29.0)
(321.7)
365.1
88%
£2.24

31 March
2004
£m

39.5
11.6
51.1
14.1
15.1
10.5
6.6p
6.1p
3.10p
626.1
(24.7)
(305.8)
295.6
104%
£1.84

31 March
2003
£m

35.7
9.3
45.0
12.5
13.4
10.4
6.4p
6.0p
2.81p
505.5
(18.1)
(246.0)
241.4
98%
£1.51

31 March
2002
£m

30.9
8.2
39.1
11.5
12.0
9.0
5.5p
5.3p
2.55p
414.7
(18.7)
(175.7)
220.3
81%
£1.35

EPS/NAV reflects bonus share issue in March 2005.
UK GAAP 2002-2005 are as published previously.
IFRS 2002-2004 reflect the major IFRS adjustments only from UK GAAP (IAS 40, IAS 12, IAS 10, IAS 23 and IAS 39 – see page 53).

Key Performance Indicators
Key property statistics

Number of estates
Lettable floorspace (m sq ft)†
Number of lettable units (units)
Average unit size (sq ft)
Number of units occupied (units)
Number of units vacant (units)
Net Rent Roll of occupied units
Average rent per sq ft*
Overall occupancy*•

31 March
2006

31 March
2005

31 March
2004

31 March
2003

31 March
2002

104
5.77
4,952
1,166
4,053
899
£46.59m
£9.58
84.26%

103
5.16
4,717
1,093
3,940
777
£42.28m
£9.29
88.26%

101
5.32
4,547
1,169
3,773
774
£38.09m
£8.55
83.82%

92
5.10
4,164
1,218
3,640
550
£35.91m
£8.21
85.65%

87
4.85
3,726
1,302
3,247
479
£29.56m
£7.20
84.67%

* These figures are influenced by acquisitions and disposals.
• Includes floorspace withdrawn for refurbishment.
† Excludes storage space.
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Glossary of terms
Adjusted NAV per share is NAV excluding deferred tax on
revaluation surpluses, capital allowances, and the fair value of
financial instruments.

IPD is the Investment Property Databank Ltd, a Company that
produces an independent benchmark of property returns.
Like-for-like (see core portfolio).

Adjusted net assets are shareholders’ funds excluding deferred tax
on revaluation surpluses, capital allowances and the fair value of
derivative financial instruments.
Comparator IPD Index is a benchmark index computed by IPD of
comparable properties in comparable locations to those held by
the Group.
Core portfolio (like-for-like portfolio) are those properties that
have been held throughout the year and which are not subject to
significant redevelopment or refurbishment works.
Diluted NAV per share is NAV adjusted for the effect of those shares
potentially issuable under convertible loan stock or employee share
schemes.
Earnings per share (EPS) is the profit after taxation divided by the
weighted average number of shares in issue during the period.
Diluted and Adjusted EPS are determined as set out under NAV.
Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) is the trust created by the
Group to hold shares pending exercise of employee share options.
Equivalent yield is a weighted average of the initial yield and
reversionary yield and represents the return a property will produce
based upon the timing of the income received.

Market rental values (see ERV).
Net assets per share (NAV) are shareholders’ funds, divided by the
number of shares in issue at the period end (excluding shares held
in the ESOT).
Net rents are current rents excluding any contracted increases and
after deduction of inclusive service charge revenue.
Occupancy percentage is the area of space let divided by the total
net lettable area (excluding land used for open storage).
Open market value is an opinion of the best price at which the sale
of an interest in the property would complete unconditionally for cash
consideration on the date of valuation (as determined by the Group’s
external valuers).
Profit before tax (PBT) is income less all expenditure other
than taxation.
REIT Real Estate Investment Trust is a tax transparent property
investment vehicle as announced by HM Treasury in 2005/06 and
due to come into being on 1 January 2007.
Rent per sq ft is the current net rent divided by the occupied area.

Estimated rental value (ERV) or market rental value is the Group’s
external valuers’ opinion as to the open market rent, which on the
date of valuation, could reasonably be expected to be obtained on a
new letting or rent review.

Reversion is the increase in rent estimated by the Group’s external
valuers, where the net rent is below the current estimated rental
value. The increases to rent arise on rent reviews, letting of vacant
space and expiry of rent free periods or rental increase steps.

Gearing is the Group’s net debt as a percentage of net assets.

Reversionary yield is the anticipated yield, which the initial yield will
rise to once the rent reaches the estimated rental value. It is
calculated by dividing the ERV by the valuation.

Income Statement/trading earnings/PBT etc is that element of
earnings/PBT etc that arises from trading activity alone. It therefore
excludes other items (below).
Income Statement other items include profits and losses (together
with their related taxation) on sales of investment properties and
items of a non trading nature such as: valuation adjustments arising
from the fair valuing of investment properties and derivative financial
instruments, adjustments arising from the treatment of head lease
payments as interest; and certain adjustments arising from the
estimation of the cost of employee share based payments.
Initial yield is the net rents generated by a property or by the
portfolio as a whole expressed as a percentage of its valuation.
Interest cover is the number of times net interest payable is covered
by operating profit.

SEE means Social Ethical and Environmental matters. The Group
produces a separate SEE report titled Sustainability Report 2006.
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs) are those businesses
with a turnover of less than £1m p.a. or staff of less than 50. Most
Workspace customers are SME businesses with staffing of up to 20.
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is the return obtained by a
shareholder calculated combining both share price movements and
dividend receipts.
Valuation Surplus and growth rate is measured as the valuation
surplus for the year divided by the total value of the portfolio
before revaluation.
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Publications index
Workspace publishes, both on its website and in hard copy, a wide range of documents to assist customers, investors and other interested
parties. Listed below are the principal documents ordered in relation to the sections of this Annual Report and Accounts. Should you need
assistance in accessing any of this material please contact the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office (details on page 62).
Section in Annual Report
Section 1 – Driving our
business forward
Section 2 – Leading in a
growth market

Title of supporting documents

Description

* Customer Charter
Investorshome/thedifference/customercharter
* Small Business Links
Investorshome/thedifference/smallbusinesslinks
*† Corporate Responsibility Statements
Investorshome/corporatepolices/csrstatement/archive
* Expansions
Expansionshome
* TradeLink
Customerhome

Our pledge to our customers

Information for small businesses on
where to get help
Bi-annual policy reports with annual
updates on achievement against targets
Details of properties under development
and acquisition requirements
Enabling communication, promotion
and trade throughout the Workspace
customer community
† FYI
Quarterly customer newsletter
† Changing Environments
Book tracking history of a selection of
Workspace properties
† Dynamic Environments
Book describing the activities of a of
range Workspace SME customers
† Recyclopedia
Guide to recycling of business waste
† Beginners Guide to Finding the Right Business Space
Self-help guide to finding
accommodation for SMEs
† My Life, My Work, My Space
Book documenting experiences of
our customers in their own words
*† Property Information
Particulars for each Workspace
Propertysearchhome
property including description, photos,
virtual tours and maps
* Customer Survey Summary 06
Presentation of the findings of the
Investorhome/documentsearch/companypresentations
annual Workspace Customer
Survey 2006
Section 3 – Strategy for growth † Sustainability Report 2006
Report which details Workspace’s
approach to sustainable practice
allied to The London Plan.
* The Leathermarket and Kennington Park presentation
Presentation outlining the potential
Investorhome/financialreports/companypresentations
for Kennington Park using the
Leathermarket as an example
Section 4 – Financial statements * Analysts
Contact details for analysts who have
Investorhome/sharerelated/analysts
produced research for Workspace and
Investorhome/financialreports/companypresentations
company presentations to analysts and
investors.
* Risk Management
Assessment of risks and Workspace’s
Investorshome/financialreports/riskmanagement
approach to them
*† Annual Accounts
Archive of Workspace Annual Report
Investorshome/financialreports/annual&quarterlyresults and Accounts
*† Quarterly Statements
Archive of Workspace Quarterly Report
Investorshome/financialreports/annual&quarterlyresults and Accounts
Section 5 – Shareholder reporting * Corporate Governance
Self assessment of compliance with
Investorshome/corporatepolicies/corporategovernance
2003 code
* Board Committees Terms of Reference
Approved Committee Terms of
Investorshome/corporatepolicies/corporategovernance
Reference for Audit, Nominations and
Remuneration
* Board Delegations
Corporate Governance Audit of
Investorshome/corporatepolicies/corporategovernance
Compliance and Matters Reserved
for Full Board
Section 6 – Additional information * Press Releases
Archive of Workspace press releases
Investorshome/pressoffice
† Published document
* Published on website – workspacegroup.co.uk
An indicative route to the relevant web page is given in orange text

Key investor publications:
1. Annual Report and Accounts 2006
2. Sustainability Report 2006

1.

2.

Customer publications:
1. FYI
2. The Beginners’ Guide to finding
the right business space
3. Recyclopedia

1.

2.

3.

Stakeholder publications:
1. My Life, My Work, My Space
2. Changing Environments
3. Dynamic Environments

1.

2.

3.

Promotional publications:
1-3. Property marketing brochures

1.

3.
The Report has been printed on Arctic Volume.
The pulp used to produce this paper has
been sourced from carefully managed forest,
according to strict environmental, social and
economic standards.
All of the mills hold the ISO 14001 environmental
accreditation and report in accordance to the
Eco Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS).
Photography by Andy Stewart
Designed by Carnegie Orr

2.

Workspace Group PLC
Magenta House
85 Whitechapel Road
London E1 1DU
T
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E

020 7247 7614
020 7247 0157
workspacegroup.co.uk
info@workspacegroup.co.uk

If you require information
regarding business space in
London, call 020 7247 7614 or
visit workspacegroup.co.uk

